# Essays in Empirical Corporate Finance and Corporate Governance

Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Wirtschafts- und Gesellschaftswissenschaften durch die Rechts- und Staatswissenschaftliche Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

> vorgelegt von INGA VAN DEN BONGARD aus Düsseldorf

> > Bonn 2013

Dekan:Prof. Dr. Klaus SandmannErstreferent:Prof. Dr. Erik TheissenZweitreferent:Prof. Dr. Rainer Haselmann

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 17.12.2013

Diese Dissertation ist auf dem Hochschulschriftenserver der ULB Bonn (http://hss.ulb.uni-bonn.de/diss\_online) elektronisch publiziert.

to my mother

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express deep gratitude to my supervisor Erik Theissen whose comments and ideas have greatly improved this thesis. The formidable lectures he held during my undergraduate and graduate studies, his enthusiasm for research, and the time I spent working as a student helper at his chair sparked my idea of pursuing a doctorate. He has guided my academic life -from term paper to doctoral thesis and from Bonn to Mannheim- throughout the years and I am thankful for all the invaluable advice he provided along the way.

Special thanks goes to Rainer Haselmann who kindly agreed to join my dissertation committee.

I am also grateful to my co-authors Christian Andres, André Betzer and Marc Goergen for their helpful advice. André, thank you for being as encouraging as you are.

I wish to thank my fellow graduate students Rafael Aigner, Benjamin Born, Andreas Esser, Patrick Hürtgen, Alexandra Peter, Johannes Pfeifer, and Florian Zimmermann for our great time in Bonn. I will never forget our exotic cooking marathons and the sometimes exhausting hiking tours.

Many thanks go to my great office mate Markus Doumet, my colleagues Christopher Fink, Thomas Johann, Maria Kasch, Esad Smajlbegovic, Christian Speck, Christian Westheide, Ekaterina Zatonova, and our secretary Marion Baierlein in Mannheim. I am particularly thankful to Erik Fernau. Erik and I successfully shared the burden of managing tasks in Mannheim's administrative jungle, and giving my first lecture was much more fun with him as my co-lecturer. I am deeply indebted to Carsten Hänisch for countless discussions and advice during runs over the Rhine bridges. Thank you for your patience, your encouragement, and great support you provided in the last years.

My special gratitude goes to Tilman Drerup. He has been my harshest critic, who thoroughly read my work and provided me with extremely valuable new insights. Thank you for your great support, encouragement, and for sharing the many ups and downs of doing research.

Finally, I am exceptionally grateful to my family. I thank my mother for her unconditional love. I know I owe her more than I could ever return. As a small token of my love, this dissertation is dedicated to her. I also wish to thank my sister Iris van den Bongard, Markus Noll, Gudrun Schumacher, Frank Schumacher, Marianne Noll, and Günter Noll for their tolerance, their warmth, and for always being there.

# Contents

# Introduction

1	The	Information Content of Dividend Surprises: Evidence from					
	Ger	many	9				
	1.1	Introduction	9				
	1.2	Hypotheses	12				
	1.3	Data and Descriptive Statistics	18				
	1.4	Event Study Results and Univariate Analysis	26				
	1.5	Panel Analysis	29				
	1.6	Conclusion	37				
<b>2</b>	Index Membership vs. Loss of Control: The Unification of Dual-						
	Class Shares						
	2.1	Introduction	39				
	2.2	Literature Review	42				
	2.3	Institutional Background	44				
	2.4	Dataset and Descriptive Statistics	46				
	2.5	Event Study	50				
	2.6	Motives for the Unification of Dual-Class Shares	53				
	2.7	Empirical Analysis	55				
	2.8	Conclusion	61				
	App	endix to Chapter 2	63				

1

# Contents

3	Is E	Busy R	eally Busy? Board Governance Revisited	64						
	3.1	Introd	uction	64						
	3.2 Social Networks and Busy Boards									
	3.3	Datase	et and Network Measures	72						
		3.3.1	Sample Selection	72						
		3.3.2	Measurement of Multiple Directorships	72						
		3.3.3	Social Network Measures	75						
	3.4 Multivariate Analysis									
		3.4.1	Multiple Directorships and Firm Performance	79						
		3.4.2	Director Networks and Firm Governance	81						
		3.4.3	Robustness Tests	88						
	3.5 Conclusion									
Bi	ibliog	graphy		104						

# List of Figures

2.1	Conditional Predicted Probabilities of Conversion Based on Different	
	Hypothetical Weight Penalties	59
2.2	Conditional Predicted Probabilities of Conversion Based on Different	
	Levels of Vote Loss	60
3.1	Network of All Directors	71
3.2	Average Marginal Effect (AME) of 'Clustering Coefficient' on Tobin's	
	Q with 95% Confidence Intervals (CIs) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	84

# List of Tables

1.1	Summary Statistics	24						
1.2	Wealth Effects of Dividend Announcements	28						
1.3	Cumulative Abnormal Returns and Market Expectations	30						
1.4	Dividend Announcement Returns and Firm Characteristics (Shapley-							
	Shubik Indices Calculated Using a Quota of $25\%$ )	35						
1.5	Dividend Announcement Returns and Firm Characteristics (Shapley-							
	Shubik Indices Calculated Using a Quota of 50%) $\ . \ . \ . \ .$ .	36						
2.1	Selection Indices	45						
2.2	Definition of the Variables	49						
2.3	Descriptive Statistics	49						
2.4	Event Study Results	52						
2.5	Logit Estimates	56						
2.6	Logit Estimates for Dual-Class CDAX Companies	63						
3.1	Data Description	74						
3.2	Most Central Directors	78						
3.3	Normalized Firm Centrality in Percent	79						
3.4	Multiple Directorships and Firm Performance	82						
3.5	Director Networks and Firm Performance	83						
3.6	Director Networks and Executive Compensation	87						
3.7	Effect of Past Performance on Network Embeddedness	89						

# Introduction

"[D]irectors of such [joint-stock] companies, however, being the managers rather of other people's money than of their own, it cannot well be expected, that they should watch over it with the same anxious vigilance with which the partners in a private copartnery frequently watch over their own."

Adam Smith (1776)

This fundamental insight of Adam Smith about the consequences of the separation of ownership and control is as relevant today as it was in 1776. It is central to our understanding of modern corporations and it permeates the literature on "corporate governance", a concept loosely defined by Shleifer and Vishny (1997) as "the ways in which suppliers of finance to corporations assure themselves of getting a return on their investment". Guided by the observation that ownership in large U.S. corporations is dispersed rather than concentrated in blocks of control (Berle and Means, 1932) and Jensen and Meckling's (1976) seminal principal-agent theory, much corporate governance research has put its focus on the conflict between managers and shareholders and the Anglo-American system of corporate governance.

The present thesis provides several contributions to this literature in the substantially different context of the German corporate governance system. Concentrated share ownership, a two-tiered board system, strong creditor influence and a limited market for corporate control have traditionally characterized the German capital market. As such, the German system of corporate governance differs in many aspects from the Anglo-American system and provides a promising testing ground for research on corporate governance.

## Introduction

As stated above, a large part of the literature on corporate governance focuses on conflicts of interest between managers and shareholders. These conflicts may be of less importance in countries such as Germany, where the majority of firms are dominated by a single large shareholder. Becht and Boehmer (2003), for example, document that more than 82% of Germany's listed firms have one shareholder with voting rights in excess of 25% and 65% of firms even have one shareholder holding the majority of votes. In firms with concentrated ownership managers are limited in their ability to act at their own discretion as large shareholders have both the incentive and the ability to curb managerial freedom. Monitoring by large shareholders can therefore alleviate the classical manager-shareholder conflict to the benefit of all shareholders. Yet, in the presence of large controlling shareholders conflicts of interest with small shareholders can emerge. Like managers, large shareholders have the ability to engage in self-dealing behaviors by, e.g., consumption of perks, transfer of resources through self-dealing transactions or choice of a befriended but costly supplier. These private benefits of control, however, often disadvantage small shareholders. Theoretical literature suggests that dividends may be a principal way of aligning conflicts of interest between different groups of shareholders. For example, the rent extraction hypothesis (Gugler and Yutoglu, 2003) states that a dividend increase signals a reduction of potential agency conflicts between small and large shareholders as it reduces the amount of cash that can be inappropriately utilized by large shareholders. The testing of predictions like this that relate to the concentration of voting power will be part of the discussion in chapter 1, which looks at a company's dividend policy from a corporate governance perspective.

A notable feature of the German corporate governance system is that its legal system allows for a combination of both strong control and dispersed ownership structures (Goergen et al., 2008). The Stock Corporation Act (§139 AktG) enables firms to issue up to 50% of their total book value of equity as non-voting preference shares, thus permitting shareholders to retain or purchase a controlling position in a company without having to own a proportional stake in its cash-flow rights. These dual-class share structures can thereby lead to a misalignment of interests by incentivizing large shareholders to generate private benefits of control at the expense of minority shareholders. Chapter 2 provides novel contributions to this literature. Rather than focusing on a firm's decision to issue more than one share class, the chapter explores the drivers behind firms' decisions to abandon existing dual-class structures. We exploit a change in the index selection rules of Deutsche Boerse that discriminated against dual-class companies by adversely affecting their relative weight within selection indices. We suggest and empirically support the hypothesis that the change in rules resulted in a trade-off for large controlling shareholders between safeguarding their extant private benefits of control and the costs associated with a loss in index weight.

Aside from the concentration of control, the two-tier board structure is another distinctive feature of Germany's corporate governance system. As the name suggests, German corporations are governed by two separate boards: an executive board managing the firm and a supervisory board overseeing management. The supervisory board therefore fulfills the function of a corporate governance mechanism. Among other duties, members of the supervisory board appoint and dismiss executives, approve managements' decisions, and set their remuneration. Frequently, members of the board do not only serve on their own board, but are also simultaneously active in several other outside boards. The literature on board busyness (e.g. Fich and Shivdasani, 2006) suggests that such additional commitments may put too much strain on the board's resources and thereby adversely affect the compliance with its monitoring duties. Chapter 3 employs methods from social network analysis to explore aspects of board busyness and revisit the relationship between firm governance and the board's position in the network of directors. A detailed description of each chapter is given in the following.

CHAPTER 1.<sup>1</sup> Most existing theories of dividend policy imply that dividend announcements convey value-relevant information to market participants. However, in an efficient market, only the unexpected part of a dividend announcement should contain value-relevant information. The evaluation of the informational content conveyed by dividend announcements therefore crucially relies on the proper modeling of dividend expectations. We find that differences in modeling expectations have severe implications for the investigation of theories explaining the share price reaction to dividend announcements, including agency-based explanations. In this sense, one of the chapter's main contributions is methodological and lies in the approach we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This chapter is based on joint work with Christian Andres, André Betzer, Christian Haesner and Erik Theissen (Andres et al., 2013a).

## Introduction

suggest to model dividend surprises.

Previous work predominantly uses a naive model that equates the change in dividends with the unexpected part of the dividend, thereby assuming that capital market participants' expectations of the dividend are based on the previous dividend. Instead, we model dividend surprises by relating the actual dividend announcement to the average analyst dividend forecast provided by I/B/E/S. Although the approximation of market expectations with analyst forecasts is a common approach in the earnings announcement literature, this methodology has rarely been employed in the dividend announcement literature. Based on a sample of 921 firm-year observations between 1996 and 2006, we document that the chosen measure of the dividend surprise is superior to the naive approach. When the cumulative abnormal return after a dividend announcement is regressed solely on the dividend change, we observe a positive and significant relation. Once we include the dividend surprise as an additional control, the coefficient on the dividend change becomes insignificant, whereas the coefficient on the dividend surprise is highly significant. Put differently, we document that the dividend change has no explanatory power for the abnormal return beyond the dividend surprise. This provides empirical evidence that share prices respond to the surprise in the dividend announcement, not to the dividend change per se.

We use these insights in an attempt to discriminate between competing theories that aim to explain the share price reaction to dividend announcements. Among the theories we test are the cash flow signaling (Bhattacharya, 1979; Miller and Rock, 1985) and the free cash flow hypothesis (Easterbrook, 1984; Jensen, 1986). The cash flow signaling theory posits that managers use dividends to signal expected cash flows to the market. For example, managers might use increases in dividends to signal better than expected future cash flows. The idea behind the free cash flow hypothesis is that increased dividend payments can serve to reduce the amount of cash under the management's control. Because managers might invest excess cash flows in projects with a negative net present value, increased dividends can signal lower agency costs. The driving forces behind the signaling and the free cash flow theory are informational asymmetries and conflicts of interest between managers and shareholders. However, it is not evident that these conflicts prevail in the German corporate governance system. Since large shareholders with typically sizable fractions of a company's voting shares dominate German firms, their abilities and incentives to effectively monitor

the management's actions are likely to alleviate this type of agency problems. This argument is reflected in the monitoring hypothesis and it suggests that there is less need to use dividends to signal reduced agency conflicts in the presence of large shareholders. Yet, in this situation conflicts of interest may emerge between large and small shareholders. If powerful shareholders abuse their position and pursue their own interests rather than those of minority shareholders, a dividend increase may be interpreted to signal that large shareholders commit not to expropriate minority shareholders. This is the rent extraction hypothesis first formulated by Gugler and Yurtoglu (2003). In addition, while informational asymmetries between managers and large shareholders should be less pronounced in Germany, minority shareholders might still have informational disadvantages compared to large shareholders. Dividends can hence also serve as a signaling device to mitigate this asymmetry. In addition to the above theories, we also explore the predictions of the dividend clientele hypothesis (Miller and Modigliani, 1961; Elton and Gruber, 1970), according to which stock price reactions to dividend announcements reflect the preferences of the firm's shareholders. Our empirical findings concerning the distinction between the different theoretical explanations of share price reactions to dividend announcements can be summarized as follows. We document a non-linear relation between the cumulative abnormal returns and the voting power of the largest shareholder of the firm, which is consistent with both the monitoring and rent extraction hypotheses. These non-linearities suggest that monitoring by large blockholders reduces agency costs up to a certain point by aligning the incentives of management and shareholders. This increasing alignment of interests results in a weaker share price reaction to dividend news. At higher levels, voting power allows large shareholders to extract rents at the cost of minority shareholders. An increase in dividends reduces the resources they can potentially divert and can signal the large shareholders' unwillingness to engage in rent-extracting activities, thus resulting in a stronger share price reaction. Aside from these results, we also find evidence in favor of the cash flow signaling hypothesis and dividend clientele effects. However, we do not find support for the free cash flow hypothesis.

Our main analyses are based on separate estimates for good news announcements (positive surprises) and bad news announcements (negative surprises). To ensure that our results can be compared to those of previous studies, we also built subsamples of

## Introduction

dividend increases and decreases (conforming to the naive expectations model) and repeat the analysis. The findings support neither the dividend signaling hypothesis nor the monitoring or rent extraction hypothesis. We therefore conclude that the naive model may yield misleading results, and we recommend that, whenever data on analyst dividend forecast are available, the naive model should be abandoned in favor of a model that takes market expectations into account.

CHAPTER 2.<sup>2</sup> The second chapter is a contribution to the literature on dual-class share structures. Within the literature on dual-class shares, the consensus is that the decision to issue more than one share class is driven by the controlling shareholder's desire to maintain control while diversifying cash-flow risk (see e.g. DeAngelo and DeAngelo, 1985). However, little is known as to why firms decide to unify different share classes. The few studies investigating dual-class unifications (Maury and Pajuste, 2011; Dittmann and Ulbricht, 2007; Hauser and Lauterbach, 2004; Lauterbach and Pajuste, 2011) identify improved access to outside equity as an important motive and the existence of private benefits of control as a central deterrent.

Our study exploits a change in the index selection rules of Deutsche Boerse as a unique opportunity to contribute to this literature and investigate the drivers behind firms' decisions to abolish dual-class shares. As of June 2002, Deutsche Boerse altered the rules for weighting in its family of selection indices from a weighting scheme that considered only a firm's overall market capitalization to a scheme based on the market capitalization of the free-float portion of the more liquid share class. As a consequence of this change, firms included in any of its selection indices with more than one class of shares outstanding faced the danger of losing their current index position or dropping out of the index. We hypothesize that this situation led firms to reassess the benefits of retaining their dual-class shares against the possible costs of foregone index weight that resulted from having two share classes.

Some prior studies find evidence of significant shareholder wealth effects associated with unifications. For instance, Dittmann and Ulbricht (2007) analyse 89 German firms with dual-class shares between 1990 and 2001 of which 31 unify their stock. They document significantly positive stock price responses surrounding the announcement of the unification, and they attribute these to the market's appreciation of the resulting improved corporate governance of the firm and the enhanced liquidity of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This chapter is based on joint work with André Betzer and Marc Goergen (Betzer et al., 2013).

the stock. We observe similar increases in firm value at the announcement of the change in Deutsche Boerse's rules. Given the evidence that shareholders of German firms prefer single-class stock over dual-class stock as evidenced by the wealth effects around actual unifications, we interpret this increase surrounding the reform as a sign that it led the market participants to increase their estimate of the likelihood of future conversions.

While giving up dual-class structures is associated with increases in a firm's value, retaining a dual-class structure allows large shareholders to maintain a controlling position in the firm without having to own the equivalent stake in cash-flow rights. The unification of voting and non-voting shares typically causes large shareholders to forfeit this advantage and experience a substantial loss of voting power. Therefore, self-interested large shareholders may favour the status quo of keeping a dual-class structure in order to safeguard their private benefits of control at the expense of minority shareholders. We hypothesize that the larger the loss of voting power suffered by a large shareholder in case of conversion, the lower is the likelihood of a dual-class unification. At the same time, retaining a dual-class structure is associated with the danger of losing large amounts of index weight. We therefore hypothesize that the higher the hypothetical penalty in terms of foregone index weight, the more likely a firm will abolish its dual-class share structure.

The chapter's main contribution is to study this trade-off faced by a large controlling shareholder between the benefits from a dual-class stock unification and the costs from losing control. Our findings support both hypotheses. While we document that firms with large shareholders who lose substantial amounts of control in case of a dual-class abolishment are less likely to unify share classes, firms forfeiting larger amounts of index weight under a dual-class structure are more likely to unify. Moreover, we find that the sensitivity towards loss of index weight decreases with increasing voting loss. This suggests that large shareholders with greater private benefits of control are less concerned about the costs associated with the reduction in the firm's index weight. Alternatively stated, forfeiting index weight may be the lesser of two evils if the alternative is losing control.

CHAPTER  $3.^3$  The third chapter contributes to the literature on busy boards. Since

 $<sup>^3{\</sup>rm This}$  chapter is based on joint work with Christian Andres and Mirco Lehmann (Andres et al., 2013b).

## Introduction

members of the supervisory board often do not only serve on one board, but are simultaneously active in several other boards, they are embedded in a network of social relations. However, maintaining a large network and adhering to its demands can take substantial temporal and cognitive resources and render intensely-connected directors exceedingly busy. As a result, board busyness can be detrimental to a board's duties as the management's monitor, which might ultimately lead to a deterioration in firm performance. Findings within the literature on this topic are ambiguous. Fich and Shivdasani (2006) provide supportive evidence and show that firms with busier boards exhibit significantly lower market-to-book ratios than firms with less busy boards. In contrast, Ferris et al. (2003) find no evidence of a relationship between the number of board appointments and firm performance.

A central aspect in studying the effects of board busyness is to classify boards as (not) busy. We argue that prior approaches that have largely been based on the number of board appointments ignore central aspects that characterize how busy a director actually is, because the concept of "busyness" in itself has more than one dimension. Rather than counting a director's board seats, a more adequate way of capturing busyness should incorporate a detailed characterization of the director's social network, including an analysis of individual ties as well as the overall architecture of the network. Put differently, we propose that an appropriate analysis of busyness should focus not only on a director's immediate connections to other directors within his social network, but also on the connections among the directors that he is connected to. Following this argument, we use methods from social network analysis to classify busy boards.

Our results show that firms with intensely connected supervisory boards are associated with lower firm performance. In addition, we find that firms with busy boards pay their executives significantly more. We interpret these results as indicative of poor monitoring in firms with directors who are more embedded in the social network. In both cases, we document that simple measures for busy directors used by other studies in the past fail to show any significant pattern. These findings indicate that both the quality and structural position of additional board seats seem to play a bigger role than simply the number of board appointments.

# The Information Content of Dividend Surprises: Evidence from Germany

# 1.1 Introduction

Dividend policy is one of the most intensely researched topics in corporate finance. And yet, we do not know exactly why firms pay dividends. Most existing theories imply that dividend announcements convey information and, consequently, affect share prices. A large number of empirical studies have been conducted in order to discriminate between the competing theories. The most common approach is to estimate the share price reaction to dividend announcements in an event study and then relate it to an appropriate set of explanatory variables.<sup>1</sup>

In the present study we adopt this approach to analyze the share price reaction to dividend announcements in Germany. In an attempt to discriminate between the major theoretical explanations of corporate dividend policy, we estimate panel models in which we relate the share price reaction after the dividend announcement to characteristics of the firm. We improve on the methodology of previous papers by using a random effects panel model instead of pooled OLS.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>One strand of the literature analyzes the impact of the level of dividends on the market value of the firm after controlling for the effect of other accounting fundamentals (e.g. Rees, 1997; Akbar and Stark, 2003; Hand and Landsman, 2005; Rees and Valentincic, 2013) in a levels value relevance framework. This approach does not emphasise the timing of dividend announcements, merely whether dividends are partially correlated with market values and, hence, with the information set used to form market values. In contrast, we analyze how dividend announcements affect the market value of equity as measured by the change in share price after the time of the dividend announcement, potentially allowing for a tighter identification of the influence of dividends (and, hence, the information content of dividends) on market value/share price.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ An alternative to panel estimation is the Fama and MacBeth (1973) procedure, which is used by Amihud and Li (2006).

In efficient markets share prices will only react to surprises in dividend announcements. Therefore, an empirical analysis of the share price reaction to dividend announcements requires a model of expected dividends. We model dividend surprises by relating the actual dividend announcement to the average analyst dividend forecast provided by I/B/E/S. Although this is a standard procedure in the earnings announcement literature (e.g., O'Brien, 1988; Battalio and Mendenhall, 2005), a similar approach has rarely been used in the dividend announcement literature.<sup>3</sup> Rather, most previous papers use a naive model, where the change in the dividend is taken to be the dividend surprise.<sup>4</sup> We compare the performance of the naive model to that of our approach. This allows us to assess the accuracy of the naive model relative to that of an analysts' expectations-based approach.

In our analysis we use data from Germany. German data have several advantages. Since German firms pay dividends once a year,<sup>5</sup> changes in dividends potentially convey more information than changes in quarterly dividends (as are paid in, for example, the USA). The German corporate governance system is characterized by concentrated share ownership (Franks and Mayer, 2001; Becht and Boehmer, 2001;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>We are aware of only five papers that use analyst dividend forecasts in the context of share price reactions to dividend announcements. All five papers use data from only one analyst firm (Value Line). Fuller (2003) analyzes the relation between informed trading and dividend signaling. Woolridge (1983) and Dhillon et al. (2003) test the cash flow signaling hypothesis but do not consider the free cash flow hypothesis, nor do they analyze the relation between share price reaction and ownership structure. Leftwich and Zmijewski (1994) analyze the contemporaneous announcement of earnings and dividends. Bar-Yosef and Sarig (1992) compare Value Line forecast to an estimate of dividend surprises obtained from option prices. Ofer and Siegel (1987) and Lang and Litzenberger (1989) investigate changes in analysts' earnings forecasts following the announcement of dividend changes. They do not use data on analyst dividend forecasts, however. <sup>4</sup>See, e.g., Aharony and Swary (1980), Bernheim and Wantz (1995), Yoon and Starks (1995), Amihud and Murgia (1997), Gerke et al. (1997) and Gurgul et al. (2003). Some papers use a dividend estimate obtained from a Lintner (1956) model (e.g., Watts, 1973 and Amihud and Li, 2006), derive dividend surprises from option prices (Bar-Yosef and Sarig, 1992) or use ad hoc specifications (e.g. Gugler and Yurtoglu, 2003, who look at firms that increase dividends even though earnings decrease).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The payout decisions of German Stock Corporations (Aktiengesellschaften) are governed by § 58 of the Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). The executive and the supervisory board can decide to retain up to 50% of the profits. The decision on whether to retain or to pay out the remaining amount is taken by the shareholders' meeting by simple majority vote. In practice it is almost always the case that the shareholders' meeting votes in favor of the proposal made by the executive board. Repurchases are far less important in Germany than they are in the U.S. Until 1998 repurchases were essentially prohibited. In the period 1998-2008 the average repurchase ratio (repurchases as a percentage of total earnings) was 7.8% (see Andres et al., 2012). The corresponding figure for dividends (excluding special dividends) was 44.1%.

Andres, 2008) and weak minority shareholder protection (La Porta et al., 2000). Given these characteristics, conflicts between large and small shareholders may be relevant for the payout policy of German firms, and for the market reaction to dividend announcements. Therefore, the ownership structure and other specific features are taken into account in our empirical analysis.<sup>6</sup>

The two most popular theories explaining dividend policy are the cash flow signaling hypothesis (Bhattacharya, 1979; Miller and Rock, 1985) and the free cash flow hypothesis (Easterbrook, 1984; Jensen, 1986). The driving forces behind these hypotheses are informational asymmetries and conflicts of interest between managers and shareholders. Whereas these conflicts may be prevalent in countries with relatively dispersed ownership such as the U.S., they may be less important in countries with concentrated ownership such as Germany.

In firms with concentrated ownership managers are limited in their ability to act at their own discretion. Large shareholders have both the incentive and the ability to curb managerial freedom to dispose of free cash flows. Therefore, the monitoring function of large shareholders makes the classical manager-shareholder conflict less severe. However, conflicts of interest between large and small shareholders may arise instead (La Porta et al., 2000). In such a setting, a dividend increase may be interpreted as a signal by which large shareholders commit not to expropriate minority shareholders. This is the rent extraction hypothesis first formulated by Gugler and Yurtoglu (2003). In addition, informational asymmetries between management and shareholders should be less relevant when shareholders are large. Nonetheless, minority shareholders likely have informational disadvantages compared to large shareholders. In this context, dividends can serve as a signaling device to mitigate this asymmetry.

Taken together, the rationales behind both free cash flow and signaling theory persist, but we expect conflicts of interest and (or) informational asymmetries to (partly) shift from between managers and shareholders to among shareholders.

Our results can be summarized as follows. The results of the regressions aimed at discriminating among competing theoretical explanations of dividend policy support the cash flow signaling hypothesis and dividend clientele effects. We further find that the price reaction to dividend surprises is related to the ownership structure of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Some of the institutional features of the German market warrant a closer discussion, which we will return to when we describe our data.

firm in a non-linear way. Our results do not support the free cash flow hypothesis. This is in line with our argument that manager-shareholder conflicts are less important in a country with concentrated ownership.

We find that our measure of the dividend surprise - the difference between the actual dividend and the mean analysts' dividend forecast - is superior to the naive approach that implicitly assumes that the expected dividend equals the previous dividend. Out of more than 500 dividend increases in our sample, less than half actually constitute a positive surprise. The remaining dividend increases either constitute no-news events (that is, the dividend increase had been anticipated) or even negative surprises (analysts had forecasted a larger dividend increase). The results for unchanged dividends and dividend decreases are less pronounced but point in the same direction. When we regress the cumulative abnormal return after a dividend announcement on the dividend change and our measure of the dividend surprise, we find that the dividend surprise is highly significant while the dividend change is insignificant. Thus, and as one would expect in an efficient market, share prices react to the surprise in the dividend announcement, not to a dividend change per se. This result still holds when we control for the surprise in earnings announcements, which are often made together with dividend announcements. Interestingly, we find that dividend announcements are, if anything, more informative than earnings announcements. This result suggests that both variables should be used jointly whenever a firm announces earnings and dividends simultaneously.

The remainder of the chapter is organized as follows. The next section develops our hypotheses. Section 1.3 describes our sample selection procedure and presents descriptive statistics. Section 1.4 presents the event study results and Section 1.5 provides the results of our multivariate panel regressions. Section 1.6 concludes.

# 1.2 Hypotheses

It is a stylized fact that dividend announcements convey information to market participants. In an informationally efficient market, however, only the unexpected part of the dividend announcement is informative. Thus, an analysis of the share price reaction to dividend announcements requires a model for expected dividends. Many previous studies use a naive model that considers dividend changes as dividend

## 1.2 Hypotheses

surprises. This approach is based on the implicit assumption that market participants expect unchanged dividends. Although models of payout policy, such as Lintner (1956) or Fama and Babiak (1968), suggest that firms smooth their dividends, the very same models predict that earnings changes translate into dividend changes. If firms pay dividends each quarter, the expected dividend change is typically small. In this case, the previous dividend may be a reasonable proxy for the market's expectations of the next dividend. However, when firms pay dividends only once a year (as is the case in Germany and many other countries), this is much less likely to be the case. In our analysis we therefore use the average of analysts' forecasted dividends as provided by I/B/E/S as a proxy for the market expectations. We believe that the resulting estimate of the dividend surprise outperforms the naive model. This yields our first hypothesis:

H1: Share prices react to the dividend surprise, defined as the difference between the actual dividend announcement and the average analyst forecast as provided by I/B/E/S. The dividend change (defined as the actual dividend announcement minus the previous dividend) has no explanatory power for the share price reaction once we control for the dividend surprise.

We sort all dividend announcements into three categories based on our dividend surprise measure. If the difference between the actual dividend announcement and the mean analyst forecast is larger than +5% (smaller than -5%) the announcement is classified as good news (bad news). If the actual announcement is within  $\pm5\%$ of the analyst forecast, we classify the announcement as no news. This procedure follows Campbell et al. (1997).<sup>7</sup> In our implementation of the naive model, we classify dividend changes of more than +5% (more than -5%) as dividend increases (dividend decreases). Dividend changes of less than 5% are treated as unchanged dividends. Note that there may be cases in which an unchanged dividend or even a dividend increase is bad news. This will be the case whenever market participants expected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Campbell et al. (1997) analyze the impact that earnings announcements have on the firm's stock price. They also employ three categories but they classify an announcement as good (bad) news if the deviation of the actual earnings from the expected earnings is larger than 2.5% (smaller than -2.5%). As a robustness test, we reclassify all observations based on the 2.5% threshold. All regression results are qualitatively similar.

an even higher dividend increase.

Dividend and earnings announcements are often made simultaneously. In our panel model we deal with this by including the earnings surprise (defined as the difference between the actual earnings figure and analysts' expectations obtained from I/B/E/S) as a control variable. This specification allows us to test whether the dividend surprise or the earnings surprise is more informative.

Our first hypothesis states that share prices react to the dividend surprise. However, the magnitude of the dividend surprise is not the only determinant of the share price reaction. The cash flow signaling hypothesis, the free cash flow hypothesis, the monitoring hypothesis and the rent extraction hypothesis all argue that dividends serve as signaling and / or monitoring devices and they all predict that the magnitude of the price reaction to a dividend announcement will depend on certain characteristics of the firm.

The cash flow signaling hypothesis states that managers (or large shareholders who effectively control managers) use dividends to signal their private information regarding the future cash flows of the firm (Bhattacharya, 1979; Miller and Rock, 1985). Signaling information to (small) investors via dividend announcements is of greater importance for smaller firms because smaller firms are usually not adequately covered by financial analysts, resulting in a larger degree of information asymmetries. Therefore, we hypothesize:

H2: The informational role of dividend announcements is more important in smaller firms, which are covered by fewer analysts. Hence, the magnitude of the share price reaction is decreasing in firm size and the number of analysts following the firm.

This hypothesis has been confirmed by, among others, Eddy and Seifert (1988), Yoon and Starks (1995) and Amihud and Li (2006) for the U.S. market. Using German data, Gugler and Yurtoglu (2003) do not find a statistically significant relationship between firm size and dividend announcement returns. We employ the number of analysts covering a firm as our proxy for the degree of informational asymmetries. Alternatively, we use firm size, measured by the logarithm of the market value of equity 14 days prior to the dividend announcement. Because these two variables are highly correlated, we do not include them simultaneously. It should be noted that, in order to generate reliable consensus forecasts, we require firms to be covered by at least two analysts for inclusion in our final sample. This might bias our results against finding an effect as it excludes firms where asymmetries are supposedly most pronounced.

The free cash flow hypothesis is based on the presumption that managers will invest cash available to them even when there are no investment opportunities with positive net present value (Easterbrook, 1984; Jensen, 1986). Dividend payments decrease the level of free cash flow and can therefore serve to mitigate the overinvestment problem. Consequently, when firms with ample free cash flow and / or poor investment opportunities (as indicated by Tobin's Q) increase their dividend payout, this signals lower agency costs.<sup>8</sup>

H3a: Firms with higher free cash flows experience a larger price appreciation (drop) after a positive (negative) dividend surprise.

H3b: Firms with poor investment opportunities as measured by Tobin's Q experience a larger price appreciation (drop) after a positive (negative) dividend surprise.

Lang and Litzenberger (1989) were the first to test the free cash flow hypothesis using data from the U.S. market. Their results support the hypothesis. Gugler and Yurtoglu (2003) use data from Germany and confirm the results of Lang and Litzenberger (1989). The evidence is far from unanimous, however. Yoon and Starks (1995), using a larger U.S. sample than Lang and Litzenberger (1989), find no evidence to support the free cash flow hypothesis. They argue that the stronger price appreciation after dividend increases of firms with Q less than unity is due to the characteristics of these firms. They show that firms with Q less than unity are smaller, have a higher dividend change and exhibit a higher dividend yield. After controlling for these characteristics, they find no systematic relation between the price reaction to dividend announcements and Tobin's Q. We also include these control variables in our panel regressions. We further include the firm's leverage ratio as a control variable because debt also mitigates the overinvestment problem associated with free cash

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>If managers privately knew that the firm has fewer profitable investment projects than previously expected, a dividend increase might be bad news. However, managers have no incentive to signal bad news. There is no empirical support for the hypothesis that dividend increases are bad news.

flow and can be regarded as a substitute for high payout levels.

The free cash flow hypothesis is based on the agency conflict between managers and shareholders. Blockholders have strong incentives to monitor managers. Therefore, the existence of a large shareholder may alleviate the classical agency problem. However, in firms with powerful blockholders, additional conflicts of interest may emerge between large and small shareholders as the former may have an incentive to expropriate the latter, for example by tunneling (Bebchuk, 1999). In line with this argument, several studies indicate a non-linear impact of block-ownership on firms' agency costs (Morck et al., 1988; McConnell and Servaes, 1990; De Miguel et al., 2004). These non-linearities imply that, to a certain point, monitoring by large blockholders reduces agency costs by aligning the incentives of managers and shareholders. This suggests that there will be less need to use dividends to signal reduced agency conflicts. However, higher levels of control open up the possibility for large shareholders to abuse their position by acting in their own interest rather than in the interest of all shareholders (Shleifer and Vishny, 1997). As dividends are distributed among shareholders in proportion to their cash flow rights, an increase in dividends reduces the resources that large shareholders can potentially divert. Consequently, a dividend increase signals a reduction of potential agency conflicts between small and large shareholders. This is the rent extraction hypothesis first formulated by Gugler and Yurtoglu (2003).

Combining the previous arguments yields the prediction of a non-linear relation between the largest shareholder's voting power and the share price reaction to dividend announcements. At low levels of voting power the monitoring effect dominates. An increase in voting power aligns the incentives of managers and shareholders. Consequently there is less need to use dividends to signal lower agency costs. At high levels of voting power the rent extraction effect kicks in. Potential conflicts of interest between small and large shareholders become important, and dividends can be used as a device to signal that large shareholders abstain from expropriating minority shareholders. We thus expect a hump-shaped or u-shaped relation between the voting power of the largest shareholder and the share price reaction to dividend announcements. Higher voting power results in a smaller price reaction, but at a decreasing rate. The relation becomes positive when the rent extraction effect becomes stronger than the monitoring effect.

#### 1.2 Hypotheses

*H4:* The relation between the voting power of the largest shareholder and the share price reaction to dividend announcements is non-linear and follows a hump-shape or *u*-shape.

Common measures of the ownership structure are the shares of the voting rights held by the largest and the second largest shareholder. However, the simplicity of these measures comes at a cost. A simple example illustrates the problems that may arise. Assume a decision has to be taken by simple majority vote. Assume that the largest shareholder owns 60 percent of the votes and the second-largest shareholder owns 10 percent. As the largest shareholder already holds a majority stake, his position cannot be contested and the voting rights of the second largest shareholder will effectively be irrelevant in every majority decision. The situation is different if the largest shareholder owns less than 50 percent of the votes. Consider a firm with three shareholders, two holding 45 percent each and a third holding 10 percent of the votes. Here, any shareholder is able to potentially form a winning coalition. This means that each shareholder holds the same power, even though the disparity in voting rights is substantial. It becomes apparent that the mere share of voting rights does not necessarily reflect the power that those votes actually possess. How much power a shareholder has to affect the firm's decisions does not only depend on his own voting stake, but depends crucially on the distribution of voting rights among all shareholders. Hence, methods to determine voting power and control contestability need to consider the entire ownership structure. Therefore, we employ the Shapley-Shubik (1954) index to identify a shareholder's voting power.<sup>9</sup> The index measures a shareholder's relative importance as her ability to change a voting coalition from a losing to a winning one, given the distribution of voting rights. Put simply, it attributes each shareholder a power index reflecting the probability that she is pivotal in determining the outcome of a cooperative game. We calculate Shapley-Shubik values using quotas of both 25 and 50 percent. We also use 25%because according to the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), a stake of 25% provides a blocking minority and allows holders of voting shares to veto specific important decisions such as the issuance of new shares, dismissal of directors,

 $<sup>^{9}</sup>$ We thank an anonymous referee for suggesting a game theoretically founded measure.

or amendments to the articles of incorporation. During our sample period, only shareholdings of more than 5% had to be registered with the German Financial Supervisory Authority. Therefore, the information about firm ownership is necessarily incomplete and assumptions must be made about the undisclosed holdings. One way would be to consider the entirety of unknown shareholdings as powerless and to rescale the voting stakes of large shareholders to 100 percent. Instead of ignoring these stakes, we interpret unobserved voting rights in the sense of an oceanic game (Shapiro and Shapley, 1978), i.e. there is a small number of large shareholders and an "ocean" of shareholders with very small voting stakes.

Finally, the price reaction to dividend announcements may be related to the preferences of the shareholders of a firm. A firm that offers a high dividend yield is likely to have shareholders with a (potentially tax-induced) preference for dividend payouts. As these shareholders value dividends highly, the price reaction to dividend announcements should be stronger (dividend clientele effect; Miller and Modigliani, 1961; Elton and Gruber, 1970).

H5: Share prices react more strongly to dividend surprises in firms with higher dividend yields.

# **1.3 Data and Descriptive Statistics**

The initial sample for our analysis consists of all 150 firms included in the DAX, MDAX, or SDAX<sup>10</sup> indices as of December 31, 2002. Our sample period covers the years 1996-2006. German firms pay and announce dividends on a yearly basis. Therefore, our sample potentially consists of 1,650 firm-year observations. Data on dividend announcements are obtained from Reuters newswires. We exclude 312 firm-year observations because we were unable to identify the exact dividend announcement date. Following Amihud and Li (2006) we exclude firms in the financial services sector (122 firm-year observations). In addition, firm-years in which a firm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The DAX (largest firms), MDAX (mid caps) and SDAX (smaller caps) are calculated by Deutsche Boerse AG. They do not include "new economy" firms. We do not include these firms because a) most of them went public only in the hot issue market at the end of the 1990s, and b) many of these firms did not pay dividends. We note that the three indices alluded to above comprise about one third of the listed firms in Germany. Most firms that are not covered are very small and have insufficient analyst coverage to be included in our analysis.

had a "control agreement"<sup>11</sup> in place (7 firm-years), or years in which firms acted as either acquirer or target in an M&A transaction (11 firm-years) are also dropped from the sample. All accounting data items and share price data are obtained from the Thompson Financial Datastream database. 31 firm-year observations are excluded because of missing data items.

As already noted, we keep observations where dividend and earnings announcements are made on the same date. In order to control for the information conveyed by the earnings announcement, we include the earnings surprise as a control variable in our panel regressions. However, there are 65 cases in which other potentially value-relevant information (i.e. restructurings (30 observations), changes in the composition of the board (12 observations), stock repurchases and tax-free dividends (8 observations), capital structure changes (8 observations, and others (7 observations)) is released on the same day as the dividend announcement. We exclude these observations from the sample. This reduces the size of our sample to 1,102 firm-year observations.

One contribution of our study is the use of dividend forecasts provided by Institutional Brokers' Estimate System (I/B/E/S) as a proxy for the market's dividend expectations.<sup>12</sup> We use the arithmetic mean (the median is used in a robustness check) of the final forecasts made by the analysts following a firm prior to the announcement of the dividend payment.<sup>13</sup> We only include firm-years that are covered by at least two analysts. This requirement leads to the exclusion of another 181 firm-year observations and reduces our final sample to 921 observations.

Some of our sample firms (21 firms in 2002) have issued multiple share classes, usually common shares that carry a voting right along with non-voting preference shares.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Control agreements are defined as agreements between a company and its parent company and take the form of either Profit and Loss Agreements (Gewinnabfuehrungsvertrag) or Subordination of Management Agreements (Beherrschungsvertrag).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>To address the objection of Ljungqvist et al. (2009) that downloads from the I/B/E/S database may have been subject to errors before 2008, we check our data for consistency using a very recent download from the I/B/E/S database for a subsample and find no systematic bias in our data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>In 93% of our observations, the consensus estimate refers to the last month before the dividend payment was announced. In 63 cases (6.8%), we use earlier forecast data (up to three months). Observations are excluded when no analyst forecasts were available for the three months preceding the dividend announcement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The only exception is Siemens AG, where preference shares are endowed with six times the voting rights of ordinary shares (from 1920 until 1998). Voting rights of Siemens AG are adjusted accordingly.

In these cases, we only include one class of shares in our sample.<sup>15</sup> A closer look at these firms reveals that dividends on common shares usually change along with dividends on preference shares, a finding that confirms the observation of Goergen et al. (2005) regarding German firms during the period from 1984 to 1993.

We include special dividends in our dividends per share measure. It has been pointed out in the literature (see, e.g., Goergen et al., 2005; Andres et al., 2009) that special dividends frequently reflect permanent changes in dividends rather than transitory increases. However, large one-off payments (Sonderausschuettungen) - which are associated with special anniversaries or the sale of subsidiaries - are excluded. This procedure is also in line with previous studies on the dividend policy of German firms, such as Behm and Zimmermann (1993), Goergen et al. (2005) and Andres et al. (2009).

Hypothesis 4 predicts that the ownership structure of a firm is a potential determinant of the share price reaction to a dividend surprise. We therefore collect data on ownership structures from the Hoppenstedt Aktienfuehrer.<sup>16</sup> All holdings of ordinary shares and preference shares in excess of 5% are recorded on an annual basis.<sup>17</sup> The use of annual ownership data is particularly important given the recent changes in the German system of corporate governance. Formerly characterized as an "insider system" (Franks and Mayer, 2001) with financial institutions at the center of a network of cross-holdings, the ownership structures of some of the largest German firms have changed as a result of a change in capital gains taxation in 2002. As reported in Dittmann et al. (2010), banks in particular have sold off their equity stakes in other corporations, either to other blockholders or to the public. With the help of annual ownership data, we are able to control for a potential effect of these changes in the institutional environment. From the ownership data collected, we calculate the voting power of the largest and second largest shareholder as their respective Shapley-Shubik values. In additional regressions (not tabulated), we examine whether the identity of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>The most common case is that the voting shares are privately held while the non-voting shares are listed. In these cases, the I/B/E/S database only contains forecasts for the dividend of the non-voting shares.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>This is a yearly publication that provides in-depth information about all listed German corporations.
<sup>17</sup>During our sample period, shareholdings of more than 5% must be registered with the German Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin, see §21 of the German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz)). Shareholdings of less than 5% - even when reported in Hoppenstedt - are excluded for reasons of data consistency.

the largest shareholder (provided his stake exceeds 25% of the voting rights) has an impact on announcement day returns.

Table 1.1 presents summary statistics for the final sample. In Panel A we report separate figures for firms that increased, decreased, and maintained their dividends. We consider a dividend change of less than 5% as an unchanged dividend since many of these small changes reflect rounding errors (due, for example, to the conversion from Deutsche Mark to Euro). The 5% threshold should be viewed in the context of the average magnitude of dividend changes in Germany. Andres et al. (2009) document an average dividend increase (cut) of 36% (30%) for a sample of 220 German firms for the period 1984-2005. Therefore, we consider the 5% threshold - though much larger than the 0.5% threshold employed by Amihud and Li (2006) for their U.S. sample - to be reasonable.

In 521 out of the 921 firm-year observations (56.5%), firms increase their dividends (18 of these cases (3.5%) are dividend initiations). Another 312 observations (33.9%) are associated with maintained dividends. We observe only 88 (9.6%) dividend cuts.<sup>18</sup> Among these, 33 cases (or 37.5% of the dividend cuts) are dividend omissions.

Panel A of Table 1.1 shows that firms that increase their dividends differ substantially from firms that maintain or decrease dividend payments. With an average leverage ratio<sup>19</sup> of 1.79, they are less heavily leveraged than firms that decrease (2.06) or maintain (2.14) their dividends. In addition, they exhibit higher Tobin's Q values<sup>20</sup> (1.82 compared to 1.32 for firms that cut dividends, and 1.41 for firms that maintain dividends) and a much lower average dividend yield<sup>21</sup> (1.88% as compared to 4.80% for decreased and 2.57% for maintained dividends), suggesting that firms that increase dividends are slightly larger than firms in the other two subgroups, both in terms of total assets

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Compared to Gugler and Yurtoglu (2003), we observe a slightly higher number of dividend increases and less dividend decreases. In their sample (from 1992 through 1998), 43.8% of the announcements are classified as dividend increases, 36.8% as unchanged dividends, and 19.4% as dividend cuts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Leverage is defined as the sum of total current liabilities and long-term debt divided by the book value of equity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Tobin's Q is defined as the market value of equity (including preference shares wherever appropriate) plus total assets minus book value of equity, divided by the book value of total assets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>The dividend yield (DIV\_Y) is defined as DIV(i,t-1)/P(i,t), where DIV (i,t-1) is the dividend per share of firm (i) in year t-1, and P(i,t) is the split adjusted share price 14 days before the dividend is announced in year t. This definition follows the procedure suggested in Amihud and Murgia (1997).

and in terms of sales. With respect to ownership structure, our sample confirms one of the stylized facts of the German corporate governance system, namely, the high degree of ownership concentration. On average, about 45% of the voting shares are held by the two largest shareholders.

The percentage of firm-year observations with increased, decreased, and maintained dividends over the sample period is documented in Panel C of Table 1.1. The distribution of dividend increases, dividend cuts and unchanged dividends in our sample mirrors the trend observed in other recent empirical studies (see, e.g., Julio and Ikenberry, 2004). With the exception of 1996 an 1997, the percentage of firms that increase dividends declines gradually, reaching a low of 42% in 2003, before taking a sharp turn upward in 2004. In line with a poor economic environment following the burst of the technology bubble, the proportion of dividend-cutting firms is significantly higher during the years 2001-2003. In sum, our 11-year sample period covers an economic boom period, followed by a recession, which is then followed by a second upswing.

The classification into dividend increases, decreases and maintained dividends conforms to the naive expectations model. However, we argue that using analyst forecasts to classify events into good news (positive surprise), bad news (negative surprise) and no news events is preferable because only the unexpected component of an announcement should trigger a share price reaction. Following Campbell et al. (1997) we define dividend announcements as *good news (bad news)* if the announcement is more than 5% above (below) the dividend expected by analysts. Announcements that lie within a 10% range around the expected dividend are classified as *no news*.<sup>22</sup> Our proxy for the market's dividend expectations is the average of (at least two) analyst forecasts in the month preceding the dividend announcement.<sup>23</sup>

Our sample consists of 281 good news events (as compared to 521 dividend increases), 266 bad news events (as compared to 88 dividend reductions) and 374 no news events (as compared to 312 cases with an unchanged dividend). These numbers already

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$ As mentioned above, we change the bandwidth of the *no news* category to 5% (i.e. dividend announcements are classified as *good news* (*bad news*) if the announcement is more than 2.5% above (below) the dividend expected by analysts) to test the robustness of the results. All coefficient estimates and significance levels are similar to the results reported in the study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>As a robustness test, we also use the median of analyst forecasts and re-estimate all regressions using the median-based classification into *good news*, *bad news*, and *no news*. The results are not reported (but available on request) as they are qualitatively similar.

illustrate that the naive model results in a classification that is very different from that obtained when taking market expectations into account.

Descriptive statistics for the good news, bad news and no news events are provided in Panel B of Table 1.1. Even though the numbers are slightly different from those in Panel A, the qualitative results are similar. Good news events are associated with lower leverage ratios, higher values of Tobin's Q and lower dividend yields. Good news firms are also larger in terms of total assets and sales as compared to bad news and no news firms.

Our classification of dividend announcements into good news, bad news and no news events is based on the assumption that analysts' dividend forecasts are better predictors of actual dividends than the previous dividends. This is verified in Panel D of Table 1.1. No matter whether we consider absolute or relative deviations, or whether we consider the mean or the median deviation, we find that the mean analysts' forecast is a more accurate predictor of actual dividends than the previous dividend.<sup>24</sup> These findings confirm the results of Brown et al. (2008). Using an international sample from 39 countries these authors have shown that I/B/E/S dividend forecasts are an accurate estimate of the actual dividend as evidenced by a low forecast error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>We performed some additional analyses (results not shown). We regressed the actual dividend on the mean analyst expectation and a constant. If the analysts' mean estimate is an unbiased estimate of the true dividend we should find that the constant is zero and the slope is one. The actual estimates are -0.006 for the intercept (t-value -0.28) and 0.997 for the slope (t-value of a test against 1 is -0.07). An F-test of the joint hypothesis that the intercept is zero and the slope is one yields a p-value of 0.29. If we replace the mean analyst forecast by the previous dividend we obtain an intercept of 0.12 (t-value 3.55) and a slope of 0.87 (t-value of a test against 1 is -1.88). The p-value of the F-test is 0.00. Thus, while analysts' forecasts are an unbiased predictor of actual dividends, previous dividends are not.

Table 1.1: Summary Statistics

Naive Expectation Model (Dividend Changes)									
	Increases (521 Observations)			Decreases (88 Observations)			No Change (312 Observations)		
	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.
Dividend Yield (%)	1.88	1.67	1.36	4.80	4.09	3.73	2.57	2.44	1.86
Change in Dividend Yield (%)	0.57	0.33	0.67	-2.62	-1.95	2.50	0.01	0.00	0.04
Dividend Estimation Error (%)	0.16	0.08	0.41	-1.29	-0.86	1.42	-0.15	-0.07	0.38
Earnings Estimation Error (%)	0.13	0.00	2.54	-5.74	0.00	20.52	-0.56	0.00	4.28
Market Capitalization (Mio. Euro)	7197.91	1806.14	13100.63	3840.08	602.29	10578.83	5496.78	553.63	16414.32
Total Assets (Mio. Euro)	13634.58	1873.57	30499.10	11342.05	1354.76	33072.42	10739.01	1216.38	30134.27
Sales (Mio. Euro)	10384.13	1998.10	19477.11	8526.12	1860.30	20819.03	9717.28	1473.38	23478.73
Tobin's Q	1.82	1.37	1.40	1.32	1.07	1.13	1.41	1.20	0.91
Leverage	1.79	1.33	2.58	2.06	1.48	1.68	2.14	1.88	2.52
Analyst Coverage	17.33	17.00	10.41	15.61	12.00	10.84	15.25	13.00	10.89
Voting Rights of the Largest Shareholder (%)	39.07	36.07	26.93	38.32	30.33	25.32	43.30	37.08	29.08
Voting Rights of the 2. Largest Shareholder $(\%)$	4.83	0.00	7.03	5.69	2.50	6.98	5.12	0.00	6.52

Panel A. Descriptive Statistics for Firms with Increased, Decreased and Maintained Dividends over the Entire Sample Period (1996-2006) Naive Expectation Model (Dividend Changes)

Panel B. Descriptive Statistics for Firms with Good News, Bad News and No News over the Entire Sample Period (1996-2006) Market Expectation Model (Dividend Surprises)

	Good News (281 Observations)			Bad News (266 Observations)			No News (374 Observations)		
	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.
Dividend Yield (%)	2.04	1.83	1.48	2.56	2.15	2.75	2.54	2.21	1.82
Change in Dividend Yield (%)	0.62	0.40	0.84	-0.55	0.00	1.81	0.11	0.11	0.88
Dividend Estimation Error $(\%)$	0.41	0.28	0.39	-0.73	-0.36	0.96	0.00	0.00	0.08
Earnings Estimation Error (%)	0.27	0.00	3.05	-1.75	0.00	7.86	-0.59	0.00	8.78
Market Capitalization (Mio. Euro)	5813.50	1270.42	11391.25	4781.78	766.05	12984.94	7747.29	1221.49	16492.05
Total Assets (Mio. Euro)	10540.25	1286.30	25453.66	8836.06	1285.27	26692.68	16417.34	1754.56	35963.10
Sales (Mio. Euro)	9256.63	1530.68	19081.50	7529.96	1435.15	19120.12	12267.75	2103.84	23396.43
Tobin's Q	1.83	1.32	1.49	1.61	1.17	1.37	1.51	1.27	0.88
Leverage	1.79	1.24	2.82	1.93	1.54	1.57	2.05	1.65	2.08
Analyst Coverage	16.30	15.00	10.73	15.03	13.00	9.91	17.59	17.00	10.99
Voting Rights of the Largest Shareholder (%)	39.37	35.90	25.92	40.58	36.57	27.06	41.12	36.04	29.16
Voting Rights of the 2. Largest Shareholder (%)	5.22	0.00	7.34	5.07	0.00	6.83	4.80	0.00	6.50
ranel C. Percentage of Firm- fear Observations with Maintained, increased and Decreased Dividends									
---	-----------------	--	---------------------------------------	---------------------------------------	--	--	--	--	
Year	Number of Firms	Firms that Maintained Dividends $(\%)$	Firms that Increased Dividends $(\%)$	Firms that Decreased Dividends $(\%)$					
1996	67	39	52	9					
1997	80	29	68	4					
1998	78	26	67	8					
1999	88	34	60	6					
2000	87	32	64	3					
2001	91	34	46	20					
2002	89	38	43	19					
2003	89	39	42	19					
2004	85	33	60	7					
2005	81	25	69	6					
2006	86	19	78	3					

Panel C. Percentage of Firm-Year Observations with Maintained, Increased and Decreased Dividends

Panel D. Accuracy of Analysts' Dividend Forecasts

	Absolute Error - Abs(Actual - Forecast)		Relative Error - Abs(Actual - Forecast)/Share Price		
	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	
Naive Model Mean Analyst Forecast	0.134 0.085	0.051 0.035	0.006 0.004	0.002 0.001	

Notes: The table provides descriptive data for all sample firms. The sample consists of a total of 921 announcements for the 150 largest companies listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (member firms of the DAX, MDAX and SDAX indices as of December 2002) for the 11-year period from 1996 to 2006. Dividend yield is calculated as DIV(i,y-1)/P(i,y) and market capitalization measures the market value of equity 14 days before the announcement. The change in dividend yield is defined as the change in dividends as a percent of price (P(i,y)) 14 days before the dividend announcement, (DIV(i,y)-DIV(i,y-1))/P(i,y), where DIV(i,y) is the total (adjusted) dividend per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and DIV(i,y-1) is the total (adjusted) dividend per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and DIV(i,y-1) is the total (adjusted) dividend per share for stock (i) announced for the firm's equity plus total assets minus book value of equity, all divided by total assets. The firm's leverage is defined as the sum of total current liabilities and long-term debt divided by book value of equity. Analyst coverage denotes the number of analysts in the I/B/E/S database. The earnings estimation error is measured as (EPS(i,y)-ESTEPS(i,y))/P(i,y), where EPS(i,y) denotes (adjusted) earnings per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and ESTEPS(i,y) is the last I/B/E/S consensus earnings estimates before the announcement. In addition to the voting rights of the largest shareholder, the voting rights of the second-largest shareholder are reported if they exceed 5% (they are set to zero if the second-largest shareholder holds less than 5%).

### 1.4 Event Study Results and Univariate Analysis

We measure the stock price reaction to the announcement of dividend payments using standard event-study methodology. Based on the market model (Brown and Warner, 1985), the abnormal return  $\epsilon_{it}$  for firm *i* on day *t* is calculated as

$$\epsilon_{it} = R_{it} - (\hat{\alpha}_i + \hat{\beta}_i R_{mt}), \qquad (1.1)$$

where  $R_{it}$  is the return of firm *i* on day *t*, and  $R_{mt}$  is the return on the CDAX, our proxy for the market portfolio,<sup>25</sup> on day *t*. The coefficients  $\hat{\alpha}_i$  and  $\hat{\beta}_i$  are OLS estimates obtained from regressions of firm *i*'s daily returns on the CDAX return over the estimation window running from t = -121 to t = -2 (relative to the announcement day t = 0). We use two measures of abnormal returns: the average abnormal return on the announcement day, AAR<sub>0</sub>, and the cumulative average abnormal return, CAAR<sub>-1;1</sub>, measured over a three-day period centered on the event day. The statistical tests are based on the standardized cross-sectional t-statistic proposed by Boehmer et al. (1991) and the rank test of Corrado (1989).

Table 1.2 reports the event study results. In Panel A, all announcements are first classified according to the naive model into three groups: dividend increases, decreases and unchanged dividends. These groups are then subdivided into *good news*, *bad news*, and *no news* events, based on the dividend surprise (as defined above). We do not report results for two subgroups with ten observations or less.

The results in Panel A show that share prices increase after the announcement of a dividend increase. The average abnormal return on the announcement day,  $AAR_0$ , is significantly positive at 0.70%. The cumulative average abnormal return over a three-day window,  $CAAR_{-1;1}$ , is also positive and highly significant at 1.13%. When we subdivide the dividend increases into good news, bad news and no news events, it becomes obvious that an increase in dividends does not necessarily imply good news for market participants. Out of 521 dividend increases, only about 48% (248) are in fact positive surprises, i.e. positive deviations from the analysts' expectations. In cases in which market participants expected an even higher increase (cases in which the announcement represents bad news in spite of an increased dividend) we observe an announcement day return of -0.10% and a CAAR\_{-1;1} of 0.10% (both statistically

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>The CDAX is a broad, value-weighted German index and comprises about 350 firms.

#### 1.4 Event Study Results and Univariate Analysis

### insignificant).

Dividend decreases trigger a significantly negative share price reaction on the event day. The AAR<sub>0</sub> amounts to -0.86%. The three-day CAAR<sub>-1;1</sub> is also negative at -0.30%, but is insignificant. In both cases the share price reactions are more pronounced when the dividend decrease represents bad news. In the other two cases (dividend reductions that are good news or no news) the number of observations is too small to report reliable results.

The average abnormal return for announcements of an unchanged dividend is positive and weakly significant at 0.22%. The three-day CAAR<sub>-1;1</sub> is positive and significant at 0.65%. A closer look at the three subcategories reveals that the positive announcement return for unchanged dividends is driven by a highly significant return of 2.24% for announcements in which a maintained dividend is a positive surprise for market participants. This result confirms hypothesis 1, which states that market expectations play an important role in share price reactions to dividend announcements.

Panel B of Table 1.2 shows the results that we obtain when we first sort by the dividend surprise and then subdivide into dividend increases, reductions and maintained dividends. Abnormal returns are highest for dividend announcements that constitute good news for market participants, with an average announcement day return of 0.95% and a three-day CAAR<sub>-1;1</sub> of 1.59% (both highly significant). Bad news announcements are associated with a significantly negative announcement day average abnormal return. The three-day cumulative average abnormal return, however, is slightly positive but insignificant. Surprisingly, we find that no news events are associated with significantly positive abnormal returns. These are slightly larger when the no news event is a dividend increase.

The results presented in Table 1.2 imply that sorting by dividend *changes* and dividend *surprises* yields different results. Admittedly, however, the results are somewhat less clear-cut than one might have hoped. In particular, the finding that no-news events are associated with positive abnormal returns is surprising. A possible explanation for this result is that the descriptive statistics presented thus far do not control for earnings announcements that are often made on the same day as dividend announcements. We return to this issue when we present the results of our panel estimation in the next section.

Panel A. Increases, Decreases and No Change							
	#	$AAR_0$	T-Statistic	Corrado	CAAR-1;1	T-Statistic	Corrado
Increases	521	0.70%	4.63***	4.19***	1.13%	5.24***	4.54***
Good News	248	0.99%	5.20***	4.53***	1.58%	$5.74^{***}$	4.34***
Bad News	72	-0.10%	-0.53	-0.83	0.10%	0.32	0.12
No News	201	0.64%	$2.45^{**}$	$2.64^{***}$	0.93%	2.28**	3.12***
Decreases	88	-0.86%	-3.43***	-3.54***	-0.30%	-1.17	-0.43
Good News	7	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bad News	71	-0.95%	-3.52***	-3.65***	-0.53%	-1.69*	-0.93
No News	10	-	-	-	-	-	-
No Change	312	0.22%	$1.68^{*}$	2.46**	0.65%	2.61**	3.13***
Good News	26	0.71%	$2.62^{***}$	$2.65^{***}$	2.24%	$3.36^{***}$	$3.53^{***}$
Bad News	123	-0.06%	-0.23	-0.09	0.37%	1.08	0.97
No News	163	0.36%	1.45	$2.84^{***}$	0.61%	1.48	2.45**

Table 1.2: Wealth Effects of Dividend Announcements

Panel B. Increases, Decreases and No Change

	#	$AAR_0$	T-Statistic	Corrado	$CAAR_{-1;1}$	T-Statistic	Corrado
Good News	281	0.95%	5.67***	4.86***	1.59%	6.41***	4.87***
Increases	248	0.99%	5.20***	4.53***	1.58%	5.74***	4.34***
Decreases	7	-	-	-	-	-	-
No Change	26	0.71%	$2.62^{***}$	2.65***	2.24%	$3.36^{***}$	$3.53^{***}$
Bad News	266	-0.31%	-1.50	-2.50**	0.06%	0.22	0.07
Increases	72	-0.10%	-0.53	-0.83	0.10%	0.32	0.12
Decreases	71	-0.95%	-3.52***	-3.65***	-0.53%	-1.69*	-0.93
No Change	123	-0.06%	-0.23	-0.09	0.37%	1.08	0.97
No News	374	0.47%	2.72***	3.34***	0.81%	2.84***	3.78***
Increases	201	0.64%	2.45**	2.64***	0.93%	2.28**	3.12***
Decreases	10	-	-	-	-	-	-
No Change	163	0.36%	1.45	$2.84^{***}$	0.61%	1.48	$2.45^{**}$

Notes: The table presents the (market model-adjusted) average abnormal returns  $(AAR_0)$  on the announcement date and the cumulative average abnormal returns  $(CAAR_{-1;1})$  over the event window -1 to +1 relative to the announcement date. Panel A classifies the announcements into the three groups: dividend increases, dividend decreases and unchanged dividends, and then subdivides them into good news, bad news and no news events. In Panel B the announcements are first categorized into good news, bad news and no news events, and then subdivided into dividend increases, decreases and unchanged dividends. The test statistic proposed by Boehmer et al. (1991) and the nonparametric test statistic of Corrado (1989) are reported in columns 4 and 5 and in columns 7 and 8, respectively. Asterisks denote statistical significance at the 0.01 (\*\*\*), 0.05 (\*\*) and 0.10 (\*) levels.

### 1.5 Panel Analysis

The descriptive analysis in the previous section shows that market expectations are an important determinant of the share price reaction to dividend announcements. It is natural to ask whether the dividend *change* has explanatory power for the abnormal return once we control for the dividend *surprise*. In order to answer this question we estimate four panel models (Table 1.3). We use the random effects estimator, which is favored over the less efficient fixed effects estimator based on a Hausman test.<sup>26</sup>

The first model is the baseline specification. The dependent variable is the three-day CAR<sub>-1;1</sub>. The explanatory variables are year and industry dummies (results not reported) and a measure of the dividend change, namely, the change in the dividend yield. It is defined as the current minus last year's dividend per share, standardized by the split-adjusted stock price 14 days before the dividend is announced. The coefficient on the change in the dividend yield is positive and significant. Thus, when we do not control for the dividend surprise we find that the cumulative abnormal returns are significantly related to the magnitude of the dividend change.

In model 2 we replace the change in the dividend yield with the dividend surprise, defined as dividend per share minus the estimated dividend per share (based on the last I/B/E/S consensus forecast prior to the announcement), both divided by the split-adjusted stock price 14 days before the dividend is announced. The dividend surprise yields a highly significant coefficient that has twice the magnitude of the coefficient on the change in dividend yield in model 1.

Model 3 includes both variables. The coefficient estimate for the dividend surprise is statistically significant at the 1% level, whereas the coefficient estimate for the dividend change is insignificant. We can thus conclude that dividend surprises, not dividend changes, drive the cumulative abnormal returns.<sup>27</sup>

As noted previously, dividends and earnings are often announced simultaneously. In order to disentangle the effects that dividend and earnings announcements have

 $<sup>^{26}{\</sup>rm The}$  main conclusions of our study do not change if the fixed effects estimator or the OLS estimator is used instead.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>As a robustness check, we include long-term volatility in our models to control for information asymmetry between managers and shareholders. In line with Amihud and Li (2006), long-term volatility is measured by the standard deviation of monthly returns in the 24 months prior to the month of the dividend announcement. Re-estimating our panel models including this measure, we obtain very similar results.

	CAR-1;1				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
Change in Dividend Yield	0.514 (3.03)***		0.185 (0.92)	$\overline{0.18}$ (0.84)	
Dividend Surprise	(	1.152 (5.41)***	0.935 $(3.00)^{***}$	0.939 $(2.97)^{***}$	
Earnings Surprise		× /	× /	0.002 (0.12)	
Intercept	-0.003 (-0.31)	-0.011 (-0.15)	-0.002 (-0.25)	-0.012 (-0.71)	
R-Squared Number of Obs.	0.073 921	$0.084 \\ 921$	$0.086 \\ 921$	0.086 921	

### Table 1.3: Cumulative Abnormal Returns and Market Expectations

Notes: The table presents the results on the determinants of cumulative abnormal returns (random effects regressions). Cumulative abnormal returns (CAR\_1;1) are measured over the event window -1 to +1 relative to the announcement date. The change in dividend yield is defined as the change in dividends as a percentage of price (P(i,y)) 14 days before the dividend announcement, i.e., (DIV(i,y)-DIV(i,y-1))/P(i,y), where DIV(i,y) is the total (adjusted) dividend per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and DIV(i,y-1) is the total (adjusted) dividend per share for stock (i) announced for year (y-1). The dividend surprise is calculated as (DIV(i,y)-ESTDIV(i,y))/P(i,y), where ESTDIV(i,y) is the estimated dividend per share based on the last I/B/E/S consensus estimates before the dividend announcement. The earnings surprise is measured as (EPS(i,y)-ESTEPS(i,y))/P(i,y), where EPS(i,y) covers diluted (adjusted) earnings per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and ESTEPS(i,y) is the estimated earnings per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and ESTEPS(i,y) is the estimated earnings per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and ESTEPS(i,y) is the estimated earnings per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and ESTEPS(i,y) is the estimated earnings per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and ESTEPS(i,y) is the estimated earnings per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and ESTEPS(i,y) is the estimated earnings per share for stock (i) announced for the announcement. All regressions include dummy variables for each year of the sample period and industry dummies (based on the classifications of Deutsche Boerse AG). The regressions comprise 921 firm-year observations. T-statistics from cluster-robust standard errors appear in parentheses. Asterisks denote statistical significance at the 0.01 (\*\*\*), 0.05 (\*\*) and 0.10 (\*) levels.

on share prices, we estimate model 4, which includes the earnings surprise as an additional independent variable. It is defined as the difference between the actual earnings per share and the I/B/E/S consensus forecast, standardized by the stock price 14 days before the dividend announcement. The variable is set to zero when no earnings announcement was made on the event date.<sup>28</sup> Neither the change in the dividend yield nor the earnings surprise has explanatory power for the abnormal returns. The dividend surprise, on the other hand, is positively and significantly related to the CARs. These results stand in contrast to those reported in Leftwich and Zmijewski (1994). Based on a sample of contemporaneous quarterly earnings and dividend announcements these authors conclude that earnings announcements provide information beyond that provided by dividend announcements. A possible reason for the different findings is the fact that U.S. firms announce both dividends and earnings each quarter. German firms, on the other hand, make dividend announcements only once a year, but often announce earnings on a quarterly basis (although there is no legal requirement to do so). Consequently, the relative information content of dividend announcements as compared to earnings announcements may be higher in Germany than in the U.S. We further note that the regressions shown in Table 1.3 do not control for other variables that may affect the CARs. They may thus suffer from omitted variables bias. Table 1.4 later in the chapter shows the results of regressions that include additional explanatory variables.

These results corroborate hypothesis 1. They allow two conclusions. First, they suggest that studies of dividend announcements should take market expectations into account and thus should consider dividend surprises rather than dividend changes. Second, the results imply that, in cases in which earnings announcements and dividend announcements are made on the same day, share prices react to the dividend announcement, not to the earnings announcement.<sup>29</sup>

In the next step we extend the set of independent variables in order to test hypotheses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>We re-estimate model 4 and include only those cases in which a dividend and an earnings announcement are made on the same day. The results are virtually identical, and are therefore omitted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>We note that, at least in the first years of our sample period, many firms are still using German accounting standards rather than IAS/IFRS or US-GAAP. It would be interesting to explore whether the lack of a share price reaction to earnings announcement is due to the specific characteristics of German accounting standards. An investigation of this issue is, however, beyond the scope of this study.

2, 3, 4, and 5. We include the dividend surprise and the earnings surprise as control variables. The number of analysts following is used as a proxy for the degree of informational asymmetry. The cash flow signaling hypothesis (hypothesis 2) predicts a lower share price reaction if informational asymmetries are less pronounced. In order to test the free cash flow hypothesis (hypotheses 3a and 3b) we include three variables. The first is the ratio of free cash flow<sup>30</sup> to sales for the previous financial year.<sup>31</sup> The second variable is the natural logarithm of Tobin's Q. This variable is intended to identify firms without profitable investment opportunities. We expect a positive (negative) coefficient on the free cash flow variable (hypothesis 3a) and a negative (positive) coefficient on Tobin's Q (hypothesis 3b) for good news (bad news) announcements. We further include the leverage ratio as the free cash flow hypothesis suggests that dividends and debt serve as substitutes.<sup>32</sup>

Hypothesis 4 predicts that ownership structure matters. As explained in section 2 we expect a hump-shaped or u-shaped relationship between the voting power of the largest shareholder and the announcement returns. At low levels, increasing voting power reflects the shareholders increasing ability and willingness to monitor. At higher levels, voting power allows to extract rents at the cost of the remaining (minority) shareholders. In order to capture this potential non-linearity, we include the Shapley-Shubik value of the largest shareholder as well as its squared value.

We also include the Shapley-Shubik value of the second largest shareholder. We hypothesize that larger values thereof reflect the ability of the second largest shareholder to exert a controlling influence on the first shareholder. Consequently, a positive (negative) dividend surprise provides a weaker signal on reduced (increased) agency conflicts and hence weakens the market reaction.

Finally, to capture a possible clientele effect, we include the dividend yield as independent variable (hypothesis 5). We expect a positive (negative) coefficient on this variable for good news (bad news) announcements. Our regression models further

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$  The free cash flow is defined as EBIT + depreciation - taxes + delta def. taxes - minority interest - interest - dividends + extra items.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>As a robustness test, we use the level of cash holdings and cash equivalents (over sales) instead of the FCF variable. The corresponding coefficient is insignificant in all model specifications (results not tabulated).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>As an additional robustness test, we include the standard deviation of the analysts' dividend forecasts as a further control variable (SD Forecasts) in all models. The variable is insignificant in most specifications. It is significant only in the model specification "bad news" (results not tabulated).

include year and industry dummies (results not reported). For some of the variables, we expect opposing signs for good news and bad news announcements. To provide an example, when share prices of larger firms react less strongly to dividend surprises, we expect a negative relation between firm size and the magnitude of the CARs for good news announcements, but a positive relation for bad news announcements. We therefore estimate separate models for good news announcements and bad news announcements. The no news announcements are excluded from the analysis. To ensure that our results can be compared to those of previous studies, we repeat the analysis using the subsamples of dividend increases and decreases instead of the good news and bad news subsamples.

Tables 1.4 and 1.5 present the regression results for all four specifications (dividend increases, decreases, good news, bad news).<sup>33</sup> The tables differ in the way we calculate the Shapley-Shubik index. In Table 1.4, we use a quota of 25%, whereas in Table 1.5, the quota is set to 50%. Considering the good news subsample first, we confirm our earlier result that the CARs are positively related to dividend surprises. This confirms hypothesis 1. However, with the additional explanatory variables included, the earnings surprise now also has explanatory power.

The negative coefficient on the number of analysts is consistent with cash flow signaling (hypothesis 2). Informational asymmetries are more pronounced in firms followed by fewer analysts.<sup>34</sup> Therefore, dividend announcements made by these firms convey more information.

The free-cash-flow-to-sales ratio, Tobin's Q and the leverage ratio are all not significantly different from zero.<sup>35</sup> Thus, we do not find support for the free cash flow hypothesis (hypotheses 3a and 3b). This is in line with the findings of Yoon and Starks (1995).

Our predictions with respect to the relationship between abnormal returns and the voting power of the largest shareholder find empirical support. Consistent with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>The correlation coefficients between the explanatory variables used in the regression analysis show that there is no sign of multicollinearity in the various models (not reported in tabulated form).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>Using the market value of equity rather than the number of analysts yields qualitatively similar results (not reported).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>We also estimate a model that includes an interaction term between free cash flow and Tobin's Q. The coefficient estimate of the interaction term is insignificant. As stated above, an alternative measure of free cash flow based on balance sheet data (cash & equivalents over sales) also yields insignificant coefficient estimates.

monitoring effect the coefficient of the Shapley-Shubik value for the largest shareholder is negative. This implies that increases in the voting power of the largest shareholder are associated with a weaker price reaction to dividend news. The coefficient on the squared Shapley-Shubik value is positive. This is consistent with the rent extraction hypothesis. At high levels of voting power the largest shareholder has the power to expropriate minority shareholders. She can use dividend announcements to signal that she abstains from such rent-extracting activities. This signaling role for dividend announcements results in a stronger share price reaction which counterbalances the negative impact due to the monitoring effect. The Shapley-Shubik value for the second largest shareholder is never significant.

In additional regressions (not tabulated, but available upon request), we analyze the relationship between the identity of a dominant blockholder and announcement returns. In doing so, we create indicator variables that equal one if the largest ultimate shareholder at the 25%-level is a family or individual, a financial institution (bank or insurance company), the German government, or a foreign shareholder. Regression results for the subsamples of good news and dividend increases show insignificant coefficients for the blockholder variables, but are otherwise very similar to the results presented in Tables 1.4 and 1.5. For bad news and dividend decreases we document a negative and significant (at the 0.05- and 0.01-level, respectively) relationship between the existence of a government blockholder and the three-day announcement return. The positive coefficient on the dividend yield is consistent with the existence of dividend clientele effects. Firms with higher dividend yields have shareholders who value dividends more highly. Consequently, the share price reacts more strongly to dividend news.

In column 2 we consider dividend increases instead of good news events. Despite the much larger number of observations, this specification yields lower explanatory power. Both the coefficients on the number of analysts and on the Shapley-Shubik values of the largest shareholder lose significance. Thus, a categorization based on the naive dividend expectations model may lead to different conclusions. While the results of model 1 - the "good news" model - support the cash flow signaling, monitoring and rent extraction hypothesis, the results of model 2 - the naive model - do not. Given our previous results, which clearly favored dividend surprises over dividend changes, we conclude that, whenever data on analyst dividend forecast are available, the naive

	CAR-1;1							
	(1)		(2	(2)		3)	(4)	
	Good News	s	Increases		Bad New	s	Decrease	es
$\bigtriangleup$ in Dividend Yield			0.653 (1.82)*	$0.646 (1.81)^*$			0.573 (1.42)	0.614 (1.50)
Dividend Surprise	1.845 (2.49)**	1.848 (2.46)**	. ,	. ,	0.896 $(2.13)^{**}$	0.896 $(2.12)^{**}$		
Earnings Surprise	0.144 (1.98)**	0.142 (1.88)*	0.201 (2.87)***	$(2.82)^{***}$	0.003 (0.13)	0.003 (0.14)	-0.007 (-0.27)	-0.003 (-0.12)
Dividend Yield	0.310 (1.78)*	$0.334 (1.95)^*$	0.395 $(2.24)^{**}$	0.396 (2.24)**	0.171 (1.38)	0.173 (1.40)	0.005 (0.03)	0.067 (0.40)
Analyst Coverage	-0.001 (-2.18)**	-0.001 (-2.04)**	-0.000 (-1.34)	-0.000 (-1.28)	0.000 (0.69)	0.000 (0.69)	-0.001 (-1.28)	-0.001 (-1.05)
Ln(Tobin's Q)	0.010 (1.51)	0.010 (1.51)	0.002 (0.44)	0.002 (0.46)	0.002 (0.25)	0.002 (0.28)	0.007 (0.52)	0.005 (0.32)
Leverage	-0.001 (-1.51)	-0.001 (-1.54)	-0.001 (-1.24)	-0.001 (-0.39)	0.000 (0.01)	0.000 (0.03)	0.004 (0.98)	0.005 (1.12)
Free Cash Flow	0.009	0.009	-0.010	-0.010	0.004	0.004	0.164	0.183
/Sales (Lag) Shapley Value for	$(0.34) \\ -0.074$	$(0.36) \\ -0.073$	(-0.41) -0.016	(-0.39) -0.017	$(0.07) \\ 0.018$	$(0.07) \\ 0.018$	(1.37) -0.144	(1.47) -0.134
Largest Shareholder Shapley Value for	$(-2.37)^{**}$ 0.070	$(-2.32)^{**}$ 0.068	(-0.64) 0.016	(-0.67) 0.016	(0.47) -0.011	(0.48) -0.012	(-1.35) 0.146	(-1.27) 0.126
Largest Shareholder <sup>2</sup> Shapley Value for	$(2.44)^{**}$	$(2.36)^{**}$ 0.015	(0.73)	$(0.70) \\ 0.009$	(-0.31)	(-0.32) 0.002	(1.51)	$(1.38) \\ 0.060$
2. Largest Shareholder Intercept	0.028	(1.03) 0.027	0.012	(0.78) 0.012	-0.014	(0.11) -0.014	-0.002	(1.44) -0.012
	(1.18)	(1.13)	(0.78)	(0.78)	(-0.67)	(-0.67)	(-0.06)	(-0.31)
R-Squared Number of Obs.	$0.222 \\ 281$	$0.225 \\ 281$	$0.121 \\ 519$	$0.122 \\ 519$	$0.127 \\ 265$	$0.127 \\ 265$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.440\\ 88 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.454 \\ 88 \end{array}$

### Table 1.4: Dividend Announcement Returns and Firm Characteristics (Shapley-Shubik Indices Calculated Using a Quota of 25%)

Notes: The table presents the results on the determinants of cumulative abnormal returns for good news events, dividend increases, bad news events and dividend decreases (all random effects regressions). Cumulative abnormal returns  $(CAR_{-1:1})$  are measured over the event window -1 to +1 relative to the announcement date. The change in dividend yield is defined as the change in dividends as a percentage of price (P(i,y)) 14 days before the dividend announcement, i.e., (DIV(i,y)-DIV(i,y-1)/P(i,y)), where DIV(i,y) is the total (adjusted) dividend per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and DIV(i,y-1) is the total (adjusted) dividend per share for stock (i) announced for the preceding year (y-1). The dividend surprise is calculated as (DIV(i,y)-ESTDIV(i,y))/P(i,y), where ESTDIV(i,y) is the estimated dividend per share based on the last I/B/E/S consensus estimates before the dividend announcement. The earnings surprise is measured as (EPS(i,y)-ESTEPS(i,y))/P(i,y), where EPS(i,y) is diluted (adjusted) earnings per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and ESTEPS(i,y) is the last I/B/E/S consensus earnings estimate before the announcement. Dividend yield is calculated as DIV(i,y-1)/P(i,y). Analyst coverage is the total number of analysts covering the respective firm in the last I/B/E/S file available before the announcement. Tobin's Q is defined as the market value of the firm's equity plus total assets minus book value of equity, all divided by total assets. The firm's leverage is defined as the sum of total current liabilities and long-term debt divided by book value of equity. Free cash flow is defined as EBIT + depreciation - taxes + delta def. taxes - minority interest - interest - dividends + extra items and divided by sales and lagged by one year. The measures of voting power for the largest and second largest shareholder are based on the Shabley-Shubik index (using a quote of 25%). All regressions include dummy variables for each year of the sample period and industry dummies (based on the classifications of Deutsche Boerse AG). T-statistics from cluster-robust standard errors appear in parentheses. Asterisks denote statistical significance at the 0.01 (\*\*\*), 0.05 (\*\*) and 0.10 (\*) levels.

	CAR-1;1				;1			
	(1)		(2	(2)		3)	(4)	
	Good New	s	Increases		Bad News	s	Decrease	es
$\bigtriangleup$ in Dividend Yield			0.653 (1.79)*	$0.655 (1.79)^*$			0.510 (1.21)	0.522 (1.30)
Dividend Surprise	1.875 $(2.58)^{***}$	1.897 $(2.74)^{***}$	. ,	. ,	0.895 $(2.10)^{**}$	0.863 (2.02)**		
Earnings Surprise	$0.150 (2.01)^{**}$	0.149 (1.96)**	0.203 $(2.88)^{***}$	0.203 $(2.87)^{***}$	0.006 (0.22)	0.010 (0.38)	-0.018 (-0.70)	-0.014 (-0.49)
Dividend Yield	0.320 (1.81)*	0.292 (1.63)	0.385 $(2.19)^{**}$	0.386 $(2.18)^{**}$	0.177 (1.43)	0.172 (1.40)	0.040 (0.27)	0.033 (0.23)
Analyst Coverage	-0.001 (-1.99)**	-0.001 (-2.24)**	-0.000	-0.000	(0.000)	0.000 (0.47)	-0.001	-0.001 (-1.22)
Ln(Tobin's Q)	0.008 (1.20)	(1.43)	(0.002) (0.34)	(0.001)	(0.002) (0.21)	(0.21) (0.21)	(0.30)	(0.49)
Leverage	(-1.20)	(-1.50)	(0.01) (-0.001) (-1.21)	(0.00) (-0.001) (-1.22)	(0.21) (0.000) (0.08)	(0.21) (0.000) (0.12)	(0.00) (0.003) (0.70)	(0.10) (0.003) (0.70)
Free Cash Flow (Salos (Lag)	(-1.00) 0.011 (0.42)	(-1.00) 0.018 (0.60)	(-0.010)	(-1.22) -0.009 (-0.35)	(0.00) (0.006) (0.12)	(0.12) 0.008 (0.13)	(0.136)	(0.149)
Shapley Value for	(0.42) -0.074 (2.02)**	(0.03) -0.062 (1.72)*	(-0.33) -0.002	-0.003	(0.12) 0.048 (1.02)	(0.13) 0.062 (1.24)	(1.21) -0.052	(1.29) -0.046
Shapley Value for	0.064	0.048	(-0.07) 0.001	(-0.10) 0.002	-0.039	(1.24) -0.055	(-0.55)	(-0.48) 0.032
Largest Shareholder <sup>2</sup> Shapley Value for	(1.96)**	(1.47) -0.077	(0.03)	(0.08) 0.006	(-0.95)	(-1.23) -0.065	(0.62)	(0.42) -0.104
2. Largest Shareholder Intercept	0.028 (1.16)	(-1.52) 0.026 (1.12)	0.010 (0.63)	(0.13) 0.010 (0.60)	-0.021 (-0.99)	(1.11) -0.020 (-0.90)	-0.023 (-0.56)	(-0.93) -0.016 (-0.38)
R-Squared	0.216	0.222	0.121	0.121	0.130	0.134	0.443	0.453
Number of Obs.	281	281	519	519	265	265	88	88

## Table 1.5: Dividend Announcement Returns and Firm Characteristics(Shapley-Shubik Indices Calculated Using a Quota of 50%)

Notes: The table presents the results on the determinants of cumulative abnormal returns for good news events, dividend increases, bad news events and dividend decreases (all random effects regressions). Cumulative abnormal returns  $(CAR_{-1:1})$  are measured over the event window -1 to +1 relative to the announcement date. The change in dividend yield is defined as the change in dividends as a percentage of price (P(i,y)) 14 days before the dividend announcement, i.e., (DIV(i,y)-DIV(i,y-1)/P(i,y)), where DIV(i,y) is the total (adjusted) dividend per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and DIV(i,y-1) is the total (adjusted) dividend per share for stock (i) announced for the preceding year (y-1). The dividend surprise is calculated as (DIV(i,y)-ESTDIV(i,y))/P(i,y), where ESTDIV(i,y) is the estimated dividend per share based on the last I/B/E/S consensus estimates before the dividend announcement. The earnings surprise is measured as (EPS(i,y)-ESTEPS(i,y))/P(i,y), where EPS(i,y) is diluted (adjusted) earnings per share for stock (i) announced for year (y) and ESTEPS(i,y) is the last I/B/E/S consensus earnings estimate before the announcement. Dividend yield is calculated as DIV(i,y-1)/P(i,y). Analyst coverage is the total number of analysts covering the respective firm in the last I/B/E/S file available before the announcement. Tobin's Q is defined as the market value of the firm's equity plus total assets minus book value of equity, all divided by total assets. The firm's leverage is defined as the sum of total current liabilities and long-term debt divided by book value of equity. Free cash flow is defined as EBIT + depreciation - taxes + delta def. taxes - minority interest - interest - dividends + extra items and divided by sales and lagged by one year. The measures of voting power for the largest and second largest shareholder are based on the Shabley-Shubik index (using a quote of 50%). All regressions include dummy variables for each year of the sample period and industry dummies (based on the classifications of Deutsche Boerse AG). T-statistics from cluster-robust standard errors appear in parentheses. Asterisks denote statistical significance at the 0.01 (\*\*\*), 0.05 (\*\*) and 0.10 (\*) levels.

model should be abandoned in favor of a model that takes market expectations into account.

In the bad news sample, the dividend surprise is again positively related to the CARs, as expected. However, in contrast to the good news sample, the earnings surprise has no additional explanatory power. All other variables are insignificant. Thus, we find no support for any of the theories when we consider bad news events. This conclusion does not change when we consider dividend reductions instead. To put these results into perspective, we wish to note that many related papers do not even present results for dividend decreases (see, e.g., Bernheim and Wantz, 1995; Amihud and Li, 2006). Bernheim and Wantz (1995) argue that market reactions to dividend cuts are likely to be driven by fundamentally different processes compared to reactions to dividend increases. Independently, the results for dividend reductions should also be interpreted with caution due to the low number of observations.

To summarize, our analysis shows that share prices react to dividend surprises, not to dividend changes. With regard to the good news subsample, we document a number of further results. We find a negative relation between the number of analysts and the CARs after positive dividend surprises, consistent with the cash flow signaling hypothesis. In addition, we also find supporting evidence for a dividend clientele effect and we document a significant and non-linear relation between the price reaction to dividend surprises and the ownership structure of the firm. These results are consistent with both the monitoring and the rent extraction hypotheses. We do not find evidence in favor of the free cash flow hypothesis.

### 1.6 Conclusion

In this study we analyze dividend announcements made by German firms in the period from 1996 to 2006. We perform a standard event study and then use random effects panel models to analyze the determinants of the cumulative abnormal returns. The results show that share prices react to the surprise in the dividend announcement, not to a dividend change *per se*. Our results also suggest that, when dividend and earnings announcements are made on the same day, the dividend surprise has, if anything, higher explanatory power for the share price reaction than the earnings surprise.

We estimate panel regressions to discriminate between several popular hypotheses that aim to explain the price reaction to dividend announcements: the cash flow signaling hypothesis, the free cash flow hypothesis, the monitoring and rent extraction hypothesis and dividend clientele effects. When analyzing positive dividend surprises we find evidence in favor of the cash flow signaling hypothesis and dividend clientele effects. We further document a non-linear relation between the cumulative abnormal returns and the ownership structure of the firm which is consistent with the monitoring and rent extraction hypotheses. The free cash flow hypothesis receives no support. The results of the panel analysis are different when we consider dividend changes rather than dividend surprises. Most importantly, results of the naive model based on dividend changes do support neither the dividend signaling hypothesis nor the monitoring or rent extraction hypothesis. We therefore conclude that the naive model may yield misleading results. Our results thus suggest that future research on dividend announcements should make use of the analyst forecast data that are now readily available.

# Index Membership vs. Loss of Control: The Unification of Dual-Class Shares

### 2.1 Introduction

This study links the literature on dual-class stock unifications with that on index membership. The literature on why firms issue dual-class shares and why firms abolish them once they have been issued is as yet relatively sparse (Adams and Ferreira, 2008). Although the former decision seems to be driven by the controlling shareholder's desire to retain control while reducing cash-flow risk (see e.g. DeAngelo and DeAngelo, 1985), little is known as to why firms make the latter decision. The few studies that investigate dual-class unifications (Maury and Pajuste, 2011; Dittmann and Ulbricht, 2007; Hauser and Lauterbach, 2004; Lauterbach and Pajuste, 2011) suggest that improving access to external financing is an important motive whereas the existence of private benefits of control is a deterrent.

This study extends this literature by studying a major reform of how German firms are selected for membership of the various stock market indices. In August 2000, Deutsche Boerse announced new index weighting rules for its major stock indices. Under the old rules index membership was based on the firm's *aggregate* market capitalization. The changes caused by the reform, which became effective in June 2002, were twofold. First, only the most liquid or largest class now forms the basis for selection into an index. Second, only the free float of that class is taken into account when determining index membership.

As a consequence, firms with more than one class of shares outstanding included in a selection index faced the danger of losing their current index position or, worse even, dropping out of the index. For example, DAX index member SAP was set to

lose massively. At the announcement of the new rules in August 2000 and assuming the new rules had been effective immediately, SAP's weight in the DAX would have fallen by almost 40% from 9.51% to 5.64%. More generally, companies whose equity was split fairly equally between the two classes, i.e. the non-voting shares and the voting shares, and with little free float were adversely affected. Conversely, those with their equity in mainly one class and a large free float ranked among the winners. Why should firms care about index membership and weight? As the mere gain or loss of membership does not provide any additional information on the firm's fundamental value, any such occurrence should therefore be valuation neutral. However, several studies document that index inclusions and deletions cause positive and negative abnormal returns, respectively.<sup>1</sup> As to index weight, Kaul et al. (2000) find that a change in the index weighting rules of the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSE), that redefined the weighting-relevant free float, caused valuation increases for those firms that experienced an increase in their index weight in the TSE 300 index. One important reason for these market reactions is changes in investor demand for the firm's stock, in particular index fund managers (see e.g. Shleifer, 1986; Barberis et al., 2005, and Claessens and Yafeh, 2013). Several other reasons, all of which have empirical support, have been advanced to explain these market reactions, including investor awareness (Merton, 1987), price pressure (Harris and Gurel, 1986), improved liquidity (Amihud and Mendelson, 1986) and information signals about the firm's prospects (Denis et al., 2003).

We hypothesize that the regulatory changes that became effective in 2002 forced the large shareholders of firms with dual-class shares to reassess the benefits from index membership by weighing them against the foregone control caused by the unification.<sup>2</sup> Anecdotal evidence suggests that some firms conducted this reassessment well before the implementation of the new rules. For example, SAP unified its stock in 2001, i.e. one year before the implementation of the rules, justifying the move by its endeavor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Studies that examine the effect of index inclusions or deletions include Denis et al. (2003), Hrazdil and Scott (2009), Goetzmann and Garry (1986), Jain (1987), Lynch and Mendenhall (1997) and Chen et al. (2004). While there is a large body of literature on the US stock markets, there are only few empirical studies on the effects of index inclusion and deletion in the German market (see e.g. Gerke et al., 2001; Deininger et al., 2002).

 $<sup>^2</sup> Large$  controlling shareholders dominate our sample firms. For 87.9% (71.4% ) of the firm-year observations there is a shareholder holding at least 25% (50%) of the votes.

### to keep its index weight.<sup>3</sup>

The study's main contribution is to study the trade-off faced by large controlling shareholders between the benefits from a dual-class stock unification and the costs from losing control. We estimate the probability of conversion - conditional on different levels of reduction in index weight - for various levels of the hypothetical voting loss the controlling shareholder would experience upon conversion. We find that the large shareholder is more likely to accept a reduction in index weight, and hence less likely to unify the dual-class shares, the higher his hypothetical voting loss from the conversion. This suggests that beyond a certain threshold of control the private benefits of control foregone by the large shareholder exceed his share of the benefits from unification. Similar to the wealth effects accruing to the holders of the non-voting stock that have been documented for German stock unifications before the reform (see e.g. Dittmann and Ulbricht, 2007), we observe such wealth effects at the announcement of the regulatory change. Finally and in line with anecdotal evidence, we find that the danger of dropping out of the index is an important reason for conversion. However, the opportunity to move up an index seems unrelated to unification decisions.

Our study is related to Dittmann and Ulbricht (2007), who study the timing and the announcement effects of German stock unifications for 1990 to 2001, a period during which the index rules remained the same. In contrast, we focus on an exogenous shock which forced the controlling shareholder to reconsider the benefits from maintaining dual-class shares in the light of the potential costs caused by a reduction in index weight. Our study also differs from Hauser and Lauterbach (2004) and Bigelli et al. (2011). Indeed, both studies are on two countries, i.e. Israel and Italy, that have higher private benefits of control as proxied by the price of a voting right. Voting shares trade at a premium of 27% in Israel and 37% in Italy, while for Germany this premium is only 10% (see Dyck and Zingales, 2004). Hauser and Lauterbach (2004) analyse 84 Israeli unifications. They find that the compensation paid to the large shareholder for the loss in voting rights depends on three factors. First, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>During summer 2000, the CEO (the chairman of the management board), Hasso Plattner, denied that SAP was to convert its preference shares into ordinary shares: "We will keep the preference shares" ("Es wird weiter Vorzugsaktien geben"). A year later, Henning Kagermann (member of the management board of SAP) justified the decision to convert in the magazine Focus (June 7, 2001) as follows: "Thereby we avoid the risk of seeing SAP lose its position in the DAX index" ("Damit wird das Risiko einer Rueckgewichtung der SAP-Aktie im Dax-Index vermieden").

compensation increases with the large shareholder's percentage of votes. Second, it decreases if there is institutional ownership. Third, it is higher for family-controlled firms. In addition, the large shareholder is compensated for the loss of votes even if this loss does not reduce his percentage of the votes below a majority. Bigelli et al. (2011) study 47 dual-class unifications by 42 Italian firms between 1974 and 2008. While they observe that the market response to the unification is positive for non-voting shares, they find that the response of voting shares' prices is significantly negative only in situations where the controlling shareholder held non-voting shares prior to the announcement. For this subsample of firms they also show that the likelihood of receiving a compensation for the loss of their voting privileges is significantly lower, providing a possible explanation for the negative market responses. They suggest that owning non-voting shares during unifications allows controlling shareholders to benefit from the associated increases in share prices.

Finally, our study also differs from Lauterbach and Pajuste (2011), who study the impact of media pressure on the likelihood of stock unifications in seven Western European countries from 1996 to 2002. They find that the likelihood increases with media pressure and that seven years after the unification the decrease in the percentage of votes held by the controlling shareholder is greater for firms under intense media pressure. In our study, the pressure on the dual-class firms to convert is of a different type, consisting of a reduction in the firm's index weight.

The rest of the chapter is structured as follows. The next section reviews the literature on dual-class stock unifications. This is followed by a discussion of the institutional background before and after the regulatory change in Section 2.3. Section 2.4 describes the dataset and provides descriptive statistics. Section 2.5 explores the stock market's reaction to the regulatory change and to the actual unifications. Section 2.6 reviews the motives behind the decision to unify a firm's shares, develops several testable hypotheses and discusses the relevant econometric issues. Section 2.7 concludes.

### 2.2 Literature Review

Adams and Ferreira (2008) survey the empirical literature on disproportional ownership. They conclude that "few papers directly tackle the issue of the determinants of dual-class structures ... Consequently, we still know very little about this issue" (Adams and Ferreira, 2008, p.62). Papers on the determinants of the decision to separate cash flow rights from voting rights include Lehn et al. (1990), Amoako-Adu and Smith (2001) and Gompers et al. (2010). Lehn et al. (1990) investigate the choice between dual-class recapitalizations and going private transactions as means to consolidate corporate control. Both transactions mainly differ in the allocation of cash flow rights to the controlling shareholder. They find that firms with better growth opportunities are more likely to undergo a dual-class recapitalization, compared to firms going private, as they want to maintain their access to the stock market. Amoako-Adu and Smith (2001) examine the determinants of dual-class stock structures for Canadian initial public offerings (IPOs). They find that a large family stake before the IPO increases the probability of a dual-class share structure after the IPO. Finally, Gompers et al. (2010) find that US firms with greater private benefits of control are more likely to have a dual-class structure.

There are even fewer papers that study the determinants of dual-class stock unifications. Studies on US firms, such as Ang and Megginson (1989) and Kunz (2002), do not find evidence of significant shareholder wealth effects from unifications. In contrast, the only two published studies on Germany (Maury and Pajuste, 2011, and Dittmann and Ulbricht, 2007) find significant wealth effects. Dittmann and Ulbricht (2007) analyse 89 German firms with dual-class shares between 1990 and 2001 of which 31 unify their stock. They document not only that dual-class stock unifications generate significantly positive shareholder wealth effects, but also that the percentage of voting shares held by the largest shareholder as well as the hypothetical loss of that shareholder's voting power after the conversion reduces the likelihood of unifying the shares. They also find that a lack of dividend payments in the recent past increases the likelihood of conversion, suggesting firms are more likely to unify their stock if they are financially constrained.

Maury and Pajuste (2011) explore the probability of stock unification in a crosscountry study of seven Western European countries covering 493 non-financial dualclass stock firms from 1996 to 2002.<sup>4</sup> They confirm Dittmann and Ulbricht's (2007) results of both the fraction of voting shares of the largest shareholder and the wedge between his control and ownership rights reducing the likelihood of a stock unification. In contrast, their proxies for financing needs, such as the market-to-book ratio and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Their regression results are based on a reduced sample of 382 firms.

proceeds from new equity issues, increase that likelihood.

Our study extends this literature in a major way by analysing the decision to unify dual-class shares in a situation, i.e. the 2002 change to the listing rules of Deutsche Boerse, where the status quo is associated with substantial costs in terms of reduced index weight, forcing the controlling shareholder to reassess the benefits from staying in control versus the costs of reduced index weight.

### 2.3 Institutional Background

This section describes the characteristics of German dual-class shares, more specifically non-voting shares, as well as the various selection indices. It also discusses the 2002 changes to the index selection rules in more detail. The German Stock Corporation Act (§139 AktG) allows firms to issue non-voting shares, also called preference shares<sup>5</sup> for up to 50% of their total book value of equity. In contrast to voting shares which confer one vote each, these shares do not confer any voting rights. However, they confer the right to a guaranteed dividend amount, which is normally a percentage of their face value. This guaranteed dividend amount must be paid out of profits before any dividend can be paid to the holders of the voting shares. If the remaining earnings are sufficient, the dividend amount accruing to the holders of the non-voting shares is then increased by the amount of the dividend paid to the voting shareholders. If the firm cannot afford the guaranteed dividend amount, the latter is carried over to the next year. If it has been carried over twice, then the non-voting shares confer voting rights until the firm has paid these arrears. Finally, non-voting shares are also senior to voting shares in case of liquidation and bankruptcy.

Deutsche Boerse distinguishes between two types of indices: all-share indices and selection indices. While the former include *all* the shares in a given market segment, the latter comprise only a *limited* number of shares. We focus on the latter. The selection indices are hierarchically structured: The DAX index tracks the largest and most actively traded firms at Frankfurt Stock Exchange (blue chip stocks), followed by the MDAX (50 mid cap stocks) and SDAX (50 small cap stocks) indices. The TecDAX index ranks below the DAX and provides coverage for the 30 largest and most

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Since 1998 the issuance of multiple-voting shares has been prohibited by German law (see KonTraG ("Gesetz zur Kontrolle und Transparenz im Unternehmensbereich"). Existing multiple-voting shares lost their validity on May 30, 2003, unless approved by the shareholders' meeting (§5 EGAktG).

### 2.3 INSTITUTIONAL BACKGROUND

Selection Index	No. of Members	Description
DAX	30	It tracks the 30 largest and most actively traded firms at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (blue chip stocks) and covers roughly 80 percent of the tradable equity in Germany.
TecDAX	30	It ranks below the DAX and provides coverage for the 30 largest and most liquid technology sector ("new economy") stocks. It started in March 2003 and replaced the Nemax50 as the reference index for high tech firms.
MDAX	50	It ranks below the DAX and covers the 50 mid-cap stocks from mature ("old economy") sectors. It was downsized from 70 to 50 companies on March 24, 2003
SDAX	50	It ranks below the MDAX and comprises the next 50 stocks from the mature ("old economy") sectors. It was downsized from 100 to 50 companies on June 24, 2002.
Nemax50	50	It was the stock market index of the Neuer Markt and repre- sented the 50 largest stocks from the technology ("new econ- omy") sector. It was discontinued on December 31, 2004, as a result of the dissolution of the Neuer Markt.

Table 2.1: Selection Indices

Notes: This table provides an overview of the selection indices of Deutsche Boerse. The rank of firms within a given index is based on the market capitalization of the free float and stock turnover.

liquid technology stocks.<sup>6</sup> To be included in one of the selection indices, companies must fulfill certain criteria. Two of the criteria for inclusion are that the shares trade on the Prime Standard segment<sup>7</sup> of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and that they are continuously traded on Xetra, an electronic trading platform. For all those firms that either are already included in a selection index or qualify for inclusion Deutsche Boerse publishes monthly so-called "equity index rankings". The key criteria for these rankings are order-book turnover at Frankfurt and market capitalization. The rankings form the basis at the quarterly meetings of the Working Committee for Equity Indices for the decision on whether a particular firm is to be included in or excluded from one of Deutsche Boerse's selection indices. Table 2.1 shows the list of selection indices and reviews the definition and composition of each selection index. In August 2000, Deutsche Boerse announced changes to the selection criteria for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>TecDAX started in March 2003 and replaced Nemax50 as the reference index for technology shares. Hence, we base ourselves on the latter for the pre-2003 period but the former for the remainder of the period of study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This criterion came into effect on January 1, 2003. Companies which are part of the Prime Standard segment have to fulfill the highest transparency requirements in the EU. They have to publish company reports on a quarterly basis in both German and English, follow international accounting standards (IFRS/IAS or US-GAAP), release a financial calendar, conduct at least one analyst conference per year and publish their ad-hoc disclosures in both German and English.

all its selection indices, which became effective in June 2002. Until then, the main criterion for the inclusion in a selection index was the firm's market capitalization which was computed by multiplying the number of *all* its issued shares, i.e. the sum of non-voting shares and voting shares for dual-class firms, multiplied by the price of the more liquid class.<sup>8</sup> Since the change, *only* the free float of the most highly capitalized or most liquid class of shares, i.e. *either* the non-voting stock *or* the voting stock, has formed the basis for the determination of the firm's market capitalization. There are two main ways of unifying dual-class shares. First, the non-voting shares may be converted into ordinary voting shares by amending the firm's articles of association. This change needs approval by the general shareholder meeting and requires a special resolution to be passed by the bearers of the non-voting shares in a separate meeting. Second, the company may repurchase the non-voting shares and then subsequently replace them by issuing new voting shares. In this case, the approval of the holders of the non-voting equity is not required, yet they must be willing to participate and sell their shares to the company.

### 2.4 Dataset and Descriptive Statistics

We start with all the 91 German companies with dual-class shares that are listed on Deutsche Boerse's CDAX segment<sup>9</sup> between January 2000 and December 2008. The period of study begins in 2000 to capture the run-up prior to the change in the rules. The official announcement of the regulatory change was made on August 8, 2000, but since it was published after the market's close, the effective event date is August 9.<sup>10</sup> Of the 91 firms, 30 convert their non-voting shares into voting shares at some point during the period of study. We exclude one firm that makes the decision to convert

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The liquidity of a stock is measured by its turnover on the exchange.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The CDAX tracks all German companies listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in the Prime and General Standard. It provides a performance measure of the overall German equity market.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>In 2000, speculations about new weighting rules arose after Stoxx Ltd. announced that hence-forward weighting in its Euro Stoxx index would be based only on the free float proportion of the market capitalization of one class of shares. Though Deutsche Boerse officially denied intentions to adopt similar rules for its major stock indices (see Sueddeutsche Zeitung, July 5, 2000, p.29, and dpa-AFX, July 12, 2000), rumors intensified in mid-July as various newspaper articles speculated about a change in listing rules and evaluated potential index winners and losers. See Boersen-Zeitung, July 13, 2000, p.3; Financial Times Deutschland, July 17, 2000, p.28, and Financial Times Deutschland, July 17, 2000, p.1.

in 1999, another one that converts its non-voting shares immediately following its IPO and four firms with insufficient data. We arrive at a final sample of 85 firms, 25 of which abolish their dual-class shares during the period of study. Our sample size is comparable to that in Dittmann and Ulbricht (2007): they have 89 firms, for 1990-2001, of which 31 convert their non-voting shares. Nineteen of our sample firms, or 35% of the subsample of the 54 firms that have been listed in one of the selection indices of Deutsche Boerse, decide to convert, compared to only 6 firms or 19% of the remaining firms. The remainder of the analysis focuses on those 54 firms that are included in a selection index as these are the firms that are affected by the change in rules, generating 229 firm-year observations.<sup>11</sup>

The aforementioned changes in index weighting rules were introduced in June 2002. However, the intention to change the rules had already been the subject of speculation before that date while the changes were officially announced in August 2000. Well aware of the impending changes, many firms may have chosen to convert prior to the actual implementation of the new selection rules. Hence, we simulate the decision problem the firm and its controlling shareholder was facing by recalculating index weightings on a monthly basis prior to the implementation of the changes, but based on the new rules. In other words, instead of using actual historical data, we calculate the market capitalization of the free float of the larger or more liquid class of shares and use this information to determine the weighting of the firm in its current index under the new rules. These calculations illustrate the firm's situation had the new rules already been implemented. In contrast, the weightings used in the study subsequent to the change in rules are the actual weightings of Deutsche Boerse. In addition, we calculate the hypothetical index weight if the non-voting shares were converted into voting shares. The opportunity costs in terms of index weight of retaining the dual-class shares are then defined as the difference between the new hypothetical index weight and the actual weight. We refer to this difference as the index "Weight Penalty". In addition, we determine for each firm the quantile to which the firm belongs within its selection index. The quantile is based on the firm's rank or position within its index in terms of its index weighting. If the median monthly rank for a firm within a given year is in the 5% quantile, we consider it to be in danger of dropping out of its index during that year. If its median rank for a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>In a robustness check, we extend the main sample to include all dual-class CDAX companies.

year is in the 95% quantile, we consider that the firm has the chance to move up one index during that year.

Data on ownership and control as well as the numbers of voting and non-voting shares outstanding are collected from the Hoppenstedt annual stock guides.<sup>12</sup> We determine ultimate control following the procedure used by Da Silva et al. (2004) and Goergen et al. (2005). Their definition of a controlling shareholder is the largest shareholder with a stake of at least 25% of the voting rights. If there is no shareholder holding at least 25% of the votes, the company is considered to be widely held. This procedure accounts for control that is held indirectly via chains of control or pyramids of ownership. The ultimate controlling shareholder is situated at the first tier if it is a bank, insurance company, the German state, a foreign investor, or a family/individual. In all other cases, the ultimate controlling shareholder is said to be at a higher tier and this tier is reached once the tier above does not include any controlling shareholder or the controlling shareholder at that tier is a widely held bank or insurance company, the German state, a foreign investor, or a family/individual. In order to determine the control of intermediate companies that are not listed on a stock exchange, we consult Commerzbank's "Wer gehoert zu wem" handbooks. As in Dittmann and Ulbricht (2007), we calculate the hypothetical loss of the controlling shareholder's voting power if the non-voting shares were to be converted into voting shares. It is defined as the difference between the percentage of voting shares and the percentage of non-voting shares held by the controlling shareholder, multiplied by the proportion of non-voting shares. All remaining data are collected from Thomson Financial. Table 2.2 reports the definitions of all the variables used in this study.

Panel A of Table 2.3 reports the percentage of firm-year observations where the (ultimate) largest shareholder's stake exceeds the 25% voting threshold adopted by this study. For the sake of comparison, we also report the equivalent percentage for the higher threshold of 50%. Panel B reports the summary statistics for the voting rights, the cash flow rights, the hypothesized vote loss of the largest shareholder, the hypothesized weight penalty, total assets and the tangibility (defined as net property, plant & equipment divided by the firm's total assets).

Panel A suggests that control, as measured by the voting rights of the controlling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>For the few cases where the information on the numbers of preference and ordinary shares outstanding is not clear, we contact the firm's investor relations department.

Table 2.2: Definition o	t the	Variables
-------------------------	-------	-----------

Variable	Definition
Conversion	Dummy variable that is set to one for the year in which the firm decides to unify its shares, and zero otherwise. Observations for the years after the year of the conversion are excluded from the regression analysis.
Vote Loss	The difference between the percentage of voting shares and non-voting shares held by the controlling shareholder, multiplied by the proportion of non-voting shares.
Weight Penalty	The amount of index weight foregone by retaining the dual-class share structure. It is defined as the difference between the hypothetical index weight in percent if the non-voting shares were converted into voting shares and the actual weight in percent. This difference is calculated on a monthly basis. Weight penalty is measured as the median value of these differences over the 12 months in the preceding calendar year.
Danger	Dummy variable that is set to one if the median of the firm's quantile rank in its index in the year before the unification is in the 5% quantile, and zero otherwise. This dummy measures the potential for the firm to drop by one index.
Chance	Dummy variable that is set to one if the median of the firm's quantile rank in its index in the year before the unification takes is in the 95% quantile, and zero otherwise. This dummy measures the potential for the firm to move up one index.
Firm Size	Natural logarithm of total assets
Tangibility	Net property, plant & equipment divided by the firm's total assets in (t-1).
Financial Investor	Dummy variable that is set to one if the largest shareholder holding more than 25% of the votes is a financial institution (i.e. bank or insurance company).

#### Table 2.3: Descriptive Statistics

Panel A. Percentage and Number of Firm-Year Observations where the Largest Shareholder Holds at least 25% and 50% of the Votes, Respectively

Minimum Stake Held by Largest Shareholder	%		#
25%	88.2		202
50%	71.6		164
Panel B. Summary Statistics			
Variable	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.
Voting Rights of Largest Shareholder [%]	64.7	65.6	28.6
Cash Flow Rights of Largest Shareholder [%]	40.5	41.8	20.5
Vote Loss [%]	22.3	23.2	16.1
Weight Penalty [%]	0.33	0.12	0.57
Financial Investor [%]	6.55		
Total Assets (Mio. Euro)	31300	1500	102000

Notes: The variables are defined as in Table 2.2. The table is based on the 229 firm-year observations for all the 54 dual-class firms that are part of a selection index. Panel A reports the percentage and number of firm-year observations where the largest shareholder holds at least 25% and 50% of the votes, respectively. Panel B reports descriptive statistics for the variables used in the regression analysis.

shareholder, is highly concentrated: for 87.9% of all the firm-year observations control exceeds 25% of the votes and for 71.4% control exceeds 50% of the votes. Existing studies also document a high concentration of control in listed German companies. For example, Becht and Boehmer (2003) find that more than 82% of firms have a large shareholder holding at least 25% of the votes for their sample of 372 companies in 1996. Likewise, for a sample of 171 companies in 1990 Franks and Mayer (2001) report that 85.4% of firms have a single large shareholder with more than 25% of the votes and 57.3% of firms have a majority shareholder.

Panel B suggests that, while the largest shareholder owns roughly 65% of the votes, he only owns 41% of the cash flow rights. On average, the hypothesized vote loss is 22% and the weight penalty amounts to 0.33%. Before we proceed with the discussion of the reasons that may lead firms to unify their shares, we explore the stock market reaction to the change in rules.

### 2.5 Event Study

This section explores whether there are wealth effects associated with the regulatory change. The reasons for doing this are twofold. First, we aim to assess whether the announcement of the new rules exerted pressure on dual-class firms to unify their shares. This would be the case if there is a positive market reaction surrounding *the announcement of the new rules*. Second, we aim to assess whether investors react positively to *the announcements of actual dual-class stock unifications*, attributing value to these unifications.

To this effect we run two distinct event studies. The two event studies are based on market model regressions. The estimation window for the parameters underlying the model is the 250 trading days ending 21 trading days prior to the announcement. The event windows used in this study include [-20, 20], [20, 0], [0, 20], [-1, 1] and [0, 0]. We use the CDAX, which comprises all German companies listed on the Prime and General Standard segments of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, as a proxy for the market portfolio. Using the CDAX rather than one of the selection indices deals with the issue that the various selection indices may have been affected by the regulatory change and/or the actual conversions. The dates for the announcements of the actual conversions are gathered from the website of the German Association for Ad-Hoc Announcements ("Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ad-hoc-Publizität" (DGAP), www.dgap.de), company websites and newspaper articles.

For the event study on the regulatory changes<sup>13</sup> (Panel A of Table 2.4), we use the modified version of Boehmer et al.'s (1991) test statistic, as proposed by Kolari and Pynnoenen (2010), to assess the significance of the announcement returns. This test specifically adjusts for the clustering of the observations - the announcement date of the new rules is the same for all the firms - by accounting for cross-sectional correlation of the abnormal returns in the estimation window. For the event study on the actual conversions (Panel B of Table 2.4), we evaluate the significance of the announcement returns based on Boehmer et al.'s (1991) standardized cross-sectional t-statistic, which compared to the test by Patell (1976), also accounts for event-induced variance. In line with prior work we separately report the announcement returns for the sample firms' voting and non-voting shares.

Panel A of Table 2.4 presents the cumulative average abnormal returns (CAARs) for all the firms with dual-class stocks that were included in a selection index around the time of the announcement of the regulatory change, i.e. August 9, 2000. The CAARs in Panel A are those for the 30 dual-class firms with listed non-voting shares and the 15 dual-class firms with listed voting shares included in the index.<sup>1415</sup> We start by analyzing the CAARs for the actually listed share category. There is no market reaction on the event day as evidenced by the insignificant AAR of 0.44%. However, when the event window is extended to include the 20 days preceding the announcement of the change to the rules, the CAAR increases to 4.15% and becomes significant at the 10% level. When the event window is further extended to cover the 20 days following the announcement day, the CAAR increases to 5.35% and is significant at the 5% level. Panel A also suggests that the positive announcement effect is mainly due to the non-voting shares. Indeed, the CAAR over the entire 41-day window amounts to 5.67% and is significant at the 5% level for the non-voting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The announcement concerning the downsizing of the SDAX was made in August 2001, i.e. one year later than the regulatory changes. Hence, our event study is not contaminated by this downsizing. <sup>14</sup>This is a snapshot of all dual-class firms included in a selection index in August 2000. As a result,

the sample size differs from the one described on p.47 that covers the whole observation period. <sup>15</sup>We lose three observations. We decided to exclude these firms due to possible confounding events. One firm was founded in 2000 and could therefore not be included. Another one changed its legal status in August 2000, at the same time as the announcement of the regulatory change. A third firm had a stock split in July 2000.

Panel A. Cumulative	Average Abnormal Ret	urns at the Announcement of the	Regulatory Change in August 2000
CAARs for the Actua	ally Listed Share Catego	pry	
Event Window	CAAR	Positive : Negative	Adj. BMP T-Statistic
[-20, 20]	5.35%	29:16	1.997**
[-20, 0]	4.15%	29:16	1.671*
[0, 20]	1.63%	27:18	1.301
[-1, 1]	1.06%	26:19	1.188
[0, 0]	0.44%	25:20	0.931
CAARs for Non-Voti	ing Shares		
Event Window	CAAR	Positive : Negative	Adj. BMP T-Statistic
[-20, 20]	5.67%	29:12	2.284**
[-20, 0]	4.50%	27:14	1.975**
[0, 20]	1.78%	23:18	1.346
[-1, 1]	0.87%	23:18	0.866
[0, 0]	0.62%	26:15	1.223
CAARs for Voting St	hares		
Event Window	CAAR	Positive : Negative	Adj. BMP T-Statistic
[-20, 20]	3.74%	18:14	1.701*
[-20, 0]	3.37%	21:11	1.640*
[0, 20]	0.51%	16:16	0.686
[-1, 1]	1.28%	19:13	1.635
[0, 0]	0.14%	18:14	0.321

Table 2.4: Event Study Results

Panel B. Cumulative Average Abnormal Returns at the Announcement of a Stock Unification between 2000 and 2008

CAARs for Non-Vote	ing Shares				
Event Window	CAAR	Positive : Negative	BMP T-Statistic		
[-20, 20]	7.35%	13:4	3.126***		
[-20, 0]	8.61%	13:4	3.952***		
[0, 20]	3.40%	10:7	1.514		
[-1, 1]	5.29%	12:5	2.770***		
[0, 0]	4.66%	12:5	2.127**		
CAARs for Voting S	hares				
Event Window	CAAR	Positive : Negative	BMP T-Statistic		
[-20, 20]	0.47%	7:10	0.346		
[-20, 0]	2.69%	9:8	0.757		
[0, 20]	-1.18%	7:10	-0.543		
[-1, 1]	1.88%	10:7	1.016		
[0, 0]	1.04%	8:9	0.264		

Notes: This table presents cumulative average abnormal returns (CAARs) around the announcement day for actual stock unifications as well as around the announcement day of the change in rules. CAARs are reported for four distinct event windows: [-20, 20], [-20, 0], [0, 20], [-1, 1] and [0, 0]. Panel A presents CAARs around the announcement of the regulatory change. The t-statistic is the modified version of Boehmer et al.'s test proposed by Kolari and Pynnoenen (2010) (Adj. BMP t-statistic). Note that not each stock class is traded. Hence, when we extend the analysis to both classes of dual-class firms, the number of observations for non-voting and voting shares is different. Panel B reports the CAARs for stock unifications between 2000 and 2008. The relevant test statistic is the one proposed by Boehmer et al. (1991) (BMP t-statistic). \*\*\*, \*\* and \* denote statistical significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% level, respectively.

shares compared to 3.74% and significance at the 10% level only for the voting shares. Panel B of Table 2.4 reports the announcement returns around the actual conversion announcements. We find significantly positive announcement returns for the nonvoting shares ranging from 4.7% on the announcement date to 8.6% over the [-20, 0] window. Previous work on Germany by Dittmann and Ulbricht (2007) also documents sizeable wealth effects generated by the conversion of non-voting shares. They justify the observed increases in shareholder value by the improved corporate governance and enhanced liquidity of the stock. We do not observe significant abnormal returns for the voting shares, whatever the event window. This suggests that the wealth effects of stock unifications accrue exclusively to the holders of the non-voting shares. These results are also in line with those of Dittmann and Ulbricht (2007) who do not find significant abnormal returns for the voting shares.

To conclude, two important findings emerge from this section. First, the market responds positively to the regulatory change announced by Deutsche Boerse. In the days surrounding the announcement of the change, we observe significantly positive market reactions for our sample firms. We interpret this as a sign that the market perceives that the regulatory change increases the likelihood of firms converting their shares and that in turn this puts firms under pressure to consider unification. Second and in line with previous work, we find significantly positive market reactions around actual stock unifications. Third and similar to Dittmann and Ulbricht (2007), we only find significant abnormal returns for the non-voting shares, but not for the voting shares.

## 2.6 Motives for the Unification of Dual-Class Shares

This section develops a set of hypotheses on the motives for the unification of dualclass shares. The new index weighting rules for the German selection indices, which were announced by Deutsche Boerse in August 2000 and became effective in June 2002, forced firms and their large shareholders alike to reassess the benefits from their dual-class structure by weighing them against the foregone index weight associated with having dual-class stock. This leads us to our first hypothesis.

H1(Weight Penalty): The higher the penalty in terms of foregone index weight, the more likely a firm will abolish its dual-class share structure.

As evidenced in Section 2.5 by the positive announcement effect, the unification of dual-class stock will likely increase firm value. This suggests that shareholders of German firms prefer single-class stock over dual-class stock. However, self-interested, large shareholders of dual-class firms may enforce the status quo at the expense of the minority shareholders in order to safeguard their private benefits of control. The theoretical literature (see e.g. Grossman and Hart, 1988) as well as the empirical literature (see e.g. Adams and Ferreira, 2008) suggest that the expropriation of minority shareholders is more likely for firms with a large shareholder that holds more voting rights than cash flow rights. The dual-class structure allows the large shareholder to retain a controlling position in the firm without having to own the equivalent stake in cash-flow rights. The unification of the voting and non-voting shares would then typically cause the large shareholder to experience a substantial loss of voting power. This discussion leads us to the following hypothesis.

H2(Voting Loss): The larger the loss of voting power suffered by the large shareholder the greater is the loss of private benefits of control and hence the lower is the likelihood of a dual-class unification.

As to the weight penalty, a special case arises when firms are in danger of dropping out of their index. In this case, a conversion might enable the firm to retain its index membership. Further, the heaviest-weighted firms within an index may move up one index by converting their shares.<sup>1617</sup> This leads to the following two hypotheses.

H3a(Danger): Firms in danger of dropping from their index are likely to abolish their dual-class shares.

H3b(Chance): Firms with a chance to move up one index are likely to abolish their dual-class shares.

 $<sup>^{16}{\</sup>rm Firms}$  located at the upper end of the DAX index are not considered as potential move-up candidates in case they are already included in the Euro Stoxx 50.

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$  We classify firms as being in danger to drop out of (have the chance to move up) an index in 7.4% (2.6%) of the sample observations.

### 2.7 Empirical Analysis

To test our hypotheses that firms reassess the costs and benefits of having more than one class of shares, we run a series of pooled cross-sectional logistic regressions:

$$F(x\beta) = P(y = 1 \mid x) = \frac{exp(\beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + X\beta)}{1 + exp(\beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + X\beta)}$$
(2.1)

where y is a binary variable that takes the value 1 if the company unifies its share classes, and 0 otherwise. Our variables of interest are  $x_1$ , the "Voting Loss" and  $x_2$ , the "Weight Penalty". "Voting Loss" refers to the hypothetical loss of the controlling shareholder's voting power if the non-voting shares were converted into voting shares and "Weight Penalty" is the reduction in index weight that is associated with retaining a dual-class structure. The vector X contains the constant term and further explanatory variables.

We use five different variations or specifications of the above equation. Specification (1) is the base specification as above. In addition, specification (2) includes the interaction between "Voting Loss" and "Weight Penalty". Financial investors, i.e. banks and insurance companies, may have fewer incentives to extract private benefits of control and hence may increase the likelihood of unification (Maury and Pajuste, 2011). Therefore, specification (3) also includes the Financial Investor dummy variable (see below for further details). Specifications (4) and (5) include two further dummy variables, "Danger" and "Chance", that characterize a firm's relative position in its index. While "Danger" indicates cases where a firm is in danger of dropping from its current index due to its low relative rank, "Chance" indicates situations where a firm is at the high end of the index and thus has a chance to move up to the next highest index. Hypotheses 3a and 3b suggest that both situations may be a driving factor behind the decision to unify.

Moving onto the control variables, Maury and Pajuste (2011) argue that, because dual-class shares typically trade at a discount and thereby increase the cost of raising equity (Dyck and Zingales, 2004), a larger need for external capital is an important factor in explaining the decision of firms to abolish their dual-class structure. Firms with more tangible assets may be able to attract more external financing as tangible assets are easier to value, and hence ideal collateral reducing the expected costs of financial distress (Almeida and Campello, 2007). Therefore, we add the tangibility of

Variable	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Vote Loss	-0.005 [-3.95***]	-0.006 $[-4.12^{***}]$	-0.006 [-3.92***]	-0.006 [-3.80***]	-0.006 [-3.62***]
Weight Penalty	0.050 [2.57***]	0.066 [2.99**]	0.069 [3.29***]	[0.073] $[3.47^{***}]$	0.071 [3.32***]
Firm Size	-0.025 [-3.09***]	-0.025 [-3.04***]	-0.026 [-3.20***]	-0.029 [-3.42***]	-0.030 [-3.50***]
Tangibility	-0.201 [-2.31**]	-0.208 [-2.50**]	-0.228 [-2.93***]	-0.210 [-2.60***]	-0.207 [-2.75***]
Financial Investor			0.057 [1.95*]	0.039 [1.11]	0.040 [1.12]
Danger				0.100 [2.96***]	0.102 [3.05***]
Chance					0.034 [0.30]
Vote Loss * Weight Penalty		-0.006 [-1.70*]	-0.006 [-1.75*]	-0.006 [-1.65*]	-0.006 [-1.58]
Pseudo R-Squared	0.1931	0.2009	0.2078	0.2435	0.2448

#### Table 2.5: Logit Estimates

Notes: This table presents the results on the determinants of the probability to adopt a single-class share structure. We estimate the relationship for firms that are in a selection index. The sample comprises 229 firm-year observations with 54 dual-class firms of which 19 firms decide to unify over the period 2000-2008. Firms are excluded from the sample after unification. The regressors are lagged by one period. We report average marginal effects (AME). The interaction effect Vote Loss\*Weight Penalty is defined as the change in the predicted probability of unification for a change in both the loss of voting rights and the foregone index weight. The definitions of the variables are provided in Table 2.1. Z-statistics are based on cluster-robust standard errors and appear in brackets below the slope estimates. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* denotes statistical significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% level, respectively.

assets to proxy for the fact that firms with a high tangibility are less dependent on the equity market. We also add firm size to all five specifications, measured as the natural logarithm of total assets. Table 2.5 presents the results.<sup>18</sup> The findings show that the reduction in index weight associated with retaining the dual-class structure is indeed a determinant of the firm's decision to convert its shares. "Weight Penalty" is positive and highly significant in all five specifications. This evidence is highly supportive of our main hypothesis, Hypothesis 1.<sup>19</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Companies not yet included in a selection index might have the "Chance" to move up to a selection index by converting their shares. To consider this possibility and to avoid sample selection issues, we repeat the analysis with all dual-class firms in Deutsche Boerse's CDAX segment. For CDAX-only firms, we set "Chance" to 1 in case the firm has the potential to move up and also fulfills all of Deutsche Boerse's requirements to be part of a selection index. We set "Weight Penalty" to zero for CDAX-only companies as they are of no relevance to index tracking funds. The main results do not change substantially (reported in the Appendix).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>It would be desirable to control for firm fixed effects in our framework. Unfortunately, this is not feasible due to several reasons. Simply including firm fixed effects in the estimation equation

Further, the loss of voting rights incurred by the ultimate controlling shareholder has a significantly negative impact on the likelihood to convert. The effect is significant at the 1% level in all five specifications, providing strong support for Hypothesis 2. This suggests that the large shareholder is less likely to agree to convert his firm's non-voting shares if he has more private benefits to lose.

Further, the effect of asset tangibility is significant, at the 5% level or better, suggesting that less equity dependence decreases the likelihood of the firm converting its non-voting stock. Hence, similar to prior studies (see Maury and Pajuste, 2011, and Dittmann and Ulbricht, 2007), we find that the large shareholder's desire to safeguard his private benefits of control and equity dependence in terms of financing are important explanatory variables of the decision to convert. In addition, we document that firms with large financial investors are more likely to unify their shares (significant at the 10% level in specification (3)). This finding is in line with that of Maury and Pajuste (2011).

We also find strong support for Hypothesis 3a. "Danger" is significant at the 1% level, indicating that a conversion is a measure of last resort to safeguard index membership for firms in danger of dropping out. On the contrary, we find no support for Hypothesis 3b that the chance to move up one index has a significant impact on the likelihood of conversion. These results are in line with anecdotal evidence, which suggests that a drop in the relative position within the index as well as the exclusion from the index are major concerns for companies whereas moving up one index is not a matter for consideration.

So far, our analysis has shown that the foregone gain in index weight has a positive

would lead to inconsistent and biased unconditional maximum likelihood estimates of not only the fixed effects but also of the common parameters (so-called incidental parameter problem). For a fixed number of time periods (T), the estimators of the fixed effects will be inconsistent if the number of firms increases. Due to the fact that the estimators of the common parameters depend on the estimates of the fixed effects, the inconsistency directly translates to the estimates of the common parameters. Furthermore, e.g. Greene [2004] documents substantial biases in the parameter estimates if the number of time periods is small. For T=2, analytical evidence shows that the bias amounts to 100 percent. The size of the bias decreases by increasing the number of time periods, but still amounts to roughly 20 percent for T=8 in Greene's simulations. As pointed out by Dittmann and Ulbricht (2007), an extension of the periods of study would not solve the problem as firms will drop out of the sample after unification. Alternatively, conditioning out firm fixed effects by using a conditional logit approach would also cause severe problems as firms without variation in the dependent variable are excluded. This would lead to a significantly reduced number of observations.

impact on the likelihood of a conversion whereas the voting loss for the large shareholder has a negative impact on that likelihood. We now turn our attention to the trade-off the large shareholder faces between the main benefit from converting the non-voting shares, i.e. maintaining the firm's position within the index, and keeping control.

Our specifications (2) to (5) include the interaction between "Vote Loss" and "Weight Penalty":

$$F(x\beta) = P(y=1 \mid x) = \frac{exp(\beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_{12} x_1 x_2 + X\beta)}{1 + exp(\beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_{12} x_1 x_2 + X\beta)}$$
(2.2)

The inclusion of this interaction allows us to explore whether the effect of the weight penalty varies in line with the vote loss (and vice versa). Since the interaction effect in non-linear models cannot be easily evaluated on the basis of the sign, magnitude, or statistical significance of the coefficient on the interaction term, we take the cross-partial derivative of the expected probability of conversion (Norton et al., 2004):

$$\frac{\partial P(y=1 \mid x)}{\partial x_1 \partial x_2} = \beta_{12} (F(x\beta)(1-F(x\beta))) + (\beta_1 + \beta_{12}x_2)(\beta_2 + \beta_{12}x_1)(F(x\beta)(1-F(x\beta))(1-2F(x\beta)))$$
(2.3)

The statistical significance is also based on the entire cross derivative. We then report the mean interaction effect and its significance. The interaction effect is negative and significant at the 10% level in three of the four specifications that include the term, i.e. specifications (2), (3) and (4). Taking into account the small sample size, a significance at the level of 10% seems to be relatively high. Additionally, McClelland and Judd (1993), among others, point out that interactions tend to be difficult to find in non-experimental data and that the power to detect these effects is usually lower than detecting main effects. This leads us to accept a significance level of 10%. We illustrate the trade-off between converting the non-voting shares to maintain or strengthen the index weight and keeping control by using a plot of predicted conditional probabilities of conversion for different levels of voting loss. We distinguish between high, intermediate and low levels of weight penalty (see Figure 2.1). High levels of weight penalty are defined as those in the 75% percentile, intermediate ones as those in the 50% percentile and low ones as those in the 25% percentile. The difference between the probabilities of conversion for firms with a high weight penalty and those with a low weight penalty is positive, i.e., the marginal effect of the weight penalty is positive. However, this difference decreases as the vote loss increases, reflecting the negative interaction effect. Hence, the impact of the weight penalty on the probability of conversion becomes smaller as the loss of voting rights becomes greater. Figure 2.1 suggests that the larger the voting loss of the

Figure 2.1: Conditional Predicted Probabilities of Conversion Based on Different Hypothetical Weight Penalties



Notes: This figure depicts the decrease in the probability of conversion, based on different hypothetical weight penalties (75% quantile, 50% quantile and 25% quantile), brought about by different levels of vote loss (x-axis).

controlling shareholder the greater are his private benefits of control and the less he is concerned by the costs from the reduction in the firm's index weight. In contrast, controlling shareholders who experience only a small loss of voting power are more willing to convert rather than to forfeit index weight.

Another way of interpreting the difference between the curves is that it represents the large shareholder's sensitivity towards loss of index weight: Figure 2.1 then indicates that this sensitivity decreases with increasing voting loss. Put differently, if the large

shareholder loses a substantial fraction of the votes (bottom right corner of the graph), he does not care much about the index weight gain from conversion. Conversion is just too costly in terms of the private benefits that are foregone. Bearing in mind the difference in slopes between the three curves, for firms whose index weight penalty is more pronounced the probability of conversion decreases faster with increases in the percentage of voting loss by the large shareholder compared to firms with a comparatively small weight penalty. This pattern is in line with what one expects in the presence of a trade-off faced by the large shareholder between diluting control and tolerating a reduction in index weight.

Figure 2.2 complements Figure 2.1. Whereas Figure 2.1 depicts the probability

Figure 2.2: Conditional Predicted Probabilities of Conversion Based on Different Levels of Vote Loss



Notes: This figure depicts the decrease in the probability of conversion, based on different levels of vote loss (75% quantile, 50% quantile and 25% quantile), brought about by different levels of weight penalty (x-axis).

of conversion relative to different levels of vote loss (x-axis), Figure 2.2 shows the probability of conversion relative to different levels of weight penalty. The three curves in Figure 2.2 refer to the 25% quantile, the 50% quantile and the 75% quantile,
respectively.

The difference between the probabilities of conversion for firms with a low and high vote loss is negative, i.e., the marginal effect of vote loss is negative. Contrary to Figure 2.1 the curve representing the 75% quantile (of the vote loss) is now the lowest, rather than the highest, of all three curves. The difference between the curves further increases if we increase the weight penalty. This is the case because the probability of conversion increases faster for firms with a small vote loss as the weight penalty increases compared to firms with a high vote loss, i.e., each increase in the index weight penalty has less of an impact the higher the vote loss that accompanies the weight penalty.

In summary, we document that the index weight significantly affects the controlling shareholder's motivation to unify the non-voting and voting stock. However, this motivation also depends on the level of vote loss the controlling shareholder would experience if he agreed to a stock unification.

### 2.8 Conclusion

In summer 2000, Deutsche Boerse changed the rules on how firms are selected for membership of its selection indices. First, only the most liquid or largest share class now forms the basis for selection into an index. Second, only the free float of that class is taken into account when determining index membership. As a consequence of the new rules firms with dual-class stock faced the danger of losing large amounts of index weight. Within this context, this study examines the probability of dual-class stock unifications. There is evidence that firms were under pressure to unify their dual-class stock. Indeed, both the announcements of actual unifications as well as the announcement of the new rules generated significant abnormal returns.

We find that both the desire to safeguard or strengthen index weight and the danger of losing index membership have a significant impact on the probability of a dual-class stock unification. Similar to studies on dual-class stock unifications before the change in rules, we observe that firms are less likely to abolish their dual-class shares if they are less reliant on equity financing. We also find that the existence of private benefits of control makes it less likely for firms to unify their shares.

More generally, our findings suggest that the large shareholder faces a trade-off

between safeguarding the existing private benefits of control and the costs associated with an index weight loss when deciding on a conversion. The greater the private benefits, the less likely there will be a conversion. In other words, forfeiting index weight may be the lesser of two evils if the alternative is losing control.

### Appendix to Chapter 2

Variable	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Vote Loss	-0.002 [-2.11**]	-0.002 [-2.53**]	-0.002 [-2.36**]	-0.002 [-2.30**]	-0.002 [-2.27**]
Weight Penalty	0.056 [2.85***]	0.070 [3.18***]	0.071 [3.49***]	0.072 $[3.58^{***}]$	0.071 $[3.52^{***}]$
Firm Size	-0.003 [-0.71]	-0.005 [-1.08]	-0.006 [-1.42]	-0.009 [-1.77*]	-0.009 [-1.84*]
Tangibility	-0.070 [-1.52]	-0.075 [-1.75*]	-0.096 [-2.17**]	-0.087 [-2.00**]	-0.086 [-2.01**]
Financial Investor			0.073 $[3.10^{***}]$	0.061 [2.21**]	0.061 [2.22**]
Danger				0.076 [2.92***]	0.077 [2.99***]
Chance					[0.021][0.34]
Vote Loss * Weight Penalty		-0.005 [-1.75*]	-0.005 [-1.73*]	-0.005 [-1.66*]	-0.005 [-1.61]
Pseudo R-Squared	0.1174	0.1331	0.1567	0.1883	0.1892

### Table 2.6: Logit Estimates for Dual-Class CDAX Companies

Notes: This table presents the results on the determinants of the probability to adopt a single-class share structure. We estimate the relationship for firms that are included in the CDAX index. The sample comprises 496 firm-year observations with 85 dual-class firms of which 25 firms decide to unify over the period 2000-2008. Firms are excluded from the sample after unification. The regressors are lagged by one period. We report average marginal effects (AME). The interaction effect Vote Loss\*Weight Penalty is defined as the change in the predicted probability of unification for a change in both the loss of voting rights and the foregone index weight. The definitions of the variables are provided in Table 2.1. Z-statistics are based on cluster-robust standard errors and appear in brackets below the slope estimates. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* denotes statistical significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% level, respectively.

## Is Busy Really Busy? Board Governance Revisited

### 3.1 Introduction

A growing literature on board characteristics investigates the question of whether directors with multiple board appointments are too busy to perform their monitoring duties (Ferris et al., 2003; Fich and Shivdasani, 2006). The "busyness hypothesis" associates firms that have busy directors with weak corporate governance, the assumption being that directors who serve on a large number of boards may become overcommitted and unable to adequately comply with the requirements of their position as monitors of management. Fich and Shivdasani (2006) confirm this assertion and show that firms with busier boards exhibit significantly lower market-to-book ratios. In contrast, Ferris et al. (2003) find no evidence of a relationship between the number of board appointments and firm performance.

In this study, we revisit the association between board busyness and firm governance. We contend that prior approaches that have largely been based on the number of board seats ignore central aspects that characterize how busy a director actually is, because the concept of "busyness" in itself has more than one dimension. Specifically, we suggest that a crucial point in determining a director's busyness is how "embedded" (Granovetter, 1985, 1992) a particular director is within his social network, i.e., the "extent to which [a director's] economic action is embedded in structures of social relations" (Granovetter, 1985, p.481). We argue that rather than solely relying on counting a director's board seats or connections to other directors, a more adequate way of capturing busyness should incorporate a detailed characterization of the director's social network, including an analysis of individual ties as well as the overall

#### 3.1 INTRODUCTION

architecture of the network. Put differently, we propose that an appropriate analysis of busyness should focus not only on the number of board seats and a director's immediate connections to other directors within his social network, but also on the connections among the directors that he is connected to. In particular, we suggest that because closed network structures facilitate the enforcement of social norms (Coleman, 1988), they can affect board busyness by exacerbating the social obligations that arise within a network.

Consider, for example, two of the directors in our sample, Mr. Schulte-Noelle, who held only four board appointments in 2006, and Michael Busch, director at Washtec AG (a producer of vehicle washing equipment), who served on seven boards in the same year. Based on the number of board appointments, Mr. Busch is busier. Mr. Schulte-Noelle, however, is chairman of Allianz AG and a director at Siemens AG, ThyssenKrupp AG, and E.ON AG, some of the most important German companies with connections to politics, media, and sports. Being among the best-connected of directors, and sitting at the heart of an "inner circle" of organizational elites (Useem, 1984), he is more likely than Mr. Busch to be overcommitted, not so much because of the (direct) duties associated with his directorships, but owing to the indirect obligations that stem from his central position in the network.

Our basic argument is that maintaining a large social network and adhering to its demands can take substantial temporal and cognitive resources and render intenselyconnected directors exceedingly busy. As a result, a director with a demanding social network may be limited in his ability to act as an efficient monitor.

To explore the above hypothesis, we build on notions and methods derived from social capital theory and social network analysis that aid us in characterizing a director's social network with respect to his busyness. The variables that we use attempt to capture both how much time the network demands and the cognitive resources that it requires, but they may also be interpreted to proxy for the degree to which a director's network comes with time- and attention-consuming social obligations. For example, a director's formal ties to other directors often reflect informal ties (Hwang and Kim, 2009), e.g., joint memberships in golf clubs or a charitable organization. In addition, being a well-connected director is likely also associated with connections to important agents outside the boardroom, e.g., in politics, media, sports etc. Arguably, a director who has to spend considerable time catering to such social demands has

less time for his monitoring duties.

A caveat is in order at this point. Previous literature has documented that social networks can be beneficial to the partaking agents (e.g., Cohen et al., 2010; Horton et al., 2012). They may, for example, endow a director with privileged and timely access to information or more generally increase his social capital (Adler and Kwon, 2000). If these advantages enable a director to better fulfill his duties, intense social networks may benefit a firm's performance. However, it is not evident that similar advantages should accrue to directors through the network of board directorships, particularly in the context of a two-tier system such as Germany. Adams and Ferreira (2007, p.235) argue that a "dual board structure allows for the cleanest separation of the board's two roles", i.e., advising and monitoring. Therefore, it is unclear whether information that passes through the network of directors<sup>1</sup> is equally useful to directors whose primary role is to monitor management (as stipulated in article 111 of the German stock corporation act). We thus suggest that in a social network that simultaneously affects director busyness and endows them with informational advantages, the busyness effect should dominate.

To empirically investigate the impact of busyness on firm governance, we collect data on the social network of all members of the supervisory boards of all German publicly traded firms included in the DAX, MDAX, and SDAX indices (excluding financials) over four consecutive years (2003 to 2006). Each year, we map the connections among all of the sample firms' directors. Our dataset comprises roughly 1,600 directors and about 35,000 connections per year. We then calculate different measures to capture individual directors' busyness and aggregate them on the board-level. To this end, we exploit the fact that publicly traded firms in Germany are required to disclose all directorships held by members of their supervisory boards in other (for-profit) firms. This allows us to extend our mapping of connections among the sample's directors to connections outside the universe of sample firms. Finally, we explore in a multivariate panel framework whether firms with busy boards exhibit weaker firm governance.

Using fixed-effects panel regressions we find that firms with strongly connected supervisory boards tend to have significantly lower values of Tobin's Q. In addition, we document that the average remuneration of executives in firms with strongly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For the ease of notation, the terms director and member of the supervisory board will be used interchangeably throughout the study. Members of the executive board will be referred to as management or executives.

#### 3.1 INTRODUCTION

connected directors is significantly higher. As such, we interpret our findings as evidence for weaker governance and poorer monitoring in firms with directors who play an important role in the social network. Simple measures for busy directors that were used by other researchers in the past fail to show any significant patterns. Lastly, we test whether our findings suffer from reverse causality. However, we find no evidence that directors' embeddedness in the network changes in response to past performance.

Our results contribute to the literature along several lines. First, our study informs the debate on the effects of multiple board appointments, supporting Shivdasani and Yermack (1999), Core et al. (1999), and Fich and Shivdasani (2006), who find busy directors to be associated with less effective monitoring. Our results stand somewhat in contrast to previous studies that ascribe positive value to multiple board appointments. For example, Mace (1986) argues that board seats can serve as a signal of director quality. Brown and Maloney (1999) similarly use the number of board appointments as a proxy for reputational capital. Perry and Peyer (2005) argue that "sender" firms can benefit from additional directorships since their directors can learn about different management styles or strategies that are used in other firms.

Importantly, our findings have implications for the discussion of limiting the number of directorships: They indicate that merely putting a limit on the number of board appointments that directors are allowed to hold is insufficient at preventing directors from being overcommitted.<sup>2</sup>

Second, previous papers in this area are limited to the U.S., where (inside) firm governance is based on the one-tier system. In this environment, corporate boards consist of inside directors who run the firm, and outside directors who are not part of the management team of the company they govern. The literature therefore focuses on outside directors under the premise that inside directors do not monitor management (Fich and Shivdasani, 2006). However, in the one-tier setting management might have a preference to appoint directors from the same social circle to the board (Barnea and Guedj, 2009; Mace, 1986). As a consequence, network measures do not only capture

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>There is an ongoing debate about gender quotas on company boards. To the extent that the pool of qualified women available to fill posts is limited, the average female director may be embedded in a more intense social network than the average male director. All else equal, our results suggest then that a gender quota might adversely affect the board's ability to monitor by increasing the average board members' busyness.

how well connected an outside (i.e. monitoring) director is, but also how connected management is. This complicates the interpretation of a relationship between network variables and firm governance since members of the board might just be more "lenient" towards management because they reciprocate or position themselves for other board seats (Wade et al., 1990), and not because they are exceedingly busy. We use data from Germany, a country where governance structures are based on the two-tier system with an independent supervisory board. Most importantly, German law explicitly forbids executives from nominating candidates for the supervisory board.<sup>3</sup> This legal environment allows us to examine the effect of a director's position in the social network on firm governance independent from his interaction with executives. Third, we add to the growing literature that attempts to incorporate mathematical concepts of sociology (see Scott, 2000, for an overview) to assess the impact of network structures in finance. Horton et al. (2012) use methods of social network analysis to investigate whether the directors' social network provides valuable resources to the firm. They find that directors are rewarded for their connectedness and that the directors' connectedness is positively related to the firm's future performance. Barnea and Guedj (2009) generate measures that account for a director's importance in the social network and find that in firms with more connected directors, CEO remuneration is higher, and CEO turnover is less sensitive to firm performance. The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. The next section develops our central argument building on notions from social capital theory and social network

analysis. Section 3.3 focuses on the construction of the dataset and our network measures and presents descriptive statistics. Section 3.4 contains the multivariate panel data analysis. Section 3.5 concludes.

### **3.2** Social Networks and Busy Boards

Directors are linked to each other both directly, e.g., through boards that they jointly sit on, and indirectly, e.g., through common acquaintances. We argue that analyzing these connections allows for a characterization of a director's busyness, because maintaining connections to other directors and adhering to the associated obligations draw

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>According to paragraph 124(3) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), executives are not allowed to nominate members of the supervisory board. Monitoring the executive board it is the main responsibility of members of the supervisory board.

on a director's limited temporal and cognitive resources that monitoring management requires.

Multiple board assignments are associated with a large number of direct obligations, most notably attending a variety of board meetings, reading corporate reports, etc., thus rendering directors busy. However, a multitude of board seats likewise mirror being intensely connected to the network of interlocking directorships. These intense connections reflect the direct obligations from sitting on a number of boards, but they similarly reflect the indirect connections and the resulting obligations, for example joint memberships in golf clubs or a charitable organization (Hwang and Kim, 2009). In addition, they are often associated with connections to important agents outside the boardroom, e.g., in politics, media, or sports. We suggest that a director has to spend considerable time catering to such social demands. However, as time is limited, too many of these connections may force directors to selectively allocate time among their activities (Ferriani et al., 2009), thereby possibly neglecting their monitoring duties.

Further, intense network ties may expose directors to an abundance of information. Yet, as human cognitive capabilities are limited (Kahneman, 1973), an overexposure to information may lead to dysfunctionalities in information processing (for a general overview, see Eppler and Mengis, 2004), including the inability to identify relevant data (Schneider, 1987), shifts in attention to irrelevant issues, skipping a large amount of information, or a "greater tolerance of error" (Sparrow, 1999, p.144). Based on an analogous argument, a recent paper by Oldroyd and Morris (2012) theorizes that cognitive limitations restrict the value of network ties, because unmanaged, heavy amounts of information that come with intense network connections lead to information overload and thereby adversely affect an agent's performance. We hypothesize that a director's monitoring abilities are similarly affected if his network connections expose him to too much information. Moreover, we suggest that the intensity of contacts and information and the resulting busyness depend on both the amount and quality of network connections. For example, we argue that a director who is connected to a large number of further well-connected directors is busier than a director whose network connections have little further connections.

The network that we are basing our analysis on is characterized by a strong coreperiphery structure with dense, cohesive subgroups (see Figure 3.1). In such envi-

ronments, the quality of higher-order (triadic) relations among directors, i.e., the relations among the directors that a director is related to, are of particular importance. The literature on social capital (e.g., Coleman, 1988) has stressed the beneficial effects of network "closure", i.e., the existence of connections among a director's connections, because it enables the enforcement of social norms. For example, consider a triple of actors A, B, and C, where B and C have in common a connection to A. If B and C are not connected to each other, they have no means of imposing sanctions on A for deviating from any social norm. However, the formation of a link between B and C produces a so-called "closed" triad where all actors are connected to each other. In this situation, B and C can combine forces to collectively sanction A. Under the assumption that monitoring management constitutes a social norm, one might expect that directors devote more time to monitoring in the context of a relatively "closed" network. This might be reinforced by the fact that in a system with strongly embedded interactions, other directors will more likely receive knowledge of a director's failure to properly monitor (Raub and Weesie, 1990). Still, there are some arguments that closure may be a detriment to efficient monitoring. First, closed networks may restrict directors in their ability to freely allocate their resources among their monitoring duties. This is particularly likely to affect directors with a large number of connections in the network where additional restrictions should ceteris paribus have more intense effects.

Second, we suggest that a more important avenue by which closed networks can affect busyness is by exacerbating the social obligations that arise within the network. For example, take the case of directors B and C each hosting a societal event that director A is expected to attend. Given that A has attended B's event, also attending C's event may be more compulsive if B and C know each other than if they do not. Thus, by imposing more social obligations network closure may increase a director's busyness. We consider this effect to be detrimental for directors having a large number of connections. Additionally, members of the group "feel obligated to help others [...] [as] a societal norm prescribes socially responsible behaviour" (Cialdini and Trost, 1998, p.157). Applied to the supervisory board, members might feel obligated to take on tasks and to help each other if they are asked for advice. In this sense, network-related activities may turn into a time-consuming social liability.

Taken together, we suggest that being embedded in the social network of directors



Figure 3.1: Network of All Directors

Notes: This graphic shows connections between all directors of 133 German firms for the year 2003. The total number of directors is 1,654, the number of connections is 35,106.

limits a director's monitoring ability. On the one hand, maintaining intense network connections may overcommit directors by drawing on their time and cognitive resources. On the other hand, closed network structures restrict and limit a director in his ability to freely allocate his resources. The metrics that we employ attempt to grasp these different dimensions of being part of the network of directors.

### 3.3 Dataset and Network Measures

### 3.3.1 Sample Selection

The sample for this investigation is based on all companies that were part of the three largest German stock indices as of 31 December 2002. This results in 150 firms comprised of 30 DAX, 70 MDAX and 50 SDAX constituents.<sup>4</sup> We follow these firms over four years and arrive at a sample of 532 (non-financial) firm-year observations (including 133 firms).<sup>5</sup> Accounting data is obtained from Datastream and Hoppenstedt Aktienfuehrer<sup>6</sup>, information on the composition of the supervisory board is manually collected from the annual reports of the firms in our dataset. Panel A of Table 3.1 presents descriptive statistics of several firm characteristics.

### 3.3.2 Measurement of Multiple Directorships

According to section 125 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) publicly traded firms have to disclose all directorships that members of their supervisory board hold in other (for-profit) firms. We therefore count all directorships in public and non-public firms.<sup>7</sup> This information also allows us to detect all connections between directors in our sample that lie beyond the 133 firms. For example, though "FC Bayern Muenchen AG" is not a sample firm, four directors are connected through it in the sense that they all sit on its board.

As stated above, the German corporate board system is two-tiered. In this system, members of the supervisory board oversee the actions of the executive board, i.e. management. Among other duties, members of the supervisory board appoint and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The DAX (largest firms), MDAX (mid caps), and SDAX (small caps) are the three major indexes of Deutsche Boerse for firms from the classic sectors. These companies, being part of the Prime Standard segment, must fulfill the highest transparency requirements in the EU, e.g. they have to publish their reports on a quarterly basis both in German and English, apply international accounting standards (IFRS/IAS or US-GAAP), release a financial calendar, conduct at least one analyst conference per year and also have to publish their ad-hoc disclosures in English in addition to the German version.

 $<sup>^5\</sup>mathrm{The}$  number of firm-year observations is reduced due to insolvencies, squeeze-outs and missing data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The Hoppenstedt Aktienfuehrer is a yearly publication that provides detailed information (e.g., ownership structure, balance sheet information) on German listed firms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>If voluntarily reported, we exclude board appointments in non-profit organizations, trusts, and charitable organizations for reasons of data consistency.

dismiss executives, approve managements' decisions, and set their remuneration.<sup>8</sup> Depending on the number of staff, employees are allocated seats in the supervisory board by several codetermination laws. These codetermination laws apply to both public and private companies as soon as they reach a minimum of 500 employees. Simply put, firms with more than 500 but less than 2,000 staff have to allocate one-third, firms with more than 2,000 staff one-half of the supervisory board seats to employee representatives.<sup>9</sup> Employee representatives are often union members (and in the case of large firms often high rank union officials), but in general the staff can elect any employee to the supervisory board. In our sample, about 55% (25%) of the firms are subject to one-half (one-third) representation, 20% do not have employee representatives on their supervisory board. As a robustness test, we construct all network variables based on shareholder representatives only. Results are not tabulated as they are qualitatively and quantitatively similar.

Following Ferris et al. (2003) and the alternative methodology used by Fich and Shivdasani (2006) we construct three variables that classify boards as busy/not busy based on the number of board appointments held by members of the supervisory board. In line with these papers and consistent with prior work by Core et al. (1999) we consider directors busy if they hold three or more board appointments. Based on this definition, 52.44% (excluding employee representatives) and 33.07% (including employee representatives) of the directors are classified as busy. In Panel B of Table 3.1 we report data regarding the frequency of multiple board appointments for our sample.

The median board in our sample consists of 13 directors, seven of which are shareholder representatives and six are employee representatives. On average, directors hold 3.49 (excluding employee representatives) and 2.72 (including employee representatives) directorships. In line with Fich and Shivdasani (2006) we construct a dummy (0,1) variable that is set to one if 50% or more of the board's shareholder representatives are busy. According to this measure, about 47% of the firms are governed by "busy boards".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>See the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) for a comprehensive description of the rights and duties of the supervisory board.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>See Gorton and Schmid (2004) for a more detailed description of the system of codetermination and the legal background.

Panel A.			
Variable	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.
Market Value of Equity (Mio. Euro)	5,382	759	11,490
Book Value of Assets (Mio. Euro)	$35,\!602$	1,317	25,167
Leverage	0.66	0.68	0.18
Tobin's Q	1.48	1.16	1.03
Age (Years since Incorporation)	79.54	78.5	56.05
Listing Age (in Years)	29.74	13	36.76
Return on Assets	3.82%	3.07%	7.04%
Executive Remuneration (1,000 Euro)	$1,\!100.40$	820.8	970
Without Options (1,000 Euro)	1,009.40 765.5		817
Variable	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.
Board Size	13.58	13	6.06
Ordinary Board Members	7.78	7	2.51
Employee Representatives	5.8	6	4.71
Number of Directorships	3 49	3.17	17
Including Employee Representatives	2.72	2.4	1.1
meruaning Employee Representatives	2.12	<b>2</b> . 1	1.20
Percentage of Busy Directors	52.44		
Including Employee Depresentatives	00 0 <b>-</b>		
including Employee Representatives	33.07		
Percentage of Busy Boards	$33.07 \\ 46.78$		

Notes: This table contains descriptive statistics for 532 annual observations of 133 German firms for the period from 2003-2006. Leverage is defined as book value of total debt divided by book value of total assets. Tobin's Q is calculated as market value of equity at the end of the year plus book value of debt divided by the book value of assets at the end of the year. Executive remuneration is the average per-capita executive remuneration per year. Panel B provides data on 1,654 directors.

### 3.3.3 Social Network Measures

Any social network consists of several agents who are connected with each other through social relations such as direct contacts, group attachments, or meetings (Scott, 2000). The members of a network and their connections can be visualized as a structure of nodes and ties. In our analysis, nodes are the individual directors within the network, and ties are the relationships between these directors. Two directors are connected if they serve on the same supervisory board.

For each firm and each year in our sample, we collect data on all directors who serve on a firm's board.<sup>10</sup> This leads to a database with about 1,600 nodes and roughly 35,000 ties. We then build an annual social matrix, in which each director is represented by a column and a row. Whenever two directors i and j serve on the same board, the value of the intersection point, i.e. cell (i,j) is 1, otherwise it is 0. Since relationships are always bilateral (director i sits on the same board as director j, which implies that j must know i), this procedure results in a symmetric matrix, with the diagonal (the relation between i and i) being 0 by definition.

To capture how embedded a director is in the overall network, we use four different well-established measures. Our construction focuses on the overall architecture of a director's social network, i.e., we consider both pairwise (dyadic) relations to other directors as well as higher-order (triadic) relations.

The first measure, *Degree* centrality  $(C_D)$ , is based on the number of direct links (or contacts) incident on a *node* (i.e. director) and is defined as follows:

$$C_D(n_i) = d_i(n_i) = \sum_{j=1}^g x_{ij} = \sum_{j=1}^g x_{ji}$$
(3.1)

where g is the total number of directors or nodes  $n_i$ . The variable is further normalized by dividing (3.1) by the number of possible connections of director  $n_i$  with the other g-1 nodes in the network. Theoretically, this measure should be closest to the variable "busy board" as it only captures the number of connections. Degree centrality describes how active an agent is in the network. Even though this measure is very intuitive and comparatively easy to implement, its explanatory power is limited to the first level of the network. This means that two directors who have the same number of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Whenever a director leaves a board during a fiscal year, either due to end of tenure, dismissal, or death, we include both the old and the new director in the respective year's board.

direct connections will get assigned the same value  $C_D(n_i)$ , irrespective of how well connected their contacts are. The second measure, Eigenvalue centrality, addresses this issue.

Connectiveness or Eigenvector centrality  $(C_C)$ , has been developed by Bonacich (1972, 1987) and uses weighted scores that measure the "quality" of connections when assessing the centrality of an agent. This means that the extent to which a director is connected to other well-connected directors is captured by the Connectiveness measure. Whenever a director gets connected to another well-connected agent, this will not only boost his own centrality, but also the centrality of other directors who are connected to him. Formally, the individual centrality of each director is computed as follows:

$$C_C(n_i) = \frac{\sum\limits_{j=1}^{g} W_{ij} C_C(n_j)}{\lambda_{max}}$$
(3.2)

 $W_{ij}$  stands for the intersection of row *i* and column *j* in the social matrix discussed above. Bonacich (1972) shows that there exists a positive Eigenvalue  $\lambda$  for every Matrix *W* that results in a corresponding Eigenvector  $C_C$  that only consists of positive values or 0. This condition is met for the largest positive Eigenvalue. Like *Degree* centrality, *Eigenvector* centrality is normalized.

To proxy for the degree of triadic closure within a director's network, we calculate the local *Clustering Coefficient* (Watts and Strogatz, 1988). It measures how wellconnected or dense an actor's neighbourhood is and is defined as the probability that two randomly selected contacts of director A are also connected to each other. In other words, it is the ratio of the number of pairwise relations between director A's contacts to the maximal possible number of relations between them. For example, director A is connected to director B, C, and D and thus has three potential pairs in his neighbourhood (BC, CD, BD). If only one pair is connected, e.g. (BC), the *Clustering Coefficient* of director A is 1/3. The *Clustering Coefficient* can range from zero (neither of A's contacts is connected) to one (all of A's contacts are connected). Therefore, a larger *Clustering Coefficient* implies a higher degree of triadic closure within a director's neighbourhood.

As a last measure we apply the K-Core decomposition, which allows identifying dense, cohesive subgroups in the network. The procedure was proposed by Seidman (1983) and is based on the minimum nodal degree within a subgraph. Put differently, a

*K-Core* is a sub-graph in which each node is connected to at least k other nodes. It can be identified by recursively removing or "peeling off" all nodes with degree smaller than k, until all remaining nodes in the subnetwork have at least a degree of k. This approach generates subgraphs of gradually increasing cohesion. Hence, the higher the *K-Core* score, the better connected are an actor's neighbours and thus the more restricted are his actions. We normalize this measure by dividing by its largest value. Our network measures are computed with the help of the UCINET software package v6.171. Our choice is based on Huisman and van Duijn (2005) who compare different software packages used for social network analysis. Table 3.2 lists the ten most central directors for *Degree* and *Eigenvector* centrality and each year of our sample period.<sup>11</sup> Figures in the table are computed relative to the size of the network to facilitate the comparability of data over different years.

As can be seen from Table 3.2, the *Degree* measure is comparatively stable over time. The number of directorships does not seem to change dramatically among the best connected directors. Taking a closer look at the *Degree*, it becomes apparent that the best connected directors are mostly chairmen of large DAX companies. *Connectiveness*, our second measure, puts an emphasis on the quality of connections. This approach can be illustrated with the example of Henning Schulte-Noelle (chairman of Allianz AG). In 2003, Mr. Schulte-Noelle is among the best connected directors with respect to *Degree* and *Connectiveness*. In 2004, he gave up several directorships and lost over 50 direct connections. As a result, Mr. Schulte-Noelle dropped out of the list with the highest *Degree*. Even though his *Connectiveness* also decreased, he is still among the best connected directors in the years 2004-2006 since he kept his positions at well-connected firms like E.ON AG and ThyssenKrupp AG.

In a last step, the data on individual directors is aggregated on a firm level. This allows us to draw conclusions concerning the extent to which members of the supervisory board - and thus the board as a whole - might be busy or overcommitted. Table 3.3 presents descriptive statistics (in percent) for our centrality measures.

 $<sup>^{11}</sup>$ We do not tabulate *Clustering Coefficient* and *K*-*Core* because a large number of directors have the largest possible values in each variable and year due to the definition of the variables.

 Table 3.2: Most Central Directors

Panel A. Top 10 Degree and Connectiveness for 2003 in Percent

No.	Name	$C_D$	Name	$C_C$
1	Schneider, Manfred	9.56	Cromme, Gerhard	26.32
2	Kohlhaussen, M	9.01	Schulte-Noelle, H.	23.89
3	Cromme, Gerhard	8.83	Baumann, Karl-H.	23.34
4	Baumann, Karl-H.	8.59	Schneider, Manfred	21.78
5	Hartmann, Ulich	8.29	Voss, Bernd W.	21.52
6	Schulte-Noelle, H.	7.99	Hartmann, Ulrich	21.05
7	Voss, Bernd W.	7.74	Breuer, Rolf-E.	20.19
8	Walter, Bernhard	7.74	Kohlhaussen, Martin	20.16
9	Breuer, Rolf E.	7.68	Diekmann, Michael	17.09
10	Schinzler, Hans-J.	7.56	Strube, Jürgen	16.82

Panel B. Top 10 Degree and Connectiveness for 2004 in Percent

No.	Name	$C_D$	Name	$C_C$
1	Cromme, Gerhard	8.91	Cromme, Gerhard	28.11
2	Schneider, Manfred	8.85	Schneider, Manfred	23.42
3	Hartmann, Ulrich	8.52	Hartmann, Ulrich	22.79
4	Walter, Bernhard	8.00	Kuhnt, Dietmar	21.47
5	Kuhnt, Dietmar	7.60	Baumann, Karl-H.	20.93
6	Baumann, Karl-H.	7.21	Kohlhaussen, Martin	20.10
7	Kohlhaussen, Martin	7.21	Schulte-Noelle, H.	19.37
8	Strube, Jürgen	6.49	Pierer, Heinrich von	19.18
9	Reich, Hans W.	6.42	Neuber, Friedel	19.04
10	Kley, Max Dietrich	6.36	Walter, Bernhard	18.23

Panel C. Top 10 Degree and Connectiveness for 2005 in Percent

No.	Name	$C_D$	Name	$C_C$
1	Schneider, Manfred	8.98	Cromme, Gerhard	26.56
2	Cromme, Gerhard	8.40	Pierer, Heinrich von	25.69
3	Pierer, Heinrich von	8.27	Schneider, Manfred	23.3
4	Hartmann, Ulrich	8.08	Hartmann, Ulrich	21.97
5	Walter, Bernhard	7.95	Kohlhaussen, Martin	20.78
6	Kohlhaussen, M.	7.18	Schulz, Ekkehard D.	19.78
7	Schulz, Ekkehard D.	6.93	Schulte-Noelle, H.	18.48
8	Reich, Hans W.	6.35	Baumann, Karl-H.	17.63
9	Kuhnt, Dietmar	6.16	Walter, Bernhard	17.43
10	Kley, Max Dietrich	6.09	Weber, Jürgen	17.19

Panel D. Top 10 Degree and Connectiveness for 2006 in Percent

No.	Name	$C_D$	Name	$C_C$
1	Schneider, Manfred	9.31	Cromme, Gerhard	26.27
2	Cromme, Gerhard	8.67	Schneider, Manfred	25.14
3	Hartmann, Ulrich	8.41	Schulz, Ekkehard D.	23.36
4	Schulz, Ekkehard D.	8.29	Hartmann, Ulrich	22.86
5	Pierer, Heinrich von	7.00	Kuhnt, Dietmar	20.03
6	Kuhnt, Dietmar	6.74	Weber, Jürgen	19.30
7	Kohlhaussen, Martin	6.62	Pierer, Heinrich von	18.67
8	Reich, Hans W.	6.42	Kohlhaussen, Martin	18.58
9	Grünberg, Hubertus	6.23	Schulte-Noelle, H.	16.52
10	Strube, Jürgen	5.97	Grünberg, Hubertus	15.97

This table contains a list of the ten most central directors in the network of German firms subdivided into Degree  $C_D$  and Connectiveness  $C_C$  centrality measures for the period from 2003-2006.

Variable	Mean	Median	Lowest Decile	Highest Decile	Std. Dev.
Average Degree Average Connectiveness Average Clustering Coefficient Average K-Core	1.259 1.947 84.533 44.353	$     1.034 \\     0.473 \\     86.059 \\     42.183   $	$     \begin{array}{r}             \hline             0.321 \\             3.74 \times 10^{-28} \\             67.556 \\             16.129 \\             \hline         $	$2.647 \\ 6.851 \\ 100 \\ 74.866$	$0.876 \\ 2.911 \\ 11.34 \\ 22.96$
Average Degree (w/o empl.) Average Connectiveness (w/o empl.) Average Clustering Coefficient (w/o empl.) Average K-Core (w/o empl.)	1.63 3.235 73.872 37.28	$\begin{array}{c} 1.237 \\ 0.927 \\ 76.508 \\ 33.766 \end{array}$	$0.388 \\ 0 \\ 46.883 \\ 14.773$	3.572 11.178 100 62.338	$1.222 \\ 4.57 \\ 19.261 \\ 18.157$

#### Table 3.3: Normalized Firm Centrality in Percent

Notes: This table contains descriptive statistics of the network centrality measures *Degree*, *Connectiveness*, *Clustering Coefficient* and *K-Core* for a sample of 532 firm-year observations for the period from 2003-2006.

### 3.4 Multivariate Analysis

Our main hypothesis rests on the assumption that individuals who are overcommitted might shirk their responsibilities as directors. In the previous literature, the "busyness" of a director has been derived based on the number of directorships. We argue that this might be too simplistic a measure since it does not capture the "quality" of these other obligations and propose an alternative approach based on measures from social network research.

In this section, we examine the effect of overcommitted boards on firm performance (measured by Tobin's Q) and executive remuneration (measured by the sum of fix and variable compensation) in a multivariate panel regression framework.

### 3.4.1 Multiple Directorships and Firm Performance

In a first step, we apply the methodology used by Ferris et al. (2003) and Fich and Shivdasani (2006) to our dataset. More specifically, we estimate firm fixed-effects models using market-to-book value as the dependent variable.<sup>12</sup> These models assume that agency costs (which arise due to poor monitoring by overcommitted directors) are reflected by a lower market-to-book ratio. The market-to-book ratio is used as a proxy for Tobin's Q. It is calculated as market value of equity at the end of the year plus book value of debt divided by the book value of assets at the end of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Ferris et al. (2003) use a cross-section of 1995 data; Fich and Shivdasani (2006) analyze data from 1989-1995 using fixed-effects regressions.

year. As explanatory variables, we include the three alternative measures for "busy boards" used by Fich and Shivdasani (2006) and variables that control for corporate governance and financial characteristics. We control for firm size using the natural logarithm of total assets. According to the results of Yermack (1996) and Fich and Shivdasani (2006) board size has a negative and significant effect on firm performance. We therefore control for board size using the log of the number of directors. We also control for the fraction of employee representation on the board. In a study of German codetermination, Gorton and Schmid (2004) find that market valuation decreases with the number of employee representatives on the supervisory board. In addition, several studies have shown that ownership characteristics play an important role in the German system of corporate governance (Franks and Mayer, 2001; Andres, 2008). In the absence of an active takeover market, large blockholders often act as the main monitors of a firm. However, a very large blockholder might abuse his position and may have an incentive to expropriate minority shareholders. We therefore include both the voting rights of the largest blockholder (> 5%) as well as its squared term as control variables. The regressions further contain controls for the (log) number of board meetings, firm age (natural logarithm of years since incorporation), risk (return volatility, measured as the standard deviation of daily share price returns for the previous 36 months) and capital structure (leverage, defined as book value of total debt divided by book value of total assets). Lastly, all models include year dummies. The results of the multivariate panel regressions are reported in Table 3.4. In models (1)-(3) all variables that measure the extent to which boards are busy are based on directors that represent the interests of shareholders (i.e. excluding employee representatives). Regressions (4)-(6) are based on all directors, including employee representatives. We do not find signs of a significant relationship between busy directors and firm performance in any model specification. The coefficients for busy board (a dummy that is set to one if 50% or more of the directors hold three or more directorships) and percentage of busy directors (both used by Fich and Shivdasani, 2006) are negative but insignificant. The variable average number of directorships (used by Ferris et al., 2003) shows positive, yet insignificant coefficients. These findings indicate that the number of board appointments that a directors holds does not seem to have an influence on firm performance in Germany. Compared to U.S. studies, the results are in line with Ferris et al. (2003) but stand partly in

contrast to Fich and Shivdasani (2006).

### 3.4.2 Director Networks and Firm Governance

The preceding results do not support the hypothesis that busy boards are associated with poor firm performance. This view is based on the notion that too many board assignments might detract from the ability of directors to act as vigilant monitors of management; directors might become overcommitted and as a result they might not have the time and attention required for their monitoring duties. As discussed above, several research papers have tested the hypothesis that serving on multiple boards has a negative impact on corporate performance. In these studies, boards are classified as busy/not busy based on the number and percentage of directorships per director. We maintain, however, that these measures will be noisy if they fail to adequately capture the extent to which directors are truly busy and propose using alternative measures from social network analysis. The variables *Degree*, *Connectiveness*, *Clustering Coefficient* and *K-Core* (aggregated on a firm level) are employed in order to measure the extent to which a firm's directors are overcommitted.

We first examine the effect of directors' embeddedness in the social network on firm performance. Table 3.5 reports the results of fixed-effects regressions with market-tobook ratio as dependent variable. In model specifications (1) - (4) we use the network measures as substitutes for the busy board variables included in section 3.4.1. Model specifications (5) - (8) contain the busy dummy as an additional control variable. As network measures, we use the average Degree, Connectiveness, Clustering Coefficient and K-Core for every firm and year. All other control variables are equal to the regressions above. Concerning the influence of the number of directorships (captured by the variable Busy Board) on Tobin's Q, the specifications (5) - (8) in Table 3.5 confirm the preceding findings and show insignificant coefficients in all model specifications. In contrast, we find negative and significant coefficients (at the 0.05-level) on the variables *Degree* and *Connectiveness*. This indicates that having directors who are comparatively central in the network is associated with poor firm performance. Even though intense network connections could theoretically be beneficial for the firm (e.g. access to financial resources), they may overcommit directors by drawing on their time and cognitive resources. To further explore the impact of a director's higher order relations, we first use the local *Clustering Coefficient* which measures the degree

	Excluding Employee Representatives			All Directors		
Variable	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Busy Board	-0.045 (-0.60)			-0.072 (-0.75)		
Percentage of Busy Directors		-0.005			-0.012	
Average Number of Directorships		( 0.02)	0.043 (1.05)		( 0.01)	$0.054 \\ (0.89)$
Firm Size (Log of Total Assets)	-0.288 (-1.12)	-0.232 (-1.24)	-0.225 (-1.12)	-0.230 (-1.14)	-0.232 (-1.14)	-0.226 (-1.12)
Board Size (Log of No. of Directors)	0.037 (0.25)	0.053 (0.37)	0.080 (0.57)	0.057 (0.42)	0.053 (0.38)	0.073 (0.52)
Codetermination	(0.852) $(1.74)^*$	(0.822)	(1.65)	(0.813) (1.67)*	(0.822) (1.64)	(0.855)
Leverage	(1.14) -0.008	(1.00) -0.009 (0.02)	-0.029	-0.036	(1.04) -0.009	-0.026
Largest Blockholder	0.005	0.005	0.004	(-0.00) 0.005 (0.78)	(-0.02) 0.005 (0.81)	(-0.03) 0.004
Largest Blockholder <sup>2</sup>	(0.82) -0.000	(0.82) -0.000	-0.000	(0.78) -0.000	-0.000	-0.000
Board Meetings	(-0.59) 0.025 (1.33)	(-0.58) 0.025 (1.33)	(-0.48) 0.030 (1.44)	(-0.54) 0.026 (1.36)	(-0.57) 0.025 (1.32)	(-0.49) 0.029 (1.41)
Return Volatility	(1.55) 0.000 (1.51)	(1.33) 0.000 (1.48)	(1.44) 0.000 (1.52)	(1.30) 0.000 (1.48)	(1.32) 0.000 (1.48)	(1.41) 0.000 (1.50)
Firm Age	(1.31) 0.601 (1.43)	(1.48) 0.612 (1.46)	(1.32) 0.614 (1.46)	(1.48) 0.609 (1.46)	(1.48) 0.613 (1.46)	(1.30) 0.611 (1.46)
R-Squared F-Statistic (P-Value)	$0.142 \\ 4.35 \\ (0.00)$	$0.142 \\ 3.92 \\ (0.00)$	$0.147 \\ 3.65 \\ (0.00)$	$0.142 \\ 3.36 \\ (0.00)$	$0.141 \\ 3.79 \\ (0.00)$	$0.146 \\ 3.41 \\ (0.00)$

### Table 3.4: Multiple Directorships and Firm Performance

Notes: This table contains results of fixed-effects regressions of market-to-book value on several firm characteristics for a sample of 133 German firms for the period from 2003 till 2006. Busy board is an indicator variable that is set to one if 50% (or more) of a firm's directors hold three (or more directorships). Percentage of busy directors is the percentage of directors (per firm) who hold three or more directorships. In specifications (1)-(3) these variables are computed based on shareholder representatives only, the board variables in models (4)-(6) are based on all directors (including employee representatives). Codetermination is defined as the number of employee representatives divided by the number of supervisory board members. Leverage is defined as book value of total debt divided by book value of total assets. Large shareholders are shareholders who hold more than 5% of the voting equity. Return volatility is measured as the standard deviation of share price returns for the previous 36 months. Firm age is the natural logarithm of years since incorporation. All regressions include year dummies. T-Statistics (in parentheses) are based on White-Heteroskedasticity consistent standard errors clustered at the firm level. Asterisks denote statistical significance at the 0.01(\*\*\*), 0.05(\*\*) and 0.10(\*)-level.

Table 3.5: Director Networks and Firm Performan	able 3.5: I	Director Ne	tworks and	Firm I	Performan
---	-------------	-------------	------------	--------	-----------

Variable	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Degree	-0.449		-0.704		-0.444		-0.686	
	$(-2.21)^{**}$		$(-2.57)^{**}$		$(-2.27)^{**}$		$(-2.66)^{***}$	
Connectiveness		-0.073				-0.073		
		$(-2.07)^{**}$				$(-2.10)^{**}$		
Clustering Coefficient			-0.771				-0.679	
			(-1.28)				(-1.16)	
Clustering Coefficient			-1.535				-1.542	
*Degree			$(-2.74)^{***}$				$(-2.77^{***})$	
K-Core				-1.076				-1.078
				$(-2.05)^{**}$				$(-2.05)^{**}$
Busy Board					0.062	0.070	0.072	0.073
					(0.73)	(0.76)	(0.90)	(0.78)
Firm Size	-0.232	-0.222	-0.261	-0.250	-0.230	-0.220	-0.258	-0.247
(Log of Total Assets)	(-1.17)	(-1.10)	(-1.33)	(-1.25)	(-1.17)	(-1.10)	(-1.32)	(-1.25)
Board Size	0.367	0.125	0.602	0.430	0.367	0.128	0.588	0.434
(Log of No. of Directors)	$(1.69)^*$	(0.84)	$(2.06)^{**}$	(1.61)	$(1.70)^*$	(0.86)	$(2.08)^{**}$	(1.62)
Codetermination	0.721	0.768	0.529	0.640	0.717	0.763	0.529	0.633
	$(1.83)^*$	$(1.93)^*$	(1.26)	(1.27)	$(1.82)^*$	$(1.92)^*$	(1.27)	(1.26)
Leverage	-0.124	-0.101	-0.116	-0.033	-0.145	-0.125	-0.137	-0.058
	(-0.22)	(-0.18)	(-0.21)	(-0.06)	(-0.26)	(-0.22)	(-0.25)	(-0.11)
Largest Blockholder	0.006	0.005	0.007	0.006	0.006	0.005	0.007	0.006
	(0.96)	(0.84)	(1.06)	(0.97)	(0.95)	(0.82)	(1.05)	(0.96)
Largest Blockholder <sup>2</sup>	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000
	(-0.78)	(-0.66)	(-0.88)	(-0.72)	(-0.77)	(-0.65)	(-0.86)	(-0.71)
Board Meetings	0.027	0.025	0.030	0.027	0.028	0.026	0.031	0.028
	(1.42)	(1.32)	(1.55)	(1.40)	(1.45)	(1.35)	(1.59)	(1.43)
Return Volatility	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	(1.53)	(1.36)	$(1.67)^*$	(1.54)	(1.52)	(1.35)	$(1.66)^*$	(1.53)
Firm Age	0.743	0.646	0.763	0.677	0.739	0.642	0.756	0.674
	$(1.77)^*$	(1.54)	$(1.86)^*$	$(1.66)^*$	$(1.76)^*$	(1.53)	$(1.84)^{*}$	(1.65)
R-Squared	0.160	0.151	0.178	0.148	0.161	0.152	0.179	0.149
F-Statistic	4.44	4.28	3.89	3.47	4.15	3.99	3.68	3.28
(P-Value)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)

Notes: This table contains results of fixed-effects regressions of market-to-book value on several firm characteristics for a sample of 133 German firms for the period from 2003 till 2006. *Degree, Connectiveness, Clustering Coefficient* and *K-Core* are measures for the embeddedness of a firm's directors in the social network. Busy board is an indicator variable that is set to one if 50% (or more) of a firm's directors hold three (or more directorships). Codetermination is defined as the number of employee representatives divided by the number of supervisory board members. Leverage is defined as book value of total debt divided by book value of total assets. Large shareholders are shareholders who hold more than 5% of the voting equity. Return volatility is measured as the standard deviation of share price returns for the previous 36 months. Firm age is the natural logarithm of years since incorporation. All regressions include year dummies. T-Statistics (in parentheses) are based on White-Heteroskedasticity consistent standard errors clustered at the firm level. Asterisks denote statistical significance at the 0.01(\*\*\*), 0.05(\*\*) and 0.10(\*)-level.

of closure within a director's neighbourhood. Since the *Clustering Coefficient* itself does not indicate to how many other directors a director is connected, we include an interaction term to allow the effect of the *Clustering Coefficient* to vary with a director's nodal *Degree*. Both interaction variables are centered at their respective mean (i.e. we subtract the variables' means from each of the variables' values). Our findings suggest that the degree of triadic closure does not significantly affect the performance of firms with an average nodal *Degree*. The interaction term, however, is negative and highly significant (at the 0.01-level), i.e. the marginal effect of closure significantly decreases if the number of connections a director holds increases. As stated before, we expect that a director's monitoring ability is adversely affected by a relatively closed network structure, particularly if he is already highly connected. To illustrate this effect, we plot the average marginal effect of the *Clustering Coefficient* for different levels of *Degree* (range: 10%-90% percentile of degree) in Figure 3.2. At low levels of a director's *Degree*, the marginal effect of closure is positive, yet not

Figure 3.2: Average Marginal Effect (AME) of 'Clustering Coefficient' on Tobin's Q with 95% Confidence Intervals (CIs)



significantly different from zero. At higher levels of Degree, the effect shrinks and

### 3.4 Multivariate Analysis

becomes negative and significant (at the 0.05 (0.10)-level) if the normalized *Degree* amounts to roughly 1.7 (1.5). Accordingly, network closure seems to negatively affect firm performance if the boards' directors hold a large number of relations. These findings provide support to the idea that, by imposing too many time-consuming social obligations, closed network structures may be detrimental to efficient monitoring. In addition to these results, we find a negative and significant coefficient (at the 0.05-level) of the variable *K-Core*. This implies that directors whose relations are clustered in a cohesive subgroup are associated with lower firm performance. The results continue to hold if we include the busy dummy as additional control.

In order to investigate the effect on firm governance further, we examine the relationship between network embeddedness and the level of executive compensation. Prior academic research suggests that weak monitoring and poor governance are positively related to executive compensation. The underlying theory is based on the notion that in firms with weak corporate governance structures and insufficient monitoring, executives successfully influence their compensation committees. Core et al. (1999), for example, find that CEO compensation is higher when the board is large, and when the CEO holds the position of chairman of the board. Yermack (1997) presents related evidence by showing that the CEO's success in receiving stock options at favourable times depends significantly on his influence on the board. Cyert, Kang and Kumar (2002) show, both theoretically and empirically, that top-management compensation is influenced by the board's structure. In line with Core et al. (1999), they find CEO compensation to be higher when the CEO is also chairman of the board. Lastly, Sapp (2008) shows that measures for weaker boards are related positively to the level of CEO compensation.

According to Shleifer and Vishny (1986), the presence of a large shareholder leads to closer monitoring of the managements' performance. Bertrand and Mullainathan (2001) find that in firms that lack a large external blockholder, CEO compensation is less dependent on managerial effort. They find that in better governed firms, CEOs are less likely to be rewarded for luck. Hartzell and Starks (2003) examine the relationship between ownership concentration and executive compensation and find higher pay-performance sensitivities and lower executive compensation the more concentrated institutional ownership is. Related to the literature on busy boards, Shivdasani (1993) finds evidence of a positive relation between CEO compensation

and the number of directorships that each director holds.

All in all, these papers provide strong support for the view that executive compensation is an important component of corporate governance and show that poor governance is associated with comparatively high levels of executive pay. Following the hypothesis that overcommitted directors spend less time and effort monitoring management, we investigate the relationship between the directors' embeddedness in the network and the level of executive compensation. As dependent variable, we compute the average per-capita executive compensation for each firm and year.<sup>13</sup> As before, the variables Degree, Connectiveness, Clustering Coefficient and K-Core (aggregated on a firm level) are employed in order to measure the directors' busyness. One of the stylized facts of compensation research is the positive relationship between firm size and executive pay. It is well documented in the empirical literature that large firms pay their executives more (see e.g. Murphy, 1985; Ryan and Wiggins, 2001). We therefore include firm size (logarithm of total assets) as a control variable. With regard to board characteristics, we include the size of the executive board (measured as the log of the number of executives) and the fraction of employee representatives as controls. Among the explanatory variables, we also include the fraction of voting rights of the largest blockholder as well as its squared term. Even though most firms use some form of equity-based compensation as part of their executive compensation packages, pay-performance sensitivities are generally found to be low (e.g. Jensen and Murphy, 1990). Nevertheless, we control for past operating performance (return on assets) and stock price performance (we use the CDAX performance index to adjust stock returns over the past 12 months). Leverage (as book value of total debt divided by book value of total assets) and firm age (natural logarithm of years since incorporation) are also included as control variables. Lastly, we include dummy variables to control for year fixed effects.

The results of fixed-effects panel regressions with executive compensation as dependent variable are presented in Table 3.6. In model specifications (1) - (4), the busy board

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Until recently, German companies were not required to disclose executive remuneration on an individual basis. However, disclosure of the aggregate executive remuneration is mandated by the German Commercial Code. We combine the information on aggregate compensation with information on the number of executives to compute the average per-capita remuneration for all sample firms. From 2007 onwards, publicly listed firms are required by law to disclose executive compensation on an individual basis (if the shareholders' meeting does not grant an exemption from the disclosure requirement).

### Table 3.6: Director Networks and Executive Compensation

Variable	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Degree	230.1 (1.79)*		151.6		236.8 (1.84)*		161.5	
Connectiveness	(1110)	59.31 (1.71)*	(111)		(1101)	59.93 (1.76)*	(1110)	
Clustering Coefficient		()	-705.0 (-1.31)			()	-637.9	
Clustering Coefficient *Degree			-200.3				-214.4	
K-Core			()	66.58 (0.16)			( 0.00)	75.93 (0.19)
Busy Board				(0110)	83.44 $(1.38)$	77.87 (1.33)	68.98 (1.13)	(5.12) (75.59) (1.24)
Firm Size	376.0	361.6	363.7	373.9	379.0	364.2	366.7	376.8
(Log of Total Assets)	$(2.32)^{**}$	$(2.21)^{**}$	$(2.35)^{**}$	$(2.37)^{**}$	$(2.29)^{**}$	$(2.19)^{**}$	$(2.33)^{**}$	$(2.35)^{**}$
Executive Board Size	-216.0	-218.0	-211.0	-225.8	-222.2	-224.0	-215.7	-231.8
(Log of No. of Executives)	$(-2.18)^{**}$	$(-2.22)^{**}$	$(-2.09)^{**}$	$(-2.22)^{**}$	$(-2.27)^{**}$	$(-2.30)^{**}$	$(-2.15)^{**}$	$(-2.30)^{**}$
Codetermination	516.7	590.3	526.1	594.7	517.1	592.8	524.4	596.3
	(1.09)	(1.03)	(0.96)	(1.16)	(1.10)	(1.04)	(0.97)	(1.18)
Leverage	240.5	256.5	229.0	181.2	219.9	236.4	213.1	161.3
	(0.70)	(0.77)	(0.67)	(0.53)	(0.64)	(0.71)	(0.62)	(0.47)
Largest Blockholder	2.318	2.292	2.072	2.321	2.230	2.210	2.025	2.243
0	(0.37)	(0.37)	(0.33)	(0.36)	(0.35)	(0.35)	(0.32)	(0.35)
Largest Blockholder <sup>2</sup>	-0.024	-0.022	-0.020	-0.027	-0.023	-0.021	-0.020	-0.027
	(-0.34)	(-0.32)	(-0.29)	(-0.39)	(-0.33)	(-0.30)	(-0.29)	(-0.38)
Stock Price	68.52	68.19	66.46	66.75	67.23	66.97	65.79	65.49
Performance	$(2.08)^{**}$	$(2.07)^{**}$	$(1.99)^{**}$	$(2.00)^{**}$	$(2.05)^{**}$	$(2.04)^{**}$	$(1.98)^{**}$	$(1.97)^*$
Return on Assets	954.9	928.8	919.0	939.2	951.0	924.5	916.8	936.2
	$(2.07)^{**}$	$(2.01)^{**}$	$(1.99)^{**}$	$(1.99)^{**}$	$(2.05)^{**}$	$(1.99)^{**}$	$(1.97)^*$	$(1.98)^{**}$
Firm Age	-298.2	-241.9	-283.8	-218.4	-305.3	-246.5	-290.3	-223.6
	(-1.35)	(-1.44)	(-1.30)	(-1.01)	(-1.38)	(-1.16)	(-1.33)	(-1.04)
R-Squared	0.207	0.206	0.210	0.197	0.210	0.208	0.213	0.199
F-Statistic	5.88	5.97	5.19	5.36	5.57	5.65	4.91	5.03
(P-Value)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)
. ,		. ,	. ,	. ,	. ,		. ,	. /

Notes: This table contains results of fixed-effects regressions of the logarithm of average per-capita executive remuneration on several firm characteristics for a sample of 133 German firms for the period from 2003 till 2006. *Degree, Connectiveness, Clustering Coefficient* and *K-Core* are measures for the embeddedness of a firm's directors in the social network. Busy board is an indicator variable that is set to one if 50% (or more) of a firm's directors hold three (or more directorships). Codetermination is defined as the number of employee representatives divided by the number of supervisory board members. Leverage is defined as book value of total debt divided by book value of total assets. Large shareholders are shareholders who hold more than 5% of the voting equity. Stock price performance is defined as the raw stock price return minus the return of the CDAX index. Firm age is the natural logarithm of years since incorporation. All regressions include year dummies. T-Statistics (in parentheses) are based on White-Heteroskedasticity consistent standard errors clustered at the firm level. Asterisks denote statistical significance at the 0.01(\*\*\*), 0.05(\*\*) and 0.10(\*)-level.

variable is substituted by our network measures, whereas model specifications (5) - (8) contain the busy dummy as an additional control.<sup>14</sup> As hypothesized, we find a positive and significant relationship between the network measures and the level of executive compensation. While we find no evidence for a relation between the *Clustering Coefficient* and *K-Core*, the coefficients on *Degree* and *Connectiveness* are all positive and significant (at the 0.10-level). This finding implies that firms in which members of the supervisory board are better connected in the network of German directors pay their executives more. Since the regressions also control for size and performance, these results can be interpreted as supporting evidence of the hypothesis that directors who are well connected are associated with poor monitoring. Concerning the other control variables, the coefficients on *Busy Board* are positive, but insignificant in all model specifications. In line with the literature, we find a significantly positive relationship between firm size and executive compensation. In addition, remuneration seems to be positively influenced by the stock price performance of the past 12 months.

In sum, the results of the regression analysis provide evidence that high levels of director embeddedness are associated with low firm performance and high levels of executive compensation. The results further indicate that social network measures yield explanatory power beyond simple measures of director busyness. We interpret our findings as evidence for weaker governance and poorer monitoring in firms with directors who are intensely-connected in the social network.

### 3.4.3 Robustness Tests

The findings presented above potentially suffer from the problem of endogeneity: As a result of bad performance, firms might seek to appoint well connected directors - who have built experience and reputation - to their boards in order to improve corporate performance. This reversed causality would imply that performance is not worse due to better connected boards: It could be the case that only bad firms seek the advice of better connected directors and therefore boost their boards' network embeddedness

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>We also run all regressions with executive compensation as dependent variable using the three measures for busy boards that are derived from the number of directorships per director (not reported). The coefficients on these measures are negative, but insignificant in all regressions. We suggest that this supports our idea that these measures are inadequate proxy variables to capture the extent to which directors are truly overcommitted.

Dependent Variable	Change in Degree	Change in Connective- ness	Change in Clustering Coefficient	Change in K-Core
Variable	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Abnormal Stock Return	0.023	0.241	0.012	0.013
(Current Year)	(0.51)	(1.17)	(0.74)	(0.06)
Abnormal Stock Return	0.004	-0.002	-0.003	-0.194
(Previous Year)	(0.18)	(-0.04)	(-0.34)	(-1.49)
Change in Tobin's Q	-0.038	-0.298	0.002	0.058
	(-0.96)	(-1.58)	(0.16)	(0.34)
Change in Size	-0.00	-0.00	0.00	-0.00
	$(-1.66)^*$	(-0.15)	(0.99)	(-0.76)
Industry Dummies	yes	yes	yes	yes
Year Dummies	yes	yes	yes	yes
R-Squared	0.021	0.032	0.031	0.137

#### Table 3.7: Effect of Past Performance on Network Embeddedness

This table contains results of ordinary least square regressions of changes in network embeddedness on several firm characteristics for a sample of 133 German firms for the period from 2003 till 2006. Degree, Connectiveness, Clustering Coefficient and K-Core are measures for the embeddedness of a firm's directors in the social network. The abnormal stock return is computed as raw stock return during the current year minus the return of the CDAX-index. The change in size is measures by the log of total assets. All regressions include year and industry dummies. T-Statistics (in parentheses) are based on White-Heteroskedasticity consistent standard errors clustered at the firm level. The total number of observations is 399. Asterisks denote statistical significance at the 0.01(\*\*\*), 0.05(\*\*) and 0.10(\*)-level.

through the appointment of well connected directors. We test the causality of our results by estimating regression models of the relation between past performance and changes in network embeddedness. Similar to the methodology used in Yermack (1996) we take the total annual change in the network measure (from t=-1 to t=0) as the dependent variable. As explanatory variables, we include the abnormal stock price performance (raw stock price return minus the return of the CDAX index) during the same year (t=-1 to t=0) and in the previous year (t=-2 to t=-1). If companies indeed appointed well connected directors as a result of poor performance, either the performance in the year of the board change or in the previous year (and hence the coefficients of these two variables) should show some level of significance. As additional control variables, we include the change in Tobin's Q and the change in firm size (log of total assets).

Table 3.7 contains the results of these OLS-regressions. The models do not provide any evidence that firms change the embeddedness of their boards in response to poor performance. In other words, we do not find evidence of a reversed causality as well connected directors do not seem to be appointed as a response to bad performance.

There is weak evidence that the measure *Degree* tends to decrease in response to (positive) changes in firm size.

### 3.5 Conclusion

Following a number of corporate scandals, governance structures have recently become a subject of public debate in many countries. Shareholder activists and organizations that defend the interests of minority shareholders often criticize firms for appointing directors who hold several directorships in other firms. This view is based on the argument that serving on too many boards will place a heavy burden on directors. As a result, directors might become overcommitted and shirk their responsibility as monitors of management. Corporate governance policy advocates have therefore called for limits on the number of directorships that a director should hold.

The debate has also spurred empirical research that investigates whether busy directors are indeed associated with poor governance. So far, empirical evidence is scarce and limited to the U.S. Most importantly, previous papers only look at the number of directorships in order to classify directors as (not) busy. In this manner, the metric used fails to grasp the quality and structural position of additional board seats. We propose an alternative approach based on measures from the social network literature. We examine a sample of 133 German firms over four years, leading to a network of about 1,600 directors and 35,000 connections. Aggregated on a firm level, we use this data to investigate the relationship between firm governance and the directors' embeddedness in the network. Our results show that well connected boards are associated with lower performance (as measured by Tobin's Q). In addition, firms with better connected directors (in terms of *Degree* and *Connectedness*) pay their executives significantly more. We interpret these findings as evidence for poor monitoring in firms that have well connected directors.

We by no means claim that we have found the "perfect" measure of director busyness. There might be cases in which supervisors with weak or (almost) no connections to the corporate elite are busier than other directors due to hobbies, volunteer activities, etc. However, our results indicate that network measures contribute to the complex and hard to measure issue of busyness and help explain dimensions of busyness that go beyond the simple number count of board appointments. These findings have direct policy implications. They suggest that calls for a limit of directorships are ill-advised (as long as a limitation does not take into account the quality of these obligations). Our results also imply that it might not be optimal for shareholders to base their decision to vote for a particular director solely on his/her reputation, since the most reputable directors will most likely be those who are already present on several boards and therefore have to balance the interests of many parties. Having a large number of intensely connected directors on the board can thus be counterproductive as it might lead to an overcommitted board.

### Bibliography

- ADAMS, R. AND D. FERREIRA (2007): "A Theory of Friendly Boards," *Journal of Finance*, 62, 217–50.
- (2008): "One Share One Vote: The Empirical Evidence," *Review of Finance*, 12, 51–91.
- ADLER, P. AND S. KWON (2000): "Social Capital: The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly," in *Knowledge and Social Capital: Foundations and Applications*, ed. by E. Lesser, Boston: Butterworth-Heineman, 89–115.
- AHARONY, J. AND I. SWARY (1980): "Quarterly Dividend and Earnings Announcements and Stockholders' Return: An Empirical Analysis," *Journal of Finance*, 1–12.
- AKBAR, S. AND A. STARK (2003): "Deflators, Net Shareholder Cash Flows, Dividends, Capital Contributions and Estimated Models of Corporate Valuation," *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, 30, 1211–33.
- ALMEIDA, H. AND M. CAMPELLO (2007): "Financial Constraints, Asset Tangibility and Corporate Investment," *Review of Financial Studies*, 20, 1429–1460.
- AMIHUD, Y. AND K. LI (2006): "The Declining Information Content of Dividend Announcements and the Effects of Institutional Holdings," *Journal of Financial* and Quantitative Analysis, 41, 637–60.
- AMIHUD, Y. AND H. MENDELSON (1986): "Asset Pricing and the Bid-ask Spread," Journal of Financial Economics, 17, 223–249.

- AMIHUD, Y. AND M. MURGIA (1997): "Dividends, Taxes, and Signaling: Evidence from Germany," *Journal of Finance*, 52, 397–408.
- AMOAKO-ADU, B. AND B. SMITH (2001): "Dual Class Firms: Capitalization, Ownership Structure and Recapitalization Back into Single Class," *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 25, 1083–1111.
- ANDRES, C. (2008): "Large Shareholders and Firm Performance: An Empirical Examination of Founding-Family Ownership," *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 14, 431–45.
- ANDRES, C., A. BETZER, M. GOERGEN, AND L. RENNEBOOG (2009): "Dividend Policy of German Firms: A Panel Data Analysis of Partial Adjustment Models," *Journal of Empirical Finance*, 16, 175–87.
- ANDRES, C., A. BETZER, I. VAN DEN BONGARD, C. HAESNER, AND E. THEISSEN (2013a): "The Information Content of Dividend Surprises: Evidence from Germany," *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, 40, 620–45.
- ANDRES, C., M. DOUMET, E. FERNAU, AND E. THEISSEN (2012): "Dividends, Stock Repurchases, and the Lintner Model: A Dynamic Panel Data Analysis of German Firms," Working Paper.
- ANDRES, C., I. VAN DEN BONGARD, AND M. LEHMANN (2013b): "Is Busy Really Busy? Board Governance Revisited," Forthcoming Journal of Business Finance and Accounting.
- ANG, J. AND W. MEGGINSON (1989): "Restricted Voting Shares, Ownership Structure, and the Market Value of Dual-Class Firms," *Journal of Financial Research*, 12, 301–318.
- BAR-YOSEF, S. AND O. SARIG (1992): "Dividend Surprises Inferred from Option and Stock Prices," *Journal of Finance*, 47, 1623–40.
- BARBERIS, N., A. SHLEIFER, AND J. WURGLER (2005): "Comovement," Journal of Financial Economics, 75, 283–317.
- BARNEA, A. AND I. GUEDJ (2009): "Director Networks," Working Paper.

- BATTALIO, R. AND R. MENDENHALL (2005): "Earnings Expectations, Investor Trade Size, and Anomalous Returns around Earnings Announcements," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 77, 289–319.
- BEBCHUK, L. (1999): "A Rent-Protection Theory of Corporate Ownership and Control," NBER Working Paper 7203 (Harvard Law School).
- BECHT, M. AND E. BOEHMER (2001): "Ownership and Voting Power in Germany," in *The Control of Corporate Europe*, ed. by F. Barca and M. Becht, Oxford University Press, 128–53.
- (2003): "Voting Control in German Corporations," International Review of Law and Economics, 23, 1–29.
- BEHM, U. AND H. ZIMMERMANN (1993): "The Empirical Relationship Between Dividends and Earnings in Germany," Zeitschrift für Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften, 113, 225–54.
- BERLE, A. AND G. MEANS (1932): The Modern Corporation and Private Property, MacMillan, New York.
- BERNHEIM, B. AND A. WANTZ (1995): "A Tax-Based Test of the Dividend Signaling Hypothesis," *American Economic Review*, 85, 532–51.
- BERTRAND, M. AND S. MULLAINATHAN (2001): "Are CEOs Rewarded for Luck? The Ones Without Principals Are," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 116, 901–32.
- BETZER, A., I. VAN DEN BONGARD, AND M. GOERGEN (2013): "Index Membership vs. Loss of Control: The Unification of Dual-Class Shares," Working Paper.
- BHATTACHARYA, S. (1979): "Imperfect Information, Dividend Policy, and the 'Bird in the Hand' Fallacy," *Bell Journal of Economics*, 10, 259–70.
- BIGELLI, M., V. MEHROTRA, AND P. RAU (2011): "Why Are Shareholders Not Paid to Give Up their Voting Privileges? Unique Evidence from Italy," *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 17, 1619–1635.

- BOEHMER, E., J. MUSUMECI, AND A. POULSEN (1991): "Event-Study Methodology under Conditions of Event-Induced Variance," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 30, 253–72.
- BONACICH, P. (1972): "Factoring and Weighting Approaches to Status Scores and Clique Identification," *Journal of Mathematical Sociology*, 2, 113–20.
- (1987): "Power and Centrality: A Family of Measures," *American Journal of Sociology*, 92, 1170–82.
- BROWN, P., J. HOW, AND P. VERHOEVEN (2008): "The Accuracy of Analysts' Dividend Forecasts around the World," *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal*, 16, 411–35.
- BROWN, S. AND J. WARNER (1985): "Using Daily Stock Returns: The Case of Event Studies," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 14, 3–31.
- BROWN, W. O. AND M. T. MALONEY (1999): "Exit, Voice, and the Role of Corporate Directors: Evidence from Acquisition Performance," Working Paper.
- CAMPBELL, J., A. LO, AND A. MACKINLEY (1997): The Econometrics of Financial Markets, Princeton University Press (New Jersey).
- CHEN, H., G. NORONHA, AND V. SINGAL (2004): "The Price Response to S&P 500 Index Additions and Deletions: Evidence of Asymmetry and a New Explanation," *Journal of Finance*, 59, 1901–1929.
- CIALDINI, R. AND M. TROST (1998): "Social Influence: Social Norms, Conformity and Compliance," in *The handbook of social psychology*, ed. by D. T. Gilbert, S. T. Fiske, and G. Lindzey, Boston, MA: McGraw-Hill, vol. 2, 151–192, 4 ed.
- CLAESSENS, S. AND Y. YAFEH (2013): "Comovement of Newly Added Stocks with National Market Indices: Evidence from around the World," *Review of Finance*, 17, 203–227.
- COHEN, L., C. MALLOY, AND A. FRAZZINI (2010): "A. Sell-Side School Ties," Journal of Finance, 65, 1409–37.

#### Bibliography

- COLEMAN, J. (1988): "Social Capital in the Creation of Human Capital," *American Journal of Sociology*, 94, 95–120, supplement: Organizations and Institutions: Sociological and Economic Approaches to the Analysis of Social Structure.
- CORE, J., R. HOLTHAUSEN, AND D. LARCKER (1999): "Corporate Governance, Chief Executive Officer Compensation, and Firm Performance," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 51, 371–406.
- CORRADO, C. (1989): "A Nonparametric Test for Abnormal Security-Price Performance in Event Studies," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 23, 385–95.
- CYERT, R., S. KANG, AND P. KUMAR (2002): "Corporate Governance, Takeovers, and Top-Management Compensation: Theory and Evidence," *Management Science*, 48, 453–69.
- DA SILVA, L. C., M. GOERGEN, AND L. RENNEBOOG (2004): Dividend Policy and Corporate Governance, Oxford University Press.
- DE MIGUEL, A., J. PINDADO, AND C. DE LA TORRE (2004): "Ownership Structure and Firm Value: New Evidence from Spain," *Strategic Management Journal*, 25, 1199–1207.
- DEANGELO, H. AND L. DEANGELO (1985): "Managerial Ownership of Voting Rights: A Study of Public Corporation with Dual Classes of Common Stock," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 14, 33–69.
- DEININGER, C., C. KASERER, AND S. ROSS (2002): "Der Indexeffekt am Deutschen Kapitalmarkt und Seine Ursachen," ZBB - Zeitschrift für Bankrecht und Bankwirtschaft, 14, 262–279.
- DENIS, D., J. MCCONNELL, A. OVTCHINNIKOV, AND Y. YU (2003): "S&P 500 Index Additions and Earnings Expectations," *Journal of Finance*, 58, 1821–1840.
- DHILLON, U., K. RAMAN, AND G. RAMIREZ (2003): "Analysts' Dividend Forecasts and Dividend Signalling," Working Paper.
- DITTMANN, I., E. MAUG, AND C. SCHNEIDER (2010): "Bankers on the Boards of German Firms: What They Do, What They Are Worth, and Why They Are (Still) There," *Review of Finance*, 14, 35–71.
- DITTMANN, I. AND N. ULBRICHT (2007): "Timing and Wealth Effects of German Dual Class Stock Unifications," *European Financial Management*, 14, 163–196.
- DYCK, A. AND L. ZINGALES (2004): "Private Benefits of Control: An International Comparison," *Journal of Finance*, 59, 537–600.
- EASTERBROOK, F. (1984): "Two Agency-Cost Explanation of Dividends," *American Economic Review*, 74, 650–59.
- EDDY, A. AND B. SEIFERT (1988): "Firm Size and Dividend Announcements," Journal of Financial Research, 11, 295–302.
- ELTON, E. AND M. GRUBER (1970): "Marginal Stockholder Tax Rates and the Clientele Effect," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 52, 68–74.
- EPPLER, M. AND J. MENGIS (2004): "The Concept of Information Overload: A Review of Literature from Organization Science, Accounting, Marketing, MIS, and Related Disciplines," *The Information Society*, 20, 325–44.
- FAMA, E. AND H. BABIAK (1968): "Dividend Policy: An Empirical Analysis," Journal of the American Statistical Association, 63, 1132–61.
- FAMA, E. AND J. MACBETH (1973): "Risk, Return, and Equilibrium: Empirical Tests," Journal of Political Economy, 81, 607–36.
- FERRIANI, S., G. CATTANI, AND C. BADEN-FULLER (2009): "The Relational Antecedents of Project-Entrepreneurship: Network Centrality, Team Composition and Project Performance," *Research Policy*, 38, 1545–58.
- FERRIS, S., M. JAGANNATHAN, AND A. PRITCHARD (2003): "Too Busy to Mind the Business? Monitoring by Directors with Multiple Board Appointments," *Journal* of Finance, 58, 1087–1111.
- FICH, E. AND A. SHIVDASANI (2006): "Are Busy Boards Effective Monitors?" Journal of Finance, 61, 689–724.
- FRANKS, J. AND C. MAYER (2001): "Ownership and Control of German Corporations," *Review of Financial Studies*, 14, 943–77.

- FULLER, K. (2003): "The Impact of Informed Trading on Dividend Signaling: A Theoretical and Empirical Examination," Journal of Corporate Finance, 9, 386–407.
- GERKE, W., S. ARNETH, AND J. FLEISCHER (2001): "Kursgewinne bei Aufnahmen in den DAX 100, Verluste bei Entnahmen: Indexeffekt am Deutschen Kapitalmarkt," Zeitschrift für Betriebswirtschaft (ZfB), 71, 45–66.
- GERKE, W., M. OERKE, AND A. SENTNER (1997): "Der Informationsgehalt von Dividendenänderungen auf dem Deutschen Aktienmarkt," *Die Betriebswirtschaft*, 57, 810–22.
- GOERGEN, M., M. MANJON, AND L. RENNEBOOG (2008): "Is the German System of Corporate Governance Converging towards the Anglo-American Model?" *Journal* of Management & Governance, 12, 37–71.
- GOERGEN, M., L. RENNEBOOG, AND L. DA SILVA (2005): "When Do German Firms Change Their Dividends," *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 11, 375–99.
- GOETZMANN, W. AND M. GARRY (1986): "Does Delisting from the S&P 500 Affect Stock Price?" *Financial Analyst Journal*, 42, 64–69.
- GOMPERS, P., J. ISHII, AND A. METRICK (2010): "Extreme Governance: An Analysis of Dual-Class Firms in the United States," *Review of Financial Studies*, 23, 1051–88.
- GORTON, G. AND F. SCHMID (2004): "Capital, Labor, and the Firm: A Study of German Codetermination," *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 2, 863–904.
- GRANOVETTER, M. (1985): "Economic Action and Social Structure: The Problem of Embeddedness," *American Journal of Sociology*, 91, 481–510.
- (1992): "Problems of Explanation in Economic Sociology," in Networks and Organizations: Structure, Form, and Action, ed. by N. Nohria and R. G. Eccles, Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press, 25–56.
- GROSSMAN, S. AND O. HART (1988): "One Share-One Vote and the Market for Corporate Control," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 20, 175–202.

- GUGLER, K. AND B. YURTOGLU (2003): "Corporate Governance and Dividend Pay-Out Policy in Germany," *European Economic Review*, 47, 731–58.
- GURGUL, H., R. MESTEL, AND C. SCHLEICHER (2003): "Stock Market Reactions to Dividend Announcements: Empirical Evidence from the Austrian Stock Market," *Financial Markets and Portfolio Management*, 17, 332–50.
- HAND, J. AND W. LANDSMAN (2005): "The Pricing of Dividends in Equity Valuation," Journal of Business Finance and Accounting, 32, 435–69.
- HARRIS, L. AND E. GUREL (1986): "Price and Volume Effects Associated with Changes in the S&P 500 List: New Evidence for the Existence of Price Pressures," *Journal of Finance*, 41, 815–829.
- HARTZELL, J. AND L. STARKS (2003): "Institutional Investors and Executive Compensation," *Journal of Finance*, 58, 2351–74.
- HAUSER, S. AND B. LAUTERBACH (2004): "The Value of Voting Rights to Majority Shareholders: Evidence from Dual-class Stock Unifications," *Review of Financial Studies*, 17, 1167–1184.
- HORTON, J., Y. MILLO, AND G. SERAFEIM (2012): "Resources or Power? Implications of Social Networks on Compensation and Firm Performance," *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, 39, 399–426.
- HRAZDIL, K. AND T. SCOTT (2009): "S&P 500 Index Revisited: Do Index Inclusion Announcements Convey Information about Firms' Future Performance?" Quarterly Journal of Finance and Accounting, 48, 79–113.
- HUISMAN, M. AND M. A. J. VAN DUIJN (2005): "Software for Social Network Analysis," in *Models and Methods in Social Network Analysis*, ed. by P. J. Carrington, J. Scott, and S. Wasserman, New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 270–316.
- HWANG, B. AND S. KIM (2009): "It Pays to Have Friends," Journal of Financial Economics, 93, 138–58.
- JAIN, P. (1987): "The Effect on Stock Price of Inclusion in or Exclusion from the S&P 500," *Financial Analyst Journal*, 43, 58–65.

- JENSEN, M. (1986): "Agency Costs of Free Cash Flow, Corporate Finance, and the Market for Takeovers," American Economic Review, 76, 323–29.
- JENSEN, M. AND W. MECKLING (1976): "Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs and Ownership Structure," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3, 305–60.
- JENSEN, M. AND K. MURPHY (1990): "Performance Pay and Top-Management Incentives," *Journal of Political Economy*, 98, 225–64.
- JOHANN, B. AND J. MASUHR (2001): "Vorzugsaktien Lukrative Wette," Focus-Money, 24, 24–27.
- JULIO, B. AND D. IKENBERRY (2004): "Reappearing Dividends," Journal of Applied Corporate Finance, 16, 89–100.
- KAHNEMAN, D. (1973): Attention and Effort, Prentice-Hall.
- KAUL, A., V. MEHROTRA, AND R. MORCK (2000): "Demand Curves for Stocks Do Slope Down: New Evidence from an Index Weights Adjustment," *Journal of Finance*, 55, 893–912.
- KOLARI, J. AND S. PYNNOENEN (2010): "Event Study Testing with Cross-sectional Correlation of Abnormal Returns," *Review of Financial Studies*, 23, 3996–4025.
- KUNZ, R. (2002): "Simplification of Equity Capital Structure and Market Value," *Financial Markets and Portfolio Management*, 16, 30–52.
- LA PORTA, R., F. LOPEZ DE SILANES, A. SHLEIFER, AND R. VISHNY (2000): "Investor Protection and Corporate Governance," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 58, 3–29.
- LANG, L. AND R. LITZENBERGER (1989): "Dividend Announcements: Cash Flow Signalling versus Free Cash Flow Hypothesis?" Journal of Financial Economics, 24, 181–91.
- LAUTERBACH, B. AND A. PAJUSTE (2011): "The Media Role in Corporate Governance Improvement: Lessons from Dual Class Share Unifications," Working Paper.

- LEFTWICH, R. AND M. ZMIJEWSKI (1994): "Contemporaneous Announcements of Dividends and Earnings," *Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Finance*, 9, 725–62.
- LEHN, K., J. NETTER, AND A. POULSEN (1990): "Consolidating Corporate Control: Dual-Class Recapitalizations versus Leveraged Buyouts," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 27, 557–580.
- LINTNER, J. (1956): "Distribution of Incomes of Corporations Among Dividends, Retained Earnings, and Taxes," *American Economic Review*, 46, 97–113.
- LJUNGQVIST, A., C. MALLOY, AND F. MARSTON (2009): "Rewriting History," Journal of Finance, 64, 1935–60.
- LYNCH, A. AND R. MENDENHALL (1997): "New Evidence on Stock Price Effects Associated with Changes in the S&P 500 Index," *Journal of Business*, 70, 351–383.
- MACE, M. (1986): *Directors: Myth and Reality*, Harvard Business School Press, Boston, 2 ed.
- MAURY, B. AND A. PAJUSTE (2011): "Private Benefits of Control and Dual-Class Share Unifications, Managerial and Decision Economics," *Managerial and Decision Economics*, 6, 355–369.
- MCCLELLAND, G. AND C. JUDD (1993): "Statistical Difficulties of Detecting Interactions and Moderator Effects," *Psychological Bulletin*, 114, 376–390.
- MCCONNELL, J. AND H. SERVAES (1990): "Additional Evidence on Equity Ownership and Corporate Value," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 27, 595–612.
- MERTON, R. (1987): "Presidential Address: A Simple Model of Capital Market Equilibrium with Incomplete Information," *Journal of Finance*, 42, 483–510.
- MILLER, M. AND F. MODIGLIANI (1961): "Dividend Policy, Growth, and the Valuation of Shares," *Journal of Business*, 34, 411–33.
- MILLER, M. AND K. ROCK (1985): "Dividend Policy under Asymmetric Information," Journal of Finance, 40, 1031–50.

## Bibliography

- MORCK, R., A. SHLEIFER, AND R. VISHNY (1988): "Management Ownership and Market Valuation," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 20, 293–315.
- MURPHY, K. (1985): "Corporate Performance and Managerial Remuneration An Empirical Analysis," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 7, 11–42.
- NORTON, E., H. WANG, AND C. AI (2004): "Computing Interaction Effects and Standard Errors in Logit and Probit Models," *Stata Journal*, 4, 103–116.
- O'BRIEN, P. (1988): "Analysts' Forecasts as Earnings Expectations," Journal of Accounting and Economics, 10, 55–83.
- OFER, A. AND R. SIEGEL (1987): "Corporate Financial Policy, Information, and Market Expectations: An Empirical Investigation of Dividends," *Journal of Finance*, 42, 889–911.
- OLDROYD, J. AND S. MORRIS (2012): "Catching Falling Stars: A Human Resource Response to Social Capital's Detrimental Effect of Information Overload for Star Employees," Academy of Management Review, 37, 396–418.
- PATELL, J. (1976): "Corporate forecasts of earnings per share and stock price behavior: empirical tests," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 14, 246–276.
- PERRY, T. AND U. PEYER (2005): "Board Seat Accumulation by Executives: A Shareholder's Perspective," *Journal of Finance*, 60, 2083–2123.
- P.GOMPERS, J. ISHII, AND A. METRIC (2010): "Extreme Governance: An Analysis of Dual-Class Firms in the United States," *Review of Financial Studies*, 23, 1051– 1088.
- RAUB, W. AND J. WEESIE (1990): "Reputation and Efficiency in Social Interactions: An Example of Network Effects," *American Journal of Sociology*, 96, 626–54.
- REES, W. (1997): "The Impact of Dividends, Debt and Investment on Valuation Models," Journal of Business Finance and Accounting, 24, 1111–40.
- RESS, W. AND A. VALENTINCIC (2013): "Dividend Irrelevance and Accounting Models of Value," *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, 40, 646–72.

- RYAN, H. AND R. WIGGINS (2001): "The Influence of Firm- and Manager Specific Characteristics on the Structure of Executive Compensation," *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 7, 101–23.
- SAPP, S. (2008): "The Impact of Corporate Governance on Executive Compensation," European Financial Management, 14, 710–746.
- SCHNEIDER, S. (1987): "Information Overload: Causes and Consequences," Human Systems Management, 7, 143–53.
- SCOTT, J. (2000): Social Network Analysis A Handbook, Sage Publications, London, 2 ed.
- SEIDMAN, S. (1983): "Network Structure and Minimum Degree," Social Networks, 5, 269–87.
- SHAPIRO, N. AND L. SHAPLEY (1978): "Values of Large Games, I: A Limit Theorem," Mathematics of Operations Research, 3, 1–9.
- SHAPLEY, L. AND M. SHUBIK (1954): "A Method for Evaluating the Distribution of Power in a Committee System," *American Political Science Review*, 48, 787–92.
- SHIVDASANI, A. (1993): "Board Composition, Ownership Structure and Hostile Takeovers," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 16, 167–98.
- SHIVDASANI, A. AND D. YERMACK (1999): "CEO Involvement in the Selection of New Board Members: An Empirical Analysis," *Journal of Finance*, 54, 1829–53.
- SHLEIFER, A. (1986): "Do Demand Curves for Stocks Slope Down," Journal of Finance, 41, 579–590.
- SHLEIFER, A. AND R. VISHNY (1997): "A Survey of Corporate Governance," *Journal* of Finance, 52, 737–83.
- SMITH, A. (1776): The Wealth of Nations, Cannan Edition (Modern Library, New York, 1937).
- SPARROW, P. (1999): "Strategy and Cognition: Understanding the Role of Management Knowledge Structures, Organizational Memory and Information Overload," *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 8, 140–49.

- USEEM, M. (1984): The Inner Circle: Large Corporations and the Rise of Business Political Activity, Oxford University Press.
- VAN DUIJN, M. H. M. (2005): "Software for Social Network Analysis," in *Models and Methods in Social Network Analysis*, ed. by P. J. Carrington, J. Scott, and S. Wasserman, Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, 270–316.
- WADE, J., C. O'REILLY, AND I. CHANDRATAT (1990): "Golden Parachutes: CEOs and the Exercise of Social Influence," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 35, 587–603.
- WATTS, D. AND S. STROGATZ (1988): "Collective Dynamics of "Small-World" Networks," *Nature*, 393, 440–42.
- WATTS, R. (1973): "The Information Content of Dividends," *Journal of Business*, 46, 191–211.
- WOOLRIDGE, J. (1983): "Dividend Changes and Security Prices," *Journal of Finance*, 38, 1607–15.
- YERMACK, D. (1996): "Higher Market Valuations of Companies With a Small Board of Directors," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 40, 185–221.
- (1997): "Good Timing: CEO Stock Option Awards and Company News Announcements," *Journal of Finance*, 52, 449–76.
- YOON, P. AND L. STARKS (1995): "Signaling, Investment Opportunities, and Dividend Announcements," *Review of Financial Studies*, 8, 995–1018.